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1. Call to Order

The Vancouver Island Regional Library Board of Trustees would like to acknowledge 
that the land on which we gather is the traditional territory of the Coast Salish peoples, 
specifically the Snuneymuxw First Nation whose historical relationships with the land 
continue to this day. 

a) Opening remarks
b) Roll call
c) Declarations of Conflicts of Interest

2. Agenda
a) Items to be removed from Consent Business
b) Additions or deletions
c) Approval of agenda

3. Minutes
a) March 23, 2019 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes – for approval 5 
b) May 3, 2019 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes – for receipt 10 

4. Delegations
See Request to Appear as a Delegation for delegation guidelines.

5. Business Arising
a) 2018 Audited Financial Statements 15 
b) 2018 Audited Findings Report

Guest: Cory Vanderhorst, MNP 44 
c) Changes to Key Performance Indicators 55 
d) Branch Activity Highlights Report 57 
e) Report on Lost Items 66 
f) Revised Board Policy: Fees & Charges 68 

6. Finance
a) March 2019 Finance Report 74 
b) March 2019 Reserves Report 80 
c) Facility Projects Update 84 

7. New Business
a) 2019-2023 Capital Plan 90 
b) Architectural Design Process 90 
c) 2020 Budget Assumptions 100 
d) Social Procurement 103 
e) Revised Board Policy: Rules of Conduct 108 

http://virl.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/POL-RequestAppearDelegation.pdf
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f) Revised Board Policy: Prohibition and Appeal Process 111 
g) UBCM Resolution Regarding Library Funding 116 
h) 2018 Annual Report 118 

8. Consent Business
a) VIRL in the Media 120 

i. Book returned to Courtenay Library 42 years overdue, CTV
Vancouver Island, March 15, 2019 121 

ii. From the Big Apple, to TO, to Port Hardy, The Eagle, March 15, 2019 122
iii. Wilderness survival book borrowed in 1977 is finally returned to BC

library, The Canadian Press, March 17, 2019 123 
iv. Construction underway on new library in Chemainus, Chek News,

March 18, 2019 126 
v. Foundation being built for the new Chemainus library to become

cornerstone of the community, Cowichan Valley Citizen, March 18,
2019

128 

vi. Library Restores Book After 42 years in Drop Box, SyndiGate.info,
March 18, 2019 133 

vii. Wilderness Survival Book Borrowed In 1977 Is Finally Returned To
BC Library, Darpan Magazine, March 18, 2019 134 

viii. CVRD sets tax increase for 2019 at 7.27%, Ladysmith Chronicle,
March 20, 2019 135 

ix. Magic in the air at Nanaimo library on Harry Potter Day, Nanaimo
News Bulletin, March 21, 2019 140 

x. Your Library Card - Hidden Treasure, The Eagle, March 22, 2019 142 
xi. Open house to highlight Parksville library’s new look,

ParksvilleQualicumBeach News, March 26, 2019 143 
xii. SRD Area D director Brenda Leigh nominated as VIRL board of

trustees chair, MyComoxValleyNow.com, March 27, 2019 145 
xiii. National Poetry Month festivities coming to Nanaimo, Nanaimo News

Bulletin, March 28, 2019 148 
xiv. Vancouver Island Regional Library catalogue undergoing upgrade,

MyComoxValleyNow, March 29, 2019 150 
xv. Parksville mayor tries virtual reality at library,

ParksvilleQualicumBeach News, March 31, 2019 152 
xvi. Library’s online service will be down Wednesday morning, Campbell

River Mirror, April 1, 2019 155 
xvii. VIDEO: Inside Lake Cowichan’s Nuu-chah-nulth culture with carver

Joshua Watts, Lake Cowichan Gazette, April 6, 2019 157 
xviii. Campbell River firm pegged to build new Sayward library,

MyCampbellRiverNow, April 8, 2019 164 
xix. New Sayward Library contract awarded, Campbell River Mirror, April

9, 2019 167 
xx. Nearly a dozen hopefuls vying for title of Comox Valley poet laureate,

Comox Valley Record, April 11, 2019 170 

xxi. VIDEO: Finding the connection to his community is essential to
carver Joshua Watts, Lake Cowichan Gazette, April 13, 2019 173 
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xxii. Spirit Mother art show on Gabriola examines ‘sacredness of
femaleness', Nanaimo News Bulletin, April 16, 2019 179 

xxiii. Plastic use is subject of Earth Week event at library, Campbell River
Mirror, April 22, 2019 182 

xxiv. North Saanich stumped after land board rejects new library bid,
Goldstream Gazette, April 26, 2019 186 

xxv. Final four determined in Comox Valley Poet Laureate Search, Comox
Valley Record, April 27, 2019 190 

xxvi. City of Nanaimo property tax increase set at 5 per cent,
NanaimoNewsNow, April 29, 2019 193 

xxvii. 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest Awards Presented, isfc.ca,
May 1, 2019 195 

xxviii. Author shows connection between sexual revolution and throat
cancer epidemic, Comox Valley Record, May 2, 2019 200 

xxix. Fly tying lessons done for now, I’m going fishing, Campbell River
Mirror, May 3, 2019 204 

xxx. Vancouver Island author taps into mother’s stories for novel, Comox
Valley Record, May 3, 2019 208 

xxxi. Campbell Riverites get Honourable mentions in Islands Short Fiction
Contest, Campbell River Mirror, May 7, 2019 212 

xxxii. Sooke writer earns accolades in short fiction contest, Sooke News
Mirror, May 7, 2019 215 

xxxiii. Campbell River author presenting excerpts from her latest novel at
Courtenay Library, Comox Valley Record, May 9, 2019 217 

xxxiv. Nanaimo property taxes up 5 per cent, Times Colonist, May 10, 2019 220
222 

224 

227 

230 

235 

237 

240 

245 
246 

249 

xxxv. Aspengrove Student wins Islands Short Fiction Award,
Aspengroveschool.ca, May 13, 2019

xxxvi. Nanaimo artists open their doors for Hammond Bay Studio Tour,
Nanaimo News Bulletin, May 14, 2019

xxxvii. Parksville, Nanoose writers take home awards at short fiction
contest, ParksvilleQualicumBeach News, May 14, 2019

xxxviii. Another chance for Campbell Riverites to chime in on affordable
housing solutions, Campbell River Mirror, May 16, 2019

xxxix. Sidney/North Saanich library brings labyrinth to make youth
mindful, Oak Bay News, May 16, 2019

xl. Sooke Writers’ Collective launches sixth anthology of local works,
Sooke News Mirror, May 16, 2019

xli. Lexi Bainas column: It’s time to blow your horn, tap your toes,
release your spirit, and clap your hands, Cowichan Valley Citizen,
May 17, 2019

xlii. Sidney library to reopen Tuesday, Times Colonist, May 19, 2019
xliii. Nanaimo-area writers win big in short fiction contest, Nanaimo News

Now, May 20, 2019
xliv. Crime Writers of Canada present Cool Canadian Crime at

Harbourfront Library, Nanaimo News Bulletin, May 21, 2019
xlv. Sidney’s library opens new chapter after $2M refit, Peninsula News

Review, May 21, 2019 253 
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xlvi. Bookfest helps fill school library shelves leading up to next week's
event, Nanaimo News Bulletin, May 22, 2019 256 

xlvii. Ladysmith hikes property taxes by 3.4%, Ladysmith Chemainus
Chronicle, May 22, 2019 259 

b) Correspondence 263 
i. Email from Library Customer to VIRL Board of Trustees

re: Campbell River Library, March 21, 2019 264 
ii. Email from Brenda Leigh, Chair, VIRL Board of Trustees to Library

Customer re: Campbell River Library, March 22, 2019 265 
iii. Email from Library Customer to VIRL Board of Trustees re: Nodding

off in the Library, March 25, 2019 267 
iv. Email from Melissa Legacy, Director of Library Services & Planning to

Library Customer re: Nodding off in the Library, March 28, 2019 268 
v. Email from Library Customer to VIRL Board of Trustees

re: Harbourfront, April 3, 2019 269 
vi. Email from Rosemary Bonanno, Executive Director, to Library

Customer re: Harbourfront, April 5, 2019 271 
vii. Letter from Scott Hargrove, Chair, ABCPLD re: Ministry

Reassignment, May 7, 2019 273 
viii. Email from Library Customer to VIRL Board of Trustees

re: Wellington Children's librarian, May 10, 2019 274 
ix. Email from Melissa Legacy, Director of Library Services & Planning to

Library Customer re: Wellington Children's librarian, May 24, 2019 276 

c) Media Releases 278 
i. Contract Awarded for New Sayward Library, April 8, 2019 279 
ii. Reimagined Sidney/North Saanich Library Set to Reopen, May 13,

2019 282 

9. In Camera
10. Adjournment

Grand Opening: June 15, 2019 
Sidney/North Saanich Branch  

Next Meetings: 
July 5, 2019  

Executive Committee 
(Budget Deliberations) 

September 21, 2019 
Board of Trustees 
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For Approval 
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March 23, 2019 

Minutes - UNAPPROVED  

 
Nanaimo River Room 

Vancouver Island Conference Centre 
Present:  

Brenda Leigh, Strathcona RD (Chair)  
Gaby Wickstrom, Port McNeill (Vice Chair)  
Nicole Minions, Comox  
Manno Theos, Courtenay 
Vickey Brown, Cumberland 
Brenda Patrick, Gold River  
Rob Johnson, Ladysmith 
Lorna Dawn Vomacka, Lake Cowichan 
Jamie Wilson, Lantzville 
Terry Carty, Masset 
Erin Hemmens, Nanaimo 
Debra Toporowski, North Cowichan 
Jack McClintock, North Saanich  
Ron Paulson, Port Alberni 
Bruce Lloyd, Port Alice  

Fred Robertson, Port Hardy 
Adam Walker, Qualicum Beach 
Joyce Ellis, Sayward 
Barbara Fallot, Sidney 
Jeff Bateman, Sooke 
Lynda Llewellyn, Tahsis 
Duncan McMaster, Tofino 
Marilyn McEwen, Ucluelet 
Penny Cote, Alberni / Clayoquot RD 
Jayme Kennedy, Central Coast RD 
Daniel Arbour, Comox Valley RD 
Andrew Hory, Mount Waddington RD 
Vanessa Craig, Nanaimo RD 
Andrew Fall, qathet RD 

Regrets:  

Ron Kerr, Campbell River 
Tom Duncan, Duncan 
Teresa Patterson, Parksville  
Ian Gould, Port Clements 
 Jesse Embree, Queen Charlotte 

Candace Faulkner, Zeballos 
Mike Hicks, Capital RD 
Mary Marcotte, Cowichan Valley RD 
Evan Putterill, North Coast RD 

 
Staff: 
Rosemary Bonanno, Executive Director 
Anne O’Shea, Deputy Executive Director / COO 
Joel Adams, Director of Finance 
David Carson, Director of Corporate Communications & Strategic Initiatives 
Lisa House, Director of Human Resources 
Melissa Legacy, Director of Library Services & Planning 
Natasha Bartlett, Divisional Manager, Marketing & Communications / Privacy Officer 
Jennifer Bond, Divisional Manager, Finance 
Emily Mathews, Divisional Manager, Collections & Support Services 
Paul Maras-Hilling, Divisional Manager, Facilities 
Brenda Bassett, Human Resources, Administrative Assistant 
Dara Hall, Human Resources Advisor, Talent Management 
Sue Kim, Growth & Development Specialist 
Sherry Schmidt, Administrative Assistant 
Mariah Patterson, Executive Assistant (Recorder) 
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1. Call to Order 9:30 am
The Vancouver Island Regional Library Board of Trustees would like to acknowledge that the 
land on which we gather is the traditional territory of the Coast Salish peoples, specifically the 
Snuneymuxw First Nation whose historical relationships with the land continue to this day. 

a) Opening remarks
Announced opportunity for two trustees to attend the BCLTA Conference,
May 10-11.

b) Roll call
As above.

c) Declarations of Conflicts of Interest
None.

2. Agenda
a) Items to be removed from Consent Business

None.
b) Additions or deletions

None.
c) Approval of agenda

Motion:  Moved by Debra Toporowski / seconded by Rob Johnson that the agenda be 
approved by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

3. Minutes
a) January 19, 2019 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes

Motion: Moved by Duncan McMaster / seconded by Nicole Minions that the
January 19, 2019 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes be approved by the 
Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

b) February 15, 2019 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes
Motion: Moved by Duncan McMaster / seconded by Manno Theos that the 

February 15, 2019 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes be received by the 
Board of Trustees. Carried. 

4. Delegations
None.

5. Business Arising
a) Performance Indicators and Branch Activities Highlights Report

Motion: Moved by Manno Theos / seconded by Duncan McMaster that the
Performance Indicators and Branch Activities Highlights Report be received 
by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

b) Provincial Library Grants Report 2019
Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Marilyn McEwen that the Provincial 

Library Grants Report 2019 be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 
Trustees Jamie Wilson and Andrew Fall joined the meeting at 9:45 am. 
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6. Finance
a) 2019 Audit Service Plan

Motion: Moved by Gaby Wickstrom / seconded by Debra Toporowski that the
2019 Audit Service Plan be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

b) January 2019 Finance Report
Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Daniel Arbour that the January 2019 

Finance Report be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 
c) January 2019 Reserves Report

Motion:  Moved by Duncan McMaster / seconded by Vanessa Craig that the January 
2019 Reserves Report be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

d) Facility Projects Update
Motion:  Moved by Debra Toporowski / seconded by Nicole Minions that the Facility 

Projects Update report be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 
e) Report on BC Construction Market

Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Lynda Llewellyn that the Report on 
BC Construction Market be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

Meeting recess at 10:46 am 
Meeting reconvened at 11:06 am 

7. Strategic Planning Presentation
Motion:  Moved by Duncan McMaster / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the Strategic 

Planning Presentation be received by the Board of Trustees.  Carried. 

8. New Business
a) Revised Board Procedural By-law: Appointments & Nominations

Motion:  Moved by Andrew Fall / seconded by Barbara Fallot that the Board of Trustees
receive the revisions to Sections 3 and 7 of the VIRL Board Procedural  
By-Law.  Carried. 

Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Vanessa Craig that the Board of 
Trustees adopt the revisions to Sections 3 and 7 of the VIRL Board 
Procedural By-Law.  Carried. 

b) Revised Board Policy: Donations and Corporate Sponsorship
Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Duncan McMaster that the Revised 

Board Policy:  Donations and Corporate Sponsorship be received by the Board 
of Trustees.  Carried. 

Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Nicole Minions that the current Board 
Policy:  Donations and Corporate Sponsorship be rescinded by the Board of 
Trustees.  Carried. 

Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Bruce Lloyd that the revised Board 
Policy:  Donations and Corporate Sponsorship be adopted by the Board of 
Trustees.  Carried. 
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c) Revised Board Policy: Fees & Charges
Motion:  Moved by Marilyn McEwen / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the Revised 

Board Policy:  Fees and Charges be received by the Board of Trustees. 
Carried. 

Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Andrew Fall that the current Board 
Policy:  Fees and Charges be rescinded by the Board of Trustees. Carried. 

Motion:  Moved by Penny Cote / seconded by Daniel Arbour to refer the Revised  
Board Policy:  Fees and Charges to the Executive Committee to report back 
regarding the Former VIRL Area being stricken from the policy. Carried.  

d) Board of Trustees June 1, 2019 Meeting
Motion:  Moved by Bruce Lloyd / seconded by Marilyn McEwen that the Board of 

Trustees June 1, 2019 Meeting report be received by the Board of Trustees. 
Carried. 

9. Consent Business
Motion:  Moved by Duncan McMaster / seconded by Adam Walker that the Board of

Trustees receive all Consent Business.  Carried. 
10. In Camera

None.

11. Adjournment 12:03 pm
Motion:  Moved by Adam Walker / seconded by Vickey Brown that the meeting be

adjourned.  Carried. 

Brenda Leigh 
Chair, Board of Trustees 
Vancouver Island Regional Library 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
Vancouver Island Regional Library 
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Regular Minutes of the  
May 3, 2019 Executive Committee Meeting 

 
For Receipt 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
10



 

Executive Committee Meeting  
May 3, 2019 

Minutes - UNAPPROVED  

 
Nanaimo North Branch, 6250 Hammond Bay Road, Nanaimo 

 
Present:  
Brenda Leigh, Strathcona RD (Chair)  
Gaby Wickstrom, Port McNeill (Vice Chair)  
Manno Theos, Courtenay  
Erin Hemmens, Nanaimo 
Debra Toporowski, North Cowichan  

Fred Robertson, Port Hardy  
Daniel Arbour, Comox Valley RD  
Mary Marcotte, Cowichan Valley RD  
Evan Putterill, North Coast RD 
Penny Cote, Alberni / Clayoquot RD  

Regrets:  

Rob Johnson, Ladysmith   
 

Staff: 
Rosemary Bonanno, Executive Director 
Anne O’Shea, Deputy Executive Director / COO 
Joel Adams, Director of Finance 
David Carson, Director of Corporate Communications and Strategic Initiatives  
Melanie Barnum, Divisional Manager, Office of the Executive Director 
Mariah Patterson, Executive Assistant (Recorder) 

Guest:  

Cory Vanderhorst, MNP   
 
 
1. Call to Order 9:31 am 

The Vancouver Island Regional Library Board of Trustees would like to acknowledge 
that the land on which we gather is the traditional territory of the Coast Salish peoples, 
specifically the Snuneymuxw First Nation whose historical relationships with the land 
continue to this day. 

 a) Opening remarks 
Chair thanked staff and Trustees for their continued efforts on behalf of 
Vancouver Island Regional Library. 

 b) Roll call 
As above. 

 c) Declarations of Conflicts of Interest 
None. 

  

2. Agenda 
 a) Items to be removed from Consent Business 

None. 
 b) Additions or deletions 

None. 
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 c) Approval of agenda 
Motion:  Moved by Mary Marcotte / seconded by Daniel Arbour that the agenda 

be approved by the Executive Committee.  Carried. 
  

3. Minutes 
 a) February 15, 2019 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes  

Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Gaby Wickstrom that the 
minutes of the February 15, 2019 Executive Committee meeting be 
approved by the Executive Committee.  Carried. 

 b) March 23, 2019 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes  
Motion:   Moved by Manno Theos / seconded by Daniel Arbour that the minutes 

of the March 23, 2019 Board of Trustees meeting be received by the 
Executive Committee.  Carried. 

  

4. Business Arising 
 a) 2018 Audited Financial Statements 

Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Mary Marcotte that the  
2018 Audited Financial Statements be received by the Executive 
Committee. Carried. 

 

Motion:  Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Evan Putterill that the  
 2018 Audited Financial Statements be approved by the Executive      
 Committee.  Carried. 

 

 b) 2018 Audit Findings Report 
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Mary Marcotte that the  

2018 Audit Findings Report be received by the Executive Committee.  
Carried. 

 

Motion:  Moved by Penny Cote / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the  
2018 Audited Findings Report be approved by the Board of 
Trustees.  Carried. 

 
Cory Vanderhorst departed the meeting at 10:04 am. 

 c) Performance Indicators and Branch Activities Highlights Report  
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the 

Executive Committee receive the Performance Indicators and Branch 
Activities Highlights Report as information.  Carried. 

 d) Report on Lost Items 
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Gaby Wickstrom that the 

Report on Lost Items be received by the Executive Committee.  
Carried. 

 e) Revised Board Policy: Fees & Charges 
Motion: Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Mary Marcotte that the 

Revised Board Policy: Fees & Charges be received by the Executive 
Committee. Carried. 
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Motion:   Moved by Erin Hemmens / seconded by Gaby Wickstrom that the 
Executive Committee request staff prepare a report for the next 
Board meeting regarding the elimination of the visitor and  
non-resident fees. Carried. 

  

5. Finance 
 a) February 2019 Finance Report  

Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the 
February 2019 Finance Report be received by the Executive 
Committee.  Carried. 

 b) February 2019 Reserves Report   
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the 

February 2019 Reserves Report be received by the Executive 
Committee.  Carried. 

 c) Facility Projects Update  
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Gaby Wickstrom that the 

Facility Projects Update report be received by the Executive 
Committee.  Carried. 

   

6. New Business 
 a) 2019 – 2023 Capital Plan Update 

Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Erin Hemmens that the  
2019-2023 Capital Plan Update report be received by the Executive 
Committee.  Carried. 

Meeting Recessed 11:33 am. 
Meeting Reconvened 11:43 am. 

Erin Hemmens departed the meeting at 11:43 am. 

 b)  2020 Budget Assumptions  
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Debra Toporowski that the 

2020 Budget Assumptions report be received by the Executive 
Committee.  Carried. 

 c) Social Procurement 
Motion: Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Penny Cote that the  

Social Procurement report be received by the Executive Committee.  
Carried. 

 

 d) Revised Board Policy: Rules of Conduct 
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Mary Marcotte that the 

Revised Board Policy: Rules of Conduct be received by the Executive 
Committee.  Carried. 

 

Motion:   Moved by Fred Robertson / seconded by Gaby Wickstrom that the 
Executive Committee recommend the current Board Policy: Rules of 
Conduct be rescinded and the revised Board Policy:  
Rules of Conduct be adopted by the Board of Trustees.  Carried.  
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 e) Revised Board Policy: Prohibition and Appeals Process  
Motion:  Moved by Gaby Wickstrom / seconded by Daniel Arbour that the 

Revised Board Policy: Prohibitions and Appeals Process be received 
by the Executive Committee.  Carried. 

 

Motion:   Moved by Evan Putterill / seconded by Penny Cote that the Executive 
Committee recommend the current Board Policy: Prohibitions and 
Appeals Process be rescinded and the revised Board Policy: 
Prohibitions and Appeals Process be adopted by the Board of 
Trustees.  Carried. 

 f) UBCM Resolution Regarding Library Funding 
Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Penny Cote that the  

UBCM Resolution Regarding Library Funding report be received by 
the Executive Committee.  Carried. 

Motion:  Moved by Daniel Arbour / seconded by Evan Putterill that the 
Executive Committee recommend a special committee be created 
by the Board of Trustees to lobby for more funding from the 
provincial government. Carried. 

  

7. Consent Business 
Motion:  Moved by Gaby Wickstrom / seconded by Evan Putterill that the Executive 

Committee receive all Consent Business.  Carried. 
  

8. In Camera 
No in camera for this meeting. 

  

9.  Adjournment 1:03 pm 
Motion:  Moved by Mary Marcotte / seconded by Manno Theos that the meeting be 

adjourned.  Carried. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Brenda Leigh 
Chair, Board of Trustees 
Vancouver Island Regional Library 

 Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
Vancouver Island Regional Library 
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
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Item 5 (a)  

 
2018 Audited Financial Statements 

Recommendation 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the 2018 Audited Financial Statements be received by the Board of Trustees. 

 
Background 
 
Each year after completion of the audit, Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) management 
presents the Financial Statements and the Board has an opportunity to review recommendations 
made by the auditors to both management and the Board. The financial statements presented 
here have been subjected to the audit process. 
 
VIRL is in compliance with all relevant public sector accounting standards. As a result, certain 
expenditure items are treated differently for accounting purposes compared to the operating 
statements prepared for the Board on a monthly basis. The specific items are discussed in this 
report. 
 
VIRL’s auditors, MNP LLP, has released the audit report with a clean audit opinion. A clean 
opinion indicates there are no materially misstated items or other significant departures from 
accounting standards. 
 
There are four primary statements, which are discussed in the following section. 
 
Statement A – Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 
This statement is essentially the balance sheet, showing a snapshot of the financial position of 
VIRL as at December 31, 2018. The main difference between this statement and the balance 
sheet that is presented to the Board at regular meetings is in the presentation of the Tangible 
Capital Assets, Long-Term Debt, and Accumulated Surplus.  
 
Tangible Capital Assets 
The main difference in capital assets between the audited version and those presented to the 
Board is the treatment of purchased assets. When VIRL purchases a capital asset, the full cost 
of the asset is shown as an expense in the Board statements. In the audited statements, the 
purchase of the asset is shown as a capital asset addition (see Schedule III), and the expense 
component is shown through amortization.  
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This creates a timing difference between the cash outflow for the asset and the corresponding 
recognition of expense. As such, the operating surplus is increased in the audited statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 

This difference relates to the treatment of cash outflows. In the Board statements, all principal 
and interest payments are shown as expenses. In the audited statements, only the interest 
portion is treated as an expense, and the capital portion is treated as a reduction in long-term 
debt on the Statement of Financial Position. Further information is provided in Note 15 to the 
financial statements. The amount paid in principal effectively creates a surplus, since it does not 
show as an expenditure. 
 
Accumulated Surplus 
 

As at year end, Accumulated Surplus was $16,365,932, represented by: 
 

• Internally Restricted Funds (Reserves) - $7,862,710 
• Unrestricted Funds (Operating Surplus) – ($788,720) 
• Net Investment in Tangible Capital Assets (Net Book Value Less Debt) - $9,291,942 

 
Unrestricted Funds are maintained at a minimum level in order to maintain positive operating 
cash flow with excess funds being transferred into reserves where possible. Overall, reserve 
fund balances increased by $0.525 million from 2017 levels.  
 
Transfers to and from the reserves are eliminated from presentation in the audited statements. 
Accounting standards treat these transactions as internal transfers between restricted and 
unrestricted funds, whereas the operating statements show transfers to reserves as expenses 
and transfers from reserves as revenue.  
 
During the year, there were additions of approximately $3.7 million in Tangible Capital Assets, 
which represented:  

• $2.5 million in materials 
• Additions for projects at the Sidney, Chemainus, and Nanaimo North branches  
• Investment in furniture, equipment and IT resources at various branches 

 
At the end of 2018, VIRL’s Net Financial Position continues to be in a debt position at 
$10,071,006. This represents a decrease of $0.625 million over 2017. The debt position includes 
$16,745,328 in long-term debt that was issued for capital projects and facilities acquisitions in 
Cowichan Lake, Nanaimo Harbourfront, Nanaimo North and Haida Gwaii. Excluding funding for 
long term assets, VIRL was in a Net Financial Operating Asset position of $6.7 million, indicating 
that the net financial position of the organization is healthy. 
 
Statement B – Consolidated Statement of Operations 
 
This statement provides an overview of the operational results for the 2018 financial year 
resulting in a net annual surplus of $585,323. The statement includes amortization of Tangible 
Capital Assets in compliance with public sector accounting standards. 
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The Board approves a balanced budget each year, but the audited Statement of Operations 
shows a budgeted annual surplus of $1,546,256. The differences are the result of the required 
accounting treatment discussed above, including the treatment of reserve transactions, principal 
repayments of long term debt, and acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets. These differences are 
outlined in Note 11 to the financial statements. 
 
Significant Changes During the Year 
 
Revenues 
 

• Revenue increased by $974,351 from prior year levels 
• Municipal and rural levies increased by $844,595 
• Government and other grants increased by $18,901 
• Fines and other income increased by $47,853 
• Interest income increased by $63,002 

 
Expenses 
 

Expenditures increased by $1,103,381 from prior year levels due to the following factors: 
• Wages increased by $702,418, representing both wage inflation and employee severance, 

and were under budget for the year. 
• Branch costs increased by $76,058. Significant changes to operational and maintenance 

costs include the following significant items: 
o Increase in rental costs of $27,888 
o Increase in janitorial costs of $30,150 
o Increase in HVAC costs of $5,888 
o Increase in security costs of $43,227 
o Decrease in hydro costs of $31,992  
o Decrease in heating costs of $6,880 
o Decrease in property tax of $13,632 

• Miscellaneous library material expenses decreased by $7,873. 
• Administration expenses increased by $147,154 during the year. Significant changes to 

administration costs include the following significant items: 
o Increase in professional fees of $302,031 due mainly to increased legal fees, 

consulting fees related to our health and safety program, and consulting fees 
related to capital projects; 

o Increase in repairs and maintenance of $15,842; 
o Increase in promotion and advertising of $11,991 as we continue to promote 

VIRL’s services and invest in robust programming; 
o Increase in telecommunications of $4,564; 
o Increase in office expenses of $65,857; 
o Increase in travel and vehicles of $12,637; 
o Decrease of $16,983 in training; 
o Decrease of $223,682 in small furniture and equipment purchases, representing 

the non-capitalized portion of these expenses at branches and administration; 
o Decrease in Board expenses of $17,354; and  
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 5 (a)  
 

o Decrease in insurance of $4,361. 
• Amortization expense increased by $125,405 as expected, representing wear and tear of 

Tangible Capital Assets owned by VIRL. 
 
Statement C – Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets (Debt) 
 
This statement shows the capital side of the accounting equation, indicating the use of funds 
for the acquisition and disposal of Tangible Capital Assets as well as the effect of amortization 
on the Net Debt Position. During the year, there was a decrease of $624,870 in Net Debt due 
to the acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets, amortization expenses, and changes in prepaid 
expenses.  
 
Statement D – Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 
This statement shows how cash was used during the year. VIRL began with $5,818,609 in cash 
and ended the year with $7,534,335, representing a net increase of $1,715,726. Significant cash 
flows consisted of: 

• Net cash inflows of $4,328,326 from operations 
• Cash outflows of $3,736,999 for acquisitions of Tangible Capital Assets 
• Cash inflows of $1,500,000 for the MFA borrowing related to capital projects on Haida 

Gwaii 
• Cash outflows of $367,214 for the repayment of principal on long term debt 
• Cash outflow of $8,387 for reinvestment in a GIC 
 

Conclusion  
 
Overall, the results from operations and financing activities were strong for 2018, resulting in a 
net surplus of $585,323 for the year. The treatment of certain expenditures for accounting 
purposes creates a difference between results shown on audited statements compared to the 
operating statements. 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

 Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of the Board of the Vancouver Island Regional Library: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Vancouver Island Regional Library (the "Library"), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position, and related schedule III as at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of
operations and related schedules I and II, changes in net debt and cash flows and internally restricted fund balances for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Library as at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Library in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Library’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Library or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Library’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Library’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

Suite 400 MNP Place, 345 Wallace Street, Nanaimo, British Columbia, V9R 5B6, Phone: (250) 753-8251
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

Library’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw

attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the Library to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Nanaimo, British Columbia

May 3, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants
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Statement "A" 
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31, 2018 

Financial Assets 
Cash - Note 3 
Short Term Investments - Note 4 
Accounts Receivable 
Deposits - Note 16 

Liabilities 
Trade Accounts Payable 
Wages Payable 
Accumulated Sick Payable - Note 9 
Deferred Revenue - Note 2.b 
Accrued Benefit Obligation - Note 8 
Long Term Debt - Note 14 

$ 

2018 

7,534,335 
1,056,785 

164,099 
267,588 

9.022,807 

983,790 
435,641 
475,044 

454,008 
16,745,328 
19.093.811 

$ 

2017 

5,818,609 
1,048,398 

93,097 
18,278 

6,979.082 

680,387 
437,329 
425,658 

7,875 
434,342 

15.689.367 
17.674,958 

Net Debt $ (10,071,004) $ (10,695,876) 

Non Financial Assets 
Tangible Capital Assets - Note 5 & Schedule III 
Prepaid Expenses 

Accumulated Surplus - Note I 3 

Commitments - Note 10 
Outstanding Claims - Note 18 

On behalf of the Board: 

Ct,t,.,� fl..�� Chair of the Board 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

- I -

$ 

26,037,270 26,073,610 
399.666 402.875 

26,436,936 26,476.485 

16
1
3651

932 $ 15
1
780

1
609 

0 
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Statement "B"
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual

(Note 11)

Revenues
Municipal Levies $ 15,270,197 $ 15,270,198 $ 14,678,164
Rural Levies 6,821,889 6,821,887 6,569,326
Government and Other Grants - Note 6 1,307,232 1,308,218 1,289,317
Fines and Other Income 498,592 493,833 445,980
Interest Earned 70,000 131,621 68,619

23,967,910 24,025,757 23,051,406

Expenses
Wages and Benefits - Schedule I 13,713,408 13,143,542 12,441,124
Branch Costs 2,725,643 3,418,108 3,342,050
Miscellaneous Library Materials 97,100 83,511 75,638
Administration Costs - Schedule II 2,092,163 2,977,338 2,830,184
Retirement Benefit Accrual 20,000 44,595 122
Amortization Expense 3,773,340 3,773,340 3,647,935

22,421,654 23,440,434 22,337,053

Annual Surplus 1,546,256 585,323 714,353

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 15,780,609 15,780,609 15,066,256

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year $ 17,326,865 $ 16,365,932 $ 15,780,609

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

- 2 -
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Statement "C"
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017
Budget Actual Actual

(Note 11)

Annual Surplus $ 1,546,256 $ 585,323 $ 714,353

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (10,981,948) (3,736,999) (3,703,439)

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 3,773,340 3,773,340 3,647,935
(5,662,352) 621,664 658,849

Acquisition of Prepaid Expenses - (399,665) (402,874)

Use of Prepaid Expenses - 402,873 496,961
- 3,208 94,087

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt (4,529,566) 624,872 752,936

Net Debt, Beginning of Year (10,695,876) (10,695,876) (11,448,812)

Net Debt, End of Year $ (15,225,442) $ (10,071,004) $ (10,695,876)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

- 3 -
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Statement "D"
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017

Cash Provided (Used):

Operating Activities:
Annual Surplus $ 585,323 $ 714,353
Amortization Expense 3,773,340 3,647,935
Actuarial Adjustments (76,824) (59,746)

Changes in non-cash operating accounts:
Increase (Decrease) in accounts receivable (71,004) 32,573
Increase in prepaid expenses 3,209 94,087
Increase in trade accounts payable 303,403 54,609
Increase in accumulated sick payable 49,386 21,243
Increase (Decrease) in accrued benefit obligation 19,666 (17,677)
Decrease in wages payable (1,688) (233,424)
Increase (Decrease) in deferred revenue (7,875) 7,875
Decrease in deposits (248,610) -

4,328,326 4,261,828

Investing Activities:
Increase in Short Term Investments (8,387) (9,402)

Capital Activities:
Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (3,736,999) (3,703,439)

Financing Activities:
Long Term Debt Proceeds 1,500,000 -
Principal Repayments (367,214) (367,214)

1,132,786 (367,214)

Increase In Cash 1,715,726 181,773

Cash, Beginning of Year 5,818,609 5,636,836

Cash, End of Year $ 7,534,335 $ 5,818,609

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

- 4 -
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Statement "E"
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FUND BALANCES

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Internally Restricted Funds
Outfitting & New/Expanded Facilities $ 2,525,742 $ 2,330,838 $ 2,556,885 $ 2,570,963 $ 2,468,476
Long-Term Maintenance 2,592,224 1,944,216 1,347,941 753,200 820,214
Integrated Library System Replacement 73,357 22,841 22,724 85,261 327,009
Books 10,340 10,340 10,340 10,340 10,340
Accrued Sick Reserve 282,652 279,752 278,322 276,278 274,068
Fundraising 312,401 215,530 167,457 122,404 117,853
Computer Equipment 46,963 32,966 95,389 278,573 349,493
Prior Years General Reserve - 2,487 2,487 11,773 80,084
Human Resources Issues 69,319 68,606 68,237 62,758 61,445
Friends Reserve 18,232 16,921 16,327 16,838 16,709
Furnishings and Equipment 253,749 115,760 114,550 55,627 86,594
Vehicles 77,711 47,023 87,982 97,928 76,675
Summer Employment 20 3,230 3,213 3,190 3,152
BCGEU Continuing Education - - - 4,673 -
Website Redevelopment - - 55,000 - -
Salaries 600,000 - - - -

Total Internally Restricted Funds $ 6,862,710 $ 5,090,510 $ 4,826,854 $ 4,349,806 $ 4,692,112

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

- 5 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

1 Organization

The Vancouver Island Regional Library is a regional library with administrative offices located in
Nanaimo, BC. It serves customers in 39 locations, as well as 2 volunteer book stations and books by mail
services, on Vancouver Island, Haida Gwaii (The Queen Charlotte Islands) and the Central Coast of BC.
Card holders can borrow materials from any location. The Library was established in 1936 under the
Library Act of British Columbia. The Library is a registered charity and is exempt from income taxes as
long as certain conditions are met. 

2 Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated Financial Statements of the Library have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
Public Sector Accounting Standards with significant policies adopted by the Library as noted below:

2.a Tangible Capital Assets

The building, furniture, equipment, system computers, vehicles and books are stated at Net Book Value as
amortization has been recorded. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the asset, with a half year adjustment in the year of acquisition, commencing the year the
asset is put into service. Assets are initially recorded at cost based on a single item purchase threshold and
group purchase thresholds. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair value on the date
of contribution. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Single Purchase Group Purchase
Threshold Threshold

Buildings 40 years $ 5,000 $ 5,000
Leasehold Improvements 5 years 5,000 5,000
Furniture and Equipment 10 years 1,000 10,000
Vehicles 10 years 5,000 5,000
Computer Equipment 3 years 3,000 15,000
Books 5 years - -

In accordance with PSAB3150 Tangible Capital Assets the Library has adopted a policy of expensing
interest related to construction projects. 

- 6 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.b Deferred Revenue
Non-government grants with external restrictions are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period in
which the corresponding expenditures are incurred. Changes to the deferred revenues for 2018 are as
follows:

2018 2017
Opening Deferred Revenue $ 7,875 $ -
Total of New Grants Received - 12,000
Less: Recognized as Revenue (7,875) (4,125)
Ending Balance of Deferred Revenue $ - $ 7,875

2.c Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Vancouver Island Regional Library, in
accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, requires management to make estimates
and assumptions of values which affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
and related disclosures. Amounts are based on best estimates, but actual amounts may vary from the
amounts recorded. Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the period of settlement.

i) Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets.
ii) Accrued benefit obligation is based on an estimate of accumulated termination benefits.
iii)Accumulated sick payable is based on an estimate of future sick time usage.
iv)Accounts Receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectibility and an appropriate

allowance for doubtful accounts.
v) Liabilities for contaminated sites are estimated based on the best information available regarding

potentially contaminated sites that the Vancouver Island Regional Library is responsible for.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and as adjustment becomes necessary they are
reported in operating surplus in the year they become known. 

2.d Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recorded in the period in which the transactions or events that gave rise to the revenue occur.
Non-government grants that have been received in advance of services being rendered are recorded as
deferred revenue until the Library discharges the obligations that led to the collection of funds. Following
are the types of revenue received and a description of their recognition:

i) Municipal and rural levies are recognized in the year levied
ii) Interest earned and other income are recorded in the year they are earned
iii)Fines are recognized when received as a result of the difficulty in determining collectibility

- 7 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Government transfers are recognized as revenues when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility
criteria are met, except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the
definition of a liability. Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise
to a liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are
settled. 

2.e Liability for Contaminated Sites

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the amount required
to remediate the contaminated site when contamination exceeding an environmental standard exists, the
Vancouver Island Regional Library is either directly responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected
that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable estimate of the amount is determinable.
The best estimate of the liability includes all costs directly attributable to remediation activities and is
reduced by expected net recoveries based on information available at December 31, 2018.

At each financial reporting date, the Vancouver Island Regional Library reviews the carrying amount of
the liability.  Any revisions required to the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the period
revisions are made.  The Vancouver Island Regional Library continues to recognize the liability until it is
settled or otherwise extinguished.  Disbursements made to settle the liability are deducted from the
reported liability when they are made.

2.f New Accounting Standards

PS 2200 Related Party Disclosures

The new Section establishes standards on how to account for and report transactions between public
sector entities that comprise a government’s reporting entity from both a provider and recipient
perspective. The main features of the new Section are:

 Under a policy of cost allocation, revenues and expenses are recognized on a gross basis.

 Transactions are measured at the carrying amount, except in specific circumstances.

 A recipient may choose to recognize unallocated costs for the provision of goods and services

and measure them at the carrying amount, fair value or other amount dictated by policy,

accountability structure or budget practice.

 The transfer of an asset or liability for nominal or no consideration is measured by the provider

at the carrying amount and by the recipient at the carrying amount or fair value.

 Inter-entity transactions are considered in conjunction with PS 2200 Related Party

Disclosures.

- 8 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2.f New Accounting Standards (continued)

PS 2200 Related Party Disclosures (continued)

Effective January 1, 2018, the Vancouver Island Regional Library adopted the recommendations relating
to PS 2200 Related Party Disclosures, as set out in the CPA Canada public sector accounting standards.
Pursuant to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been
restated.

This new Section defines a related party and establishes disclosures required for related party
transactions. Disclosure of information about related party transactions and the relationship underlying
them is required when they have occurred at a value different from that which would have been arrived at
if the parties were unrelated, and they have, or could have, a material financial effect on the financial
statements. 

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new Section. 

PS 3420 Inter-entity Transactions 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Vancouver Island Regional Library adopted the recommendations relating
to PS 3420 Inter-entity Transactions, as set out in the CPA Canada public sector accounting standards.
Pursuant to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been
restated.

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new Section.

PS 3210 Assets

Effective January 1, 2018, the Vancouver Island Regional Library adopted the recommendations relating
to PS 3210 Assets, as set out in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook. Pursuant to the
recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been restated.

The new Section provides guidance for applying the definition of assets set out in PS 1000 Financial
Statement Concepts. The main features of this standard are as follows:

 Assets are defined as economic resources controlled by a government as a result of past

transactions or events and from which future economic benefits are expected to be obtained.

 Economic resources can arise from such events as agreements, contracts, other government’s

legislation, the government’s own legislation, and voluntary contributions.

 The public is often the beneficiary of goods and services provided by a public sector entity.

Such assets benefit public sector entities as they assist in achieving the entity's primary

objective of providing public goods and services.

- 9 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2.f New Accounting Standards (continued)

 A public sector entity’s ability to regulate an economic resource does not, in and of itself,

constitute control of an asset, if the interest extends only to the regulatory use of the economic

resource and does not include the ability to control access to future economic benefits.

 A public sector entity acting as a trustee on behalf of beneficiaries specified in an agreement or

statute is merely administering the assets, and does not control the assets, as future economic

benefits flow to the beneficiaries.

 An economic resource may meet the definition of an asset, but would not be recognized if

there is no appropriate basis for measurement and a reasonable estimate cannot be made, or if

another Handbook Section prohibits its recognition. Information about assets not recognized

should be disclosed in the notes.

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new Section. 

PS 3320 Contingent Assets 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Vancouver Island Regional Library adopted the recommendations relating
to PS 3320 Contingent Assets, as set out in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook.
Pursuant to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been
restated.

The new Section establishes disclosure standards on contingent assets. The main features of this standard
are as follows:

 Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving

uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events not

wholly within the public sector entity's control occurs or fails to occur. Resolution of the

uncertainty will confirm the existence or non-existence of an asset.

 Passing legislation that has retroactive application after the financial statement date cannot

create an existing condition or situation at the financial statement date.

 Elected or public sector entity officials announcing public sector entity intentions after the

financial statement date cannot create an existing condition or situation at the financial

statement date.

 Disclosures should include existence, nature, and extent of contingent assets, as well as the

reasons for any non-disclosure of extent, and the bases for any estimates of extent made.

 When a reasonable estimate can be made, disclosure should include a best estimate and a

range of possible amounts (or a narrower range of more likely amounts), unless such a

disclosure would have an adverse impact on the outcome.

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new Section. 

- 10 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

2.f New Accounting Standards (continued)

PS 3380 Contractual Rights 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Vancouver Island Regional Library adopted the recommendations relating
to PS 3380 Contractual Rights, as set out in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook.
Pursuant to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been
restated.

This new Section establishes disclosure standards on contractual rights, and does not include contractual
rights to exchange assets where revenue does not arise. The main features of this standard are as follows:

 Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that

will result in both an asset and revenue in the future.

 Until a transaction or event occurs under a contract or agreement, an entity only has a

contractual right to an economic resource. Once the entity has received an asset, it no longer

has a contractual right.

 Contractual rights are distinct from contingent assets as there is no uncertainty related to the

existence of the contractual right.

 Disclosures should include descriptions about nature, extent, and timing.

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new Section.  

3 Cash 

Cash includes 602,583 (2017 - 409,205) units of Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia
Money Market Fund, and 105,985 (2017 - 103,410) units of Municipal Finance Authority of British
Columbia Bond Fund. The rates of return vary depending on the rates of return of the items held.

The general bank account has an overdraft limit up to $30,000 and carries interest at prime rate.  

Cash is recorded at cost which is equal to its fair market value and includes:

2018 2017

Cash $ 448,185 $ 691,138
Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia
- Money Market Fund 6,025,830 4,092,048
- Bond Fund 1,060,320 1,035,423

$ 7,534,335 $ 5,818,609

4 Short Term Investments

Short Term Investments consist of a GIC with CIBC, purchased in March 2018, with an interest rate of
0.6% and maturing March 2019.

- 11 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

5 Tangible Capital Assets

The land at 6250 Hammond Bay Road in Nanaimo, BC was acquired by way of a crown grant from the
Province of BC (valued in 1994 by BCAA at $167,831). Should the Library ever wish to dispose of it, it
is likely that a repayment amount would have to be negotiated with the Province of BC. 

The land at 9796 Willow Street in Chemainus, BC (valued by BCAA at $259,000) was transferred to
VIRL by the District of North Cowichan in November 2018. Should the Library cease library operations
at this site, ownership would revert back to the District. 

The land at 68 Renfrew Avenue in Cowichan Lake, BC (valued by BCAA at $127,000) was transferred to
VIRL by the Town of Lake Cowichan in August of 2014. Should the Library cease library operations at
this site, ownership would revert back to the Town. 

The land at 90 Commercial Street in Nanaimo, BC (valued by BCAA at $1,042,000) was transferred to
VIRL by the City of Nanaimo in June 2013. Should the Library cease library operations at this site,
ownership would revert back to the City. 

Work in Progress is for construction or renovation of buildings owned by the Library that had begun
during the year but was not completed and put into service by the fiscal year end. 

For additional information, see Consolidated Schedule of Tangible Capital Assets (Schedule III).

The Library also owns certain donated artworks which have not been capitalized due to the uncertainty of
the value. 

Description Location Estimated Value
Totem Pole Cowichan $50,000

- 12 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

6 Government and Other Grants
2018 2017

Budget Actual Actual

Provincial Per Capita Operating Grants $ 1,229,808 $ 1,206,871 $ 1,190,211
Other Provincial Grants 77,424 75,913 75,586
Federal Grants - 9,000 8,800
Other Grants - 16,434 14,720

$ 1,307,232 $ 1,308,218 $ 1,289,317

Annual per capita operating grants are provided by the Ministry of Education to all library systems in BC.
For a regional library system such as VIRL, grants are calculated for municipal areas at $1.78 - $2.20 per
capita, and for rural areas at $3.90 - 4.10 per capita.

7 Pension Obligations

The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension
plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering
the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer
defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2017,
the plan has about 197,000 active members and approximately 95,000 retired members. Active members
include approximately 39,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and
adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member
contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age
normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient
to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate is then adjusted to the extent there is
amortization of any funding deficit.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015, indicated a $2.224
billion funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. As a result of the 2015 basic
account actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant to the joint trustee agreement, $1.927 billion was
transferred to the rate stabilization account and $297 million of the surplus ensured the required
contribution rates remained unchanged.

The Library paid $875,797  (2017 - $825,854 ) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2018. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2018, with results available in 2019.

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan
records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the
plan.

- 13 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

8 Accrued Benefit Obligation

The liability represents an estimate of the amount of accumulated severance benefits. The following data
is a result of applying an actuarial method in valuating the liability at December 31, 2018. Significant
assumptions used in the valuation include a discount rate of 3.20% (2017 - 3.15%) and inflation of 2%
(2017 - 2%). There are no unamortized gains or losses. Prior to 2005, an actuarial method was not used
for the accrued benefit obligation. 

The severance calculation is based on the current contractual obligation that states that permanent full
time employees who have ten (10) years of consecutive service and who retire on the Municipal Pension
Plan after their sixtieth (60th) birthday will be awarded two (2) months' pay at the rate that prevailed at
the time of retirement. Permanent part-time employees severance calculation varies in that employees
with ten (10) years continuous service who retire after their sixtieth (60th) birthday will receive an award
of two (2) months of their average monthly earnings based on the previous six (6) months earnings. 

2018 2017

Provision for accrued benefit obligation, beginning of the year $ 434,342 $ 452,019
Payments during the year (29,425) (17,799)
Interest earned 4,496 2,129
Contribution to provision during the year 44,595 (2,007)
Provision for accrued benefit obligation, end of the year $ 454,008 $ 434,342

9 Accumulated Sick Payable

The Vancouver Island Regional Library provides for sick leave under the following conditions:
(a) All CUPE, BCGEU, and Exempt full time accumulate one and one half days of sick leave per
month.
(b) CUPE staff are limited to accumulate the equivalent of 120 working days pay, while BCGEU and
Exempt employees are limited to accumulate 130 working days pay.
(c) Regular Part Time CUPE, BCGEU, and Exempt employees are allowed the same earnings rates and
limits with the exceptions that the amounts are prorated to an equivalent amount based on their regular
appointed schedules.
(d) Sick leave can only be used for paid time off for illness of the employee. Sick leave taken is paid at
the employee's normal rate of pay at the time.
(e) There is no provision for payment of any unused sick bank balance on termination of employment.

The estimate for accumulated sick payable as at December 31, 2018 is $475,044  (2017 - $425,658 ).

- 14 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

10 Commitments

The Library is committed under several lease agreements for building rentals and shared common costs
which, for each of the next five years and in total, are disclosed below. The Library has also entered into
agreements commiting itself to costs of $1,023,927 in 2019 related to construction projects, and has
entered into a five year operating lease for a photocopier at an annual cost of $5,025 expiring in October
2020. 

Software and
             Rental Construction    Photocopier              Total

2019 1,600,889 1,023,927 5,025 2,629,841
2020 1,486,221 - 4,188 1,490,409
2021 1,219,303 - - 1,219,303
2022 780,808 - - 780,808
2023 605,380 - - 605,380

$ 5,692,601 $ 1,023,927 $ 9,213 $ 6,725,741

The rental lease agreements are all expected to be renewed as they reach expiry and the resultant liability
in the future is expected to escalate rather than decline.

11 Annual Budget

The financial statements include the unaudited annual budget as approved by the Library Board on
September 16, 2017.

Capital Asset
Acquisitions

           Budget               Budget
Balanced Budget Amount Nil
Transfers from Restricted Reserves (4,316,822)
Transfers to Restricted Reserves 2,763,916
Budgeted increase in Net Financial Assets (1,552,906)

MFA Debt Issue (8,250,000)

Repayments of Long Term Debt 367,214

Purchase of Tangible Capital Assets 10,981,948 10,981,948

Budgeted Operating Surplus $ 1,546,256

- 15 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

12 Economic Dependence

The Vancouver Island Regional Library is economically dependent on Government per-capita grants in
order to continue to provide the current level of services. 

13 Accumulated Surplus

Which is comprised of:
2018 2017

Internally restricted - Statement "E" $ 6,862,710 $ 5,090,510
Unrestricted 211,280 305,856
Net investment in tangible capital assets - Schedule III 9,291,942 10,384,243

$ 16,365,932 $ 15,780,609

13.a Fund Accounting

The General Fund accounts for the Library's program delivery and administrative services. This Fund
reports all assessments, grants, other income and expenditures. 

The capital fund reports all assets and liabilities related to the Library's tangible capital assets. 

13.b Internally-restricted funds

Included in internally-restricted funds are amounts set aside from past and current operations for future
operating and capital expenditures. The money in these reserve funds, and interest earned thereon, must
be expended only for the purpose for which the fund was established. If the amount in the reserve fund is
greater than required, the Board may transfer all or part of the balance to another reserve fund. 

In addition to budgeted transfers to reserves, an evaluation of the unrestricted surplus is carried out
annually to establish the minimum surplus retention. This is done by taking the total expenditures, less
current assets and current liabilities and subtracting the designated reserves on hand. This total is
multiplied by a factor of 5% to establish the minimum surplus to be retained. The amount transferred
from unrestricted to restricted in 2018 was $0  (2017 - $0).

14 Long Term Debt

All Long Term Debt is borrowed from the Municipal Finance Authority of BC (MFA). Interest payments
and actuarial earnings related to long-term debt obligations are recorded on an accrual basis. Actuarial
revenue is investment earnings on the Library's principal payments made to, and invested by, the MFA,
prior to the MFA using these funds to retire the related debt. The actuarial interest rate is set when the
debt is issued to the Regional District and may be adjusted by MFA during the term of the debt as market
conditions dictate that the rate can no longer be achieved. Actual actuarial earnings beyond the set rate are
paid to the Regional District when the related debt has been retired. Actuarial revenue is recognized and
compounded annually starting in the second year of the debt term. 

- 16 -
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

14 Long Term Debt (continued)

Interest has been accrued as an expense to December 31, 2018. Actuarial adjustments are treated as
additional principal repayments per the schedules and advices received from the MFA. Principal
payments are applied directly to loan balances in the period they accrue. 

Two Debt issues have been secured by the Nanaimo Regional District for the Nanaimo North Branch and
the Nanaimo Harbourfront Branch, one by the Cowichan Valley Regional District for the Lake Cowichan
Branch, and one by the North Coast Regional District for branches on Haida Gwaii. 

Nanaimo Cowichan Nanaimo North Coast
North Lake Harbourfront Regional District Total

MFA Debt Issue # 117 121 126 145
Initial Borrowing 8,000,000 1,000,000 8,610,000 1,500,000 19,110,000
Term 30 Years 30 Years 25 Years 20 Years
Interest Rate 3.25% 3.25% 3.85% 3.15%
YTD Principal Payment 142,641 17,830 206,743 - 367,214
YTD Interest Payment 222,155 25,137 296,368 47,572 591,232
Total Annual Payments 364,796 42,967 503,111 47,572 958,446

Beginning Balance 
  January 1, 2018 7,053,867 903,426 7,732,073 - 15,689,366
Additional Funding
  during 2018 - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000
Actuarial Adjustments 
  during 2018 (37,844) (3,863) (35,117) - (76,824)
Principal Repayments (142,641) (17,830) (206,743) - (367,214)
Ending Balance 
  December 31, 2018 6,873,382 881,733 7,490,213 1,500,000 16,745,328

Long Term Debt - Principal Payments (next 5 years)

Year Nanaimo Cowichan Nanaimo North Coast
North Lake Harbourfront Regional District

2019 142,641 17,830 206,743 55,824
2020 142,641 17,830 206,743 55,824
2021 142,641 17,830 206,743 55,824
2022 142,641 17,830 206,743 55,824
2023 142,641 17,830 206,743 55,824
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VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

15 MFA Debt Reserve Fund

The Library secures its long term borrowing through the MFA. As a condition of these borrowings a
portion of the debenture proceeds are retained by the Authority as a Debt Reserve Fund. The Library is
contingently liable to the MFA for the Debt Reserve Fund, to help secure its participation in MFA
debentures. The MFA has the right, if one or more participants in that issue default, to draw upon the
Library’s share of the Debt Reserve Fund of $225,627 as at December 31, 2018 (2017 - $205,900).

16 Deposits

Deposits at December 31 represent construction deposits with the District of North Cowichan for the
construction of the Chemainus branch, and security deposits paid on rental agreements.

17 Comparative Figures

Some prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 

18 Outstanding Claims

The Library has received 10 grievances from CUPE Local 401 regarding differences of opinion in
interpreting and applying the collective agreement. As of December 31, the outcome of these grievances,
and losses if any, are not reasonably determinable. Due to the uncertainty surrounding these grievances,
no liability has been recorded. 

- 18 -
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Schedule I
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

GENERAL FUND EXPENSE SCHEDULE

WAGES AND BENEFITS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Budget 2018 2017
(Note 11)

Library Services

Branch Services $ 7,522,802 $ 7,206,800 $ 7,012,923
Technical Services 645,221 623,535 663,728
Information Services and 
 Network Support 511,038 540,621 433,284

8,679,061 8,370,956 8,109,935

Corporate Services

Financial Services 404,754 399,469 278,984
Shipping & Receiving 190,059 148,267 134,849
Executive Director's Office 483,938 446,516 408,754
Human Resources 301,502 365,053 258,374
Communications 370,832 300,812 270,351
Facility Management 99,645 76,969 91,100
Purchasing 124,604 134,457 125,756

1,975,334 1,871,543 1,568,168

Total Wages 10,654,395 10,242,499 9,678,103

Benefits 3,039,013 2,874,209 2,748,234

Hiring and Training 20,000 26,834 14,787

Total Wages and Benefits $ 13,713,408 $ 13,143,542 $ 12,441,124
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Schedule II
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

GENERAL FUND EXPENSE SCHEDULE

ADMINISTRATION COSTS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Budget 
(Note 11) 2018 2017

Administration

Utilities and communications $ 292,679 $ 287,498 $ 282,934
Office, photocopier and postage 348,320 401,338 335,481
Central services' building and 
  equipment maintenance 409,837 598,620 582,778
Furniture and Equipment - small items
  expensed 96,050 124,518 348,200
Travel and Vehicle Operation 224,037 248,517 235,880
Professional Fees 244,625 855,074 553,043
Insurance 130,000 126,990 131,351
Training and workshops 45,537 45,660 62,643
Board expenses 103,021 79,602 96,956
Promotion and advertising 118,589 129,916 117,925
Bank and payroll production charges 79,468 79,605 82,993

Total Administration $ 2,092,163 $ 2,977,338 $ 2,830,184

- 20 -

42



Schedule III
VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Furniture & Computer Leasehold 2018 2017
Books Equipment Equipment Vehicles Building Improvement Land  Total Total

Historical Cost:
Opening Balance $14,148,682 $ 5,310,175 $ 4,124,656 $ 438,296 $19,737,806 $ 1,996,454 $ 295,731 $46,051,800 $44,543,350
Additions 2,602,318 69,443 316,917 - 239,365 15,223 - 3,243,266 3,703,439
Transfers from 
  Work in Progress - - - - - - - - -
Less: Disposals &
  Write-Downs (2,265,458) (1,946) - (25,361) - - - (2,292,765) (2,194,991)

14,485,542 5,377,672 4,441,573 412,935 19,977,171 2,011,677 295,731 47,002,301 46,051,798

Accumulated Amortization
Opening Balance 8,094,766 3,697,651 3,695,568 273,231 2,979,595 1,237,378 - 19,978,189 18,525,244
Amortization Expense 2,416,391 268,346 343,121 31,982 496,437 217,063 - 3,773,340 3,647,935
Effects of Disposals &
 Write-Downs (2,265,458) (1,946) - (25,361) - - - (2,292,765) (2,194,991)

8,245,699 3,964,051 4,038,689 279,852 3,476,032 1,454,441 - 21,458,764 19,978,188

Work in Progress - - - - - 493,733 - 493,733 -

Net Book Value 
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2018 $ 6,239,843 $ 1,413,621 $ 402,884 $ 133,083 $16,501,139 $ 1,050,969 $ 295,731 $26,037,270 $26,073,610

Less Debt 16,745,328 15,689,367

Net Investment In Assets $ 9,291,942 $10,384,243

- 21 -

43



Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 5 (b) 

2018 Audit Findings Report 

Recommendation 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the 2018 Audit Findings Report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Background 
At the conclusion of an annual audit, the auditors prepare a report to the Board that outlines 
the significant matters of which the Board should be aware. This is a standard report prepared 
by auditors that contains information on various topics, including: 

• Changes from the Audit Service Plan that was presented to the Board in February 2019;

• Areas of audit emphasis, materiality, and significant deficiencies in internal control;

• Difficulties encountered, fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

• Other significant items as identified by the auditors

In management’s opinion, there are no items included in the report that indicate areas of 
concern for the Board. 

The full report is attached to this cover page, and a representative from MNP LLP, VIRL’s 
auditors, is in attendance to answer any questions Board Trustees may have. 

Conclusion 
The audit found no material misstatements and a clean audit opinion has been provided on the 
financial statements.  

Relationship to the Strategic Plan 
Stewardship & Accountability: We have been entrusted with public resources, and we 
optimize these resources through responsible and effective management and fiscal integrity. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 



Vancouver Island Regional Library
Report to the Board of Directors

For the Year Ending December 31, 2018
For presentation at the meeting on May 3, 2018
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May 3, 2019

Members of the Board of Directors of the Vancouver Island Regional Library

Dear Members of the Board:

We are pleased to submit to you this report for discussion of our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Vancouver Island Regional Library (the “Library") as at December 31, 2018 and for the year then ended. In
this report we cover those significant matters which, in our opinion, you should be aware of as members of the
Board of Directors.

We have completed our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Library which has been carried out
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Our Audit Report will provide an unqualified opinion to the members of the Library. A draft copy of our proposed
Independent Auditor's Report is attached at the end of this report. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management and should
not be distributed to or used by any other parties than these specified parties.

The matters raised in this and other reports that will flow from the audit are only those which have come to our
attention arising from or relevant to our audit that we believe need to be brought to your attention. They are not a
comprehensive record of all the matters arising, and in particular we cannot be held responsible for reporting all
risks in your business or all control weaknesses. This report has been prepared solely for your use and should
not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted
as the report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, any other purpose.

We would like to express our appreciation for the excellent cooperation we have received from management and
employees with whom we worked.

We appreciate having the opportunity to meet with you and to respond to any questions you may have about our
audit, and to discuss any other matters that may be of interest to you. 

Sincerely,

MNP LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
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INTRODUCTION

As auditors, we report to the members on the results of our examination of the consolidated financial statements
of the Vancouver Island Regional Library (the “Library”) as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018. The
purpose of this Audit Findings Report is to assist you, as members of the Board of Directors, in your review of
the results of our audit. To facilitate in your understanding of our findings, Appendix A to this report summarizes
our audit process.

Our report will discuss the status of our engagement, as well as communicate to you significant audit, accounting
and reporting matters arising from our procedures. We hope that this report is of assistance to you, and we look
forward to discussing our findings and answering your questions.

ENGAGEMENT STATUS

We have completed our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Library and are prepared to sign our
Auditor's Report subsequent to completion of the following procedures:

 Receipt of the signed management representation letter

 The Executive Committee's review and approval of the consolidated financial statements

We expect to have the above procedures completed and to release our Audit Report on May 3, 2019. Our report
will provide an unqualified opinion. 

SIGNIFICANT AUDIT, ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING MATTERS

CHANGES FROM AUDIT SERVICE PLAN

There were no deviations from the Audit Service Plan previously presented to you.

AREAS OF AUDIT EMPHASIS

Detailed information on Areas of Audit Emphasis is included as Appendix B to this report.

FINAL MATERIALITY

Materiality is a concept used to assess the significance of misstatements or omissions that are identified during
the audit and is used to determine the level of audit testing that is carried out. The scope of our audit work is
tailored to reflect the relative size of operations of the Library, and is affected by our assessment of materiality
and audit risk. 

Final materiality used for our audit was $900,000 for December 31, 2018 and $700,000 for December 31, 2017.

SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES IN INTERNAL CONTROL

Our audit process focuses on understanding the controls utilized in management's reporting systems to the
extent necessary to identify overall and specific financial reporting risks. This risk assessment allows us to
concentrate our audit procedures on high risk areas and, where possible, place reliance on controls within the
financial reporting system to reduce the extent of our testing.

December 31, 2018 Audit Findings – Vancouver Island Regional Library Page 1
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It is important to note that our assessment was not, nor was it intended to be, sufficient to comment or conclude
on the sufficiency of internal controls.

We are required under Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to communicate all significant
deficiencies identified during an audit to the Board of Directors on a timely basis. However, we may not be aware
of all significant deficiencies that do, in fact, exist. 

While our review of controls was not sufficient to express an opinion as to their effectiveness or efficiency, no
significant deficiencies in internal control have come to our attention.

DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED

No significant limitations were placed on the scope or timing of our audit.

IDENTIFIED OR SUSPECTED FRAUD

Due to the inherent limitations of an audit and the nature of fraud, including attempts at concealment through
forgery or collusion, an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
cannot be relied upon to detect fraud.

While our audit cannot be relied upon to detect all instances of fraud, no incidents of fraud, or suspected fraud,
came to our attention in the course of our audit.

IDENTIFIED OR SUSPECTED NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Nothing has come to our attention that would suggest any non-compliance with laws and regulations that would
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

MATTERS ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH RELATED PARTIES

No significant matters arose during the course of our audit in connection with related parties of the Library.

GOING CONCERN

We have not identified any material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Library's ability to continue as a going concern.

We are of the opinion that the going concern assumption is appropriate in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. 

AUDITOR'S VIEWS OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

The application of Canadian public sector accounting standards allows and requires the Library to make
accounting estimates and judgments regarding accounting policies and financial statement disclosures. 

As auditors, we are uniquely positioned to provide open and objective feedback regarding your Library's
accounting practices, and have noted the following items during the course of our audit that we wish to bring to
your attention.

December 31, 2018 Audit Findings – Vancouver Island Regional Library Page 2
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Accounting Policies

 The accounting policies used by the Library are appropriate and have been consistently applied.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is subject to significant accounting estimates made by
management. All significant management estimates were reviewed for the current period and no material
differences were noted.

The following is a summary of significant management estimates and provisions:

Provision for legal contingencies – no provision deemed necessary, which was corroborated by legal opinions
obtained.

Accumulated sick payable – estimated based on 2018 sick bank usage with a factored wage increase included.
Amount is reasonable per work performed, as stated above. 

Accrued benefit obligation – estimated present value of future costs related to expected employee service.
Amount is reasonable per work performed, as stated above.

Financial Statement Disclosures

The disclosures made in the notes to the consolidated financial statements appear clear, neutral and consistent
with our understanding of the entity and the amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements.

MATTERS ARISING FROM DISCUSSIONS WITH MANAGEMENT

We would like to formally acknowledge the cooperation and assistance we received from the management and
staff of the Library.

There were no significant matters discussed, or subject to correspondence, with management that in our
judgment need be brought to your attention.

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES

No significant differences were proposed to management with respect to the December 31, 2018 consolidated
financial statements.

MODIFICATIONS TO THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

As discussed earlier, our independent auditor's report will provide an unqualified opinion to the members of the
Board. 

MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS

We have requested certain written representations from management, which represent a confirmation of certain
oral representations given to us during the course of our audit.
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AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

Subsequent to December 31, 2018, the Library engaged MNP to perform a process review engagement in the
procurement department.  To safeguard any independence threats from performance of this engagement,
separate teams were used for the audit and process review engagements, with the process review engagement
being led by MNP Partners in our Vancouver office.  

We confirm to the Board of Directors that we are independent of the Library. Our letter to the Board of Directors
discussing our independence is attached to this report. 

December 31, 2018 Audit Findings – Vancouver Island Regional Library Page 4
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APPENDIX A – MNP Audit Process

Our audit was carried out in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, and included a
review of all significant accounting and management reporting systems, with each material year end balance,
key transaction and other events considered significant to the consolidated financial statements considered
separately.

Our audit process focused on understanding the controls utilized in management's reporting systems to the
extent necessary to identify overall and specific financial reporting risks. This risk assessment enabled us to
concentrate our audit procedures on the areas where differences were most likely to arise. Our assessment was
not, nor was it intended to be, sufficient to conclude on the effectiveness or efficiency of internal controls. 

During the course of our audit, we have:

 Examined, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial

statements;

 Assessed the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management;

 Obtained an understanding of the Library and its environment, including management's internal controls

(regardless of whether we relied on them for the purpose of the audit), sufficient to identify and assess

the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and to design and perform

audit procedures;

 Reviewed and assessed those accounting systems deemed necessary to support our audit opinion;

 Evaluated the overall consolidated financial statement presentation;

 Performed a subsequent events review with management;

 Reviewed and assessed the status of contingencies, commitments and guarantees;

 Reviewed and assessed exposure to environmental liabilities.

We have obtained written representations from management, included as additional materials following this
report, in order to confirm oral representations given to us and reduce the possibility of misunderstanding.
Specifically, we have obtained written confirmation of significant representations provided on matters that are:

 Directly related to items that are material, either individually or in the aggregate, to the consolidated

financial statements;

 Not directly related to items that are material to the consolidated financial statements, but are significant,

either individually or in the aggregate, to the engagement; and

 Matters relevant to management judgments or estimates that are material, either individually or in the

aggregate, to the consolidated financial statements.
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APPENDIX B – Areas of Audit Emphasis

Accumulated Sick Payable:

The accumulated sick payable is an estimate of sick bank utilization for the future, or more specifically the next
fiscal year. The liability was estimated by factoring in a wage increase into the actual sick time usage in 2018. 

Audit Procedures:
Our audit work in this area included a review of management's methodology used in the calculation of the
estimate and a check of the mathematical accuracy.  We also assessed the reasonability of the wage increase
factor by reviewing collective bargaining agreements and the appropriateness of the accounting policy in
accordance with PSAB 3255.

We have concluded that the accounting related to the accumulated sick payable is appropriate.

Accrued Benefit Obligation:

The accrued benefit obligation is an estimate of the future obligation for payout of retirement benefits for CUPE
employees.  These CUPE employees must be over the age of sixty and have ten years of continuous service in
order to be eligible for this benefit at retirement.  This estimate is based upon factors such as the number of
current employees that will be eligible for this benefit each year into the future, the proportion of employees that
will continue to be employed by the Regional Library until eligibility, the rate of inflation and the cost of borrowing.
The assumptions made by management are that any current employee under the age of forty will not continue to
be employed by the Regional Library until eligibility and that 55% of current employees over the age of forty will
continue to be employed until eligibility.  Changes to these underlying assumptions and estimates could have a
material impact on the amount of the liability recognized.  

Audit procedures:
Our audit work in this area included a detailed review of management's methodology used in the calculation of
the estimate and a check of the mathematical accuracy.  We also assessed the reasonability of the assumptions
used in the calculation and the appropriateness of the accounting policy in accordance with PSAB 3255.  A
sample of employees were tested to support to ensure that accurate data was used in the calculation.

We have concluded that the accounting related to the accrued benefit obligation is appropriate.

December 31, 2018 Audit Findings – Vancouver Island Regional Library Page 6
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May 3, 2019

The Board of Directors
Vancouver Island Regional Library
P.O. Box 3333
Nanaimo, BC  V9R 5N3

Dear Members of the Board of Directors:

We have been engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Vancouver Island Regional Library ("the
Library") as at December 31, 2018 and for the year then ended.

CAS 260 Communication With Those Charged With Governance requires that we communicate with you matters
that are significant to our engagement. One such matter is relationships between the Library and its related
entities or persons in financial reporting oversight roles at the Library and MNP LLP and any affiliates (“MNP”)
that, in our professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. In determining
which relationships to report, the Standard requires us to consider relevant rules and related interpretations
prescribed by the appropriate professional accounting body and applicable legislation, covering such matters as:

(a) Holding a financial interest, either directly or indirectly, in a client;
(b) Holding a position, either directly or indirectly, that gives the right or responsibility to exert significant

influence over the financial or accounting policies of a client or a related entity;
(c) Personal or business relationships of immediate family, close relatives, partners or retired partners,

either directly or indirectly, with a client or a related entity;
(d) Economic dependence on a client; and
(e) Provision of non-assurance services in addition to the audit engagement.

We are aware of the following relationships between the Library and MNP that, in our professional judgment,
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. The following relationships represent matters that have
occurred from January 1, 2018 to May 3, 2019.

Subsequent to December 31, 2018, the Library engaged MNP to perform a process review engagement in the
procurement department.  To safeguard any independence threats from performance of this engagement,
separate teams were used for the audit and process review engagements, with the process review engagement
being led by Partners in our Vancouver office.  

This report is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors, management and others within the Library
and should not be used for any other purposes.

We look forward to discussing with you the matters addressed in this letter as well as other matters that may be
of interest to you. We will be prepared to answer any questions you may have regarding our independence as
well as other matters.

Sincerely,

MNP LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 5 (c) 

Changes to Key Performance Indicators 

Recommendation: 
The Deputy Executive Director & Chief Operating Officer, in consultation with the Executive 
Director, recommends: 

That the Changes to Key Performance Indicators report be received by the Board of 
Trustees. 

Background 
Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) collects a number of performance indicators, which 
track VIRL’s success in several measurable and quantifiable areas. These include: 

• the number of customers
• number of in-person visitors to our branches
• circulation of physical and digital items
• programming
• computer and WiFi use

Data is collected for each of our branches and for VIRL as a whole. These measures are available 
via the Trustee Portal and highlights are included in the Branch Activity Reports and Key 
Performance Indicator reports in each board package.  

Some of these measures are shared with the Ministry of Education and with industry 
benchmarking organizations, including the Canadian Urban Libraries Council and the 
International Federation of Library Associations.  

Discussion 
While VIRL’s existing performance indicators are in-line with other public libraries, they have 
some limitations: 

• Individual branch data can be misleading. For example, small changes, such as an extra
program in a month, can appear as a significant increase in programming (this is especially
true in rural branches with limited programming), and two class visits can triple the
attendance at an event.

• Some of our performance indicators are dependant on specific technology. As technology
has been upgraded and replaced, the data has not been measured the same way, leading
to less accurate measures.

• Our existing performance measures quantify our activities, but don’t convey the impact of
our services, nor tell the stories of our successes and community importance.

55



Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 
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Increasingly libraries, public sector, and non-profit organizations are reviewing their 
performance measures and seeking to measure their impact in new ways.  

The Deputy Executive Director is undertaking a review of VIRL’s performance data with the 
following goals:  

• Evaluate the effectiveness of our existing performance indicators
• Incorporate qualitative analysis
• Identify new measures that demonstrate the impact of VIRL’s services on our customers

and communities — that tell our story
• Redesign the Branch Activity Report and Key Performance Indicator (KPI) report

This review will occur over the next few months and will include: 

Stage 1: Streamline of current reporting (June 2019) 
Beginning in June, the monthly activity reports will include system-wide performance indicator 
data, but will not include branch-by-branch statistics. The report will continue to include stories 
and information about each branch. The report included in your Board package will be revised 
accordingly.  

Stage 2: Introduction of new KPI and impact reporting (October/ November 2019) 
The Executive Committee and Board of Trustees will review a sample report and revised set of 
performance data.  

Stage 3: New Board reporting (January 2020) 
The new performance and impact report will be provided to Trustees with each meeting 
package. 

Economic Impact 
There is no economic impact of this change. VIRL will continue to report standardized statistics 
to the Ministry of Education, in accordance with the Public Library Accountability Framework.  

Communication Plan 
The revised report will be included as part of the Board’s regular agenda package, which is 
posted to the Trustee Portal and, after each meeting, to the public facing website.  

Relationship to the Strategic Plan 
Identifying enhanced performance and outcome measures will enable us to evaluate our success 
at delivering on our Mission: to enrich lives and communities through universal access to 
knowledge, lifelong learning, and literacy. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Anne O’Shea, BA MLIS 
Deputy Executive Director & 
Chief Operating Officer 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 5 (d) 

Branch Activity Highlights Report 

Recommendation 
The Director of Corporate Communications and Strategic Initiatives, in consultation with the 
Executive Director, recommends: 

That the Branch Activity Highlights Report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

The Branch Activity Highlights report does not reflect the entire complement of in-branch 
programming and events for the month. Please visit this link to see the complete January 2019 
and past Branch Activity Reports. 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are currently under review (see the accompanying report in 
the Agenda package, item 5 (c)); therefore, KPIs are not included in this report.  

Zone 1 
Gabriola Island 
Programs 

The branch launched a new program, called Wee Hands, that 
targets parents and very young children to introduce them to 
cooperative art and play. Facilitated by a local arts educator, the 
goal of the program is to offer a free, welcoming space for young 
families to meet, socialize, and be creative. This program will be 
happening on a monthly basis at the branch.  

The branch collaborated with the 
Gabriola Arts Council’s annual Isle of 
the Arts Festival and the Gabriola 
Island-Friends of the Library to offer 
the community two opportunities to 
engage with the arts. The first was a 
returning program: One Book, 

One Community: Reading for Reconciliation, that invited islanders 
to read Why Indigenous Literatures Matter by Daniel Heath Justice 
and come together for a community conversation during the 
festival. Community members gathered with CBC’s Shelagh Rogers 
and the author for an evening book discussion and community 
conversation about Truth and Reconciliation. The second program 
was a participatory art Memory Jar Project that invited community 
members to use art supplies to create and “bottle up” a memory in a jar to share with the 
community and put on display at the branch. It was very well received by the community. 
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Item 5 (d) 

Outreach 
• People for a Healthy Community Stepping Up, Stepping Out
• Vancouver Island Library Staff Conference

Ladysmith 
Programs 
Programs ranged from animal crafts to colouring. There was also a presentation on Estate 
Planning.  

Nanaimo Harbourfront 
Programs 
In addition to regular programming, the branch also had 
three film screenings in April, including the acclaimed 
Edge of the Knife in celebration of National Canadian 
Film Day.  
Poetry Month programming included renowned 
Canadian poet, bill bissett and other readings.  

Gary Allan and Tundra, an 85% wolf dog, joined by Randy Fred 
of the Nuu-chah-nulth First Nation, visited Harbourfront for a 
Wolf Walk on April 6. Randy and Gary shared stories and 
information about wolves and about Gary’s pack with 167 
fascinated attendees. Gary then brought Tundra for a tour of 
the branch before heading out to take a wolf walk through part 
of downtown Nanaimo.  
Outreach 
• Staff presentations at the Vancouver Island Staff Library
Conference.

Nanaimo North 
Poetry Month celebrations at Nanaimo North included eight 
local poets giving readings at a fun-filled evening and more 
than 200 poems were chosen for the branch’s Poetry Nests. 
Children’s author, musician, and puppeteer Jesse Thom 
performed his Some Bunny Loves You puppet show to well 
over 100 children and their families.  

Other programming included: 
• Teen Advisory Group
• Photos for Fun
• Dementia Workshop

Outreach 
• Library staff moderated the citywide Reading Link

Challenge
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Nanaimo Wellington 
Programs 
A range of programs were peppered throughout April at Wellington. Baby, Toddler, and 
Storytimes are always popular, as was the Elections Canada information booth and Bunny 
Origami.  
Outreach 

• Storytime at Tiny Tot’s Playgroup
• Puppet Show and SRC talk at Uplands Elementary
• Presentation at VILC

Zone 2 
Comox 

Programs 
Comox launched a new program for kids aged 9 – 13 called Design 
Squad Global. Created by PBS Kids, this six-week program offers hands-
on design and engineering challenges. The Comox group is partnered 
with another club in Waltham, Massachusetts and the groups have been 
sharing questions and photos.  

As part of Poetry Month, the branch provided a 
basket of poems and distributed more than 150 
poems throughout the month.  
Outreach 

• The Valley-wide Early Years Resource Fair –
staff performed a puppet show, signed kids
up for cards, and brought STEAM kits for kids
to play with.

Courtenay 
Programs 
Programming included Paws 4 Stories, Tech Tuesdays, and Treasure 
Storytime, held in conjunction with the Comox Valley Senior Support 
Network. 
The branch also participated in Poetry Month programs and hosted a 
reading by author Joe Callendino.  

Cumberland 
Programs 
There were three Storytimes and three Babytimes in April. 
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Zone 3 
Bowser 
Programs 
The Knitwits Knitting program had 33 participants and the Bowser Library Book Club met once. 

Parksville 
Programs 
The renovated branch was back in full swing in April, including 
Playground Engineering and Sphero Hero. Adults enjoyed a community 
mapping session. 
Outreach 
• Pete the Cat Community event

Port Alberni 
Programs 
April was awesome in Port Alberni. Some highlights from 
the month included the Dumbledor’s Army meeting that 
got together to discuss Harry Potter and the Prisoner of 
Azkaban and all sorts of fun, the Strong Start session, 
pyjama storytime, Easter crafting and kindergarten class 
visits. 
Outreach 

• Springtime Circle Time at Strong Start
• Post-natal group for parents and babies

Qualicum Beach 
Programs 
Storytimes are always popular in Qualicum Beach. Other 
notable programming for the month included STEAM Drop-in 
programs, VR demos, and Easter-themed crafts.  
Outreach 
• Buds to Blossoms Intergenerational Storytime
• Qualicum Beach First Nations Daycare
• Pete the Cat Oceanside First Steps to School Fair

Tofino 
Programs 
Three Storytime sessions brought in 66 people. 

Ucluelet 
Programs 
One Storytime had 10 attendees. 
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Zone 4 
Cowichan Lake 

Programs 
The branch launched its first intergenerational reading 
program in April, in partnership with Palsson Elementary 
School and Community Services, where students and seniors 
share books together.  
Social media is taking off in Cowichan with the branch’s 
Facebook page growing quickly and showing lots of 
engagement.  

Outreach 
• Ready, Set, Learn

Cowichan 
Programs 
At the Cowichan branch, April was a busy month that included 
multiple Family Storytimes, the VIU Film Series, TAG, Tech Tuesday, 
Cowichan Bee Keepers, and more.  

Outreach 
• Duncan Manor
• House of Friendship 

Healthiest Babies
• Cultural Connections Activity Night
• Growing Together

Port Renfrew 
Programs 
45 people came out for four sessions of Drop-in Craft night. 
The Port Renfrew branch continues to support the Sooke Food Hamper Delivery by the Sooke 
Lions Club and hosted their monthly visit.  
Brittany Tregear, Community Paramedic, continues to meet outside of the branch each week to 
promote wellness to library customers and to be visible in the community. Sooke Work-link and 
Juan de Fuca Emergency Program staff have also made themselves available at the branch as 
a resource in the community.  
Outreach 
Staff connected with the Port Renfrew Elementary School and local daycare to plan out branch 
visits for children in Port Renfrew.  
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Sidney/North Saanich 
Outreach 
Because the branch is under renovations, most programming was outside the branch. Here are 
some highlights: 
 

• Good Morning Storytime at Sidney All Care
• Book Chat at the Red Brick Café
• Pop-up Library at SHOAL
• Vancouver Island Library Staff Conference presentation
• Reading Link Challenge

Sooke 
Programs 
April highlights from Sooke included numerous STEAM activities, a class 
visit, crafts, and scavenger hunts.  

Outreach 
• Sooke Teacher-Librarian Association meeting

South Cowichan 
Programs 
April at the South Cowichan branch included a presentation about Wills and Estates, two author 
readings, Art Healing, French Conversation Club and More. 
Outreach 

• Ready, Set, Read
• Homebound deliveries

Zone 5 
Campbell River 

Programs 
The Campbell River branch is always bustling. From a busy 
author reading to meditation, partnering with the City on 
Modern Entrepreneur Lunch and Learn to poetry, 
meditation to film screenings, April had something for 
everyone in Campbell River.  
Outreach 

• Welcome to Kindergarten
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Cortes Island 
Programs 
One session of Family Story and one session of eHelp. 

Gold River 
Programs 
The month included two sessions of Family Storytime, one session 
of eHelp, five Board Game Nights, and two Lego Nights.  
Outreach 
• Two class visits

Quadra Island 
Programs 
There were four sessions of eHelp, 3 Lego Club meetings and four 
Teen Magic the Gathering programs.  

Sayward 
Programs 
Two Family Storytime sessions drew 10 participants. 

Tahsis 
Two Family Storytime sessions and two sessions of Tech Tuesday. 
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Zone 6 
Bella Coola 

Programs 
STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts and Math) 
programming were popular again in April with two well-attended 
sessions of Cardboard Creations.   

Port Alice 
Programs 
Seaview Elementary stopped by for a visit and there were two STEAM-based programs, including 
Microbits and Lego.  

Port Hardy 
Programs 
Classes came to Port Hardy in droves in April, in 
additional to Storytime, Mother Goose on the Go, a 
Community Puzzle and more!  
Outreach 
• Book donations for Island hospitals
• North Island College Aboriginal Student Outreach

Coordinator
• Creating Inclusive, Trauma-Informed Programming:

Using the Creative Process through BC Council for
Families

Port McNeill 
Programs 
People got crafty in April and made ladybugs, bird’s nests, and Easter crafts. 
Outreach 
• North Island Secondary School (NISS) Students Sign up for Library Cards
• New Book Club to begin in February

Sointula 
Programs 
Crafts also came to Sointula, as did Mother Goose on the Go. Crafts included 
Easter fun, Teen crafts and more.  
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Woss 
Programs 
Up in Woss, eight people learned how to make a volcano under water and 
the same number discovered how to grow a bean without soil. There were 
also all kinds of craft programs that brought many people into the branch.  

Zone 7 
Masset 
Programs 
Up in Masset, Strong Start Storytime was popular, as always, and the three class visits were 
great too.  

The branch also hosted another successful Indigenous Voices event 
where people learned about the Haida alphabet.  
Open Mic Night continued and the Word Collector Puppet Show was 
a hit! 

Port Clements 
Programs 
Programming in April included Strong Start Storytime, Kindergarten Storytime, Technology Help 
and a Book Club meeting.  

Queen Charlotte 
Programs  
The Puppet Show at Sun Studio was a huge hit for kids and kids at 
heart! Family Storytime was popular as always.  

Sandspit 
Programs 
Lego at the Library and the All Ages Colouring Station kept people 
busy and entertained in Sandspit.  
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Report on Lost Items 

Recommendation: 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the Report on Lost Items be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Background   
From time to time, library materials are lost while on loan to a customer. When an item is lost, 
Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) charges the full replacement cost of the item, plus 
any overdue charges and an $8.00 processing fee. These fees are determined by the Board of 
Trustee’s Fees and Charges Policy.  

At the February Executive Committee meeting, staff were requested to provide an overview of 
the cost and impact of lost materials, and to investigate whether the replacement costs and 
processing fees create a barrier to library use.  

Discussion 
The replacement cost of each item represents the cost VIRL paid to purchase it. The processing 
fee offsets the cost to VIRL to source a replacement item and have it processed for our 
collection. This involves purchasing the book, barcoding and labelling it, ensuring that it is 
recorded in our catalogue and adding it to the circulating collection.  

When items are not returned to the Library, it diminishes the breadth of resources available to 
other customers. The cost of replacing an item creates an incentive for customers to return 
items, which can then benefit others.  

For example, if a customer lost a book worth $20, the cost to the customer would be:   
Adult book Children’s book 

Item cost $ 20.00 $ 20.00 
Maximum fine $ 10.00 $  0.00 
Processing fee $   8.00 $  8.00 
Total cost $ 38.00 $ 28.00 

If the customer found the book and returned it to VIRL, all replacement and processing costs 
would be refunded and the final charges would be:  

Adult book Children’s book 
Item cost $   0.00 $  0.00 
Maximum fine $ 10.00 $  0.00 
Processing fee $   0.00 $  0.00 
Total cost $ 10.00 $  0.00 66
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A review of similarly sized BC libraries shows that VIRL’s processing fee is very reasonable, 
with fees in comparator libraries ranging from $5.00 to $12.00 for books and upward to 
$300.00 for kits.  

To ensure that replacement costs do not create undue financial hardship and to encourage 
the continued use of the Library, VIRL staff can offer payment plans to assist customers in 
paying owed monies. Fines and replacement costs can also be waived on a case-by-case basis. 
VIRL staff are skilled at identifying and responding to these situations and are guided by well 
documented internal guidelines and controls.  

VIRL purchases all of its books through a Canadian distributer to ensure compliance with the 
Copyright Act (R.S.C., 1985, c. C-42) and associated regulations. Therefore, VIRL does not 
permit customers to purchase a copy of the lost material and return it to the branch as a 
substitute for the lost item. 

VIRL’s approach to lost items is in keeping with sector standards, and our costs are very 
moderate. Our customer service approach ensures that no one is unduly burdened by losing 
an occasional item. At this time, we do not believe there is a need to revisit the costs charged 
for lost items.  

Economic Impact 
Lost and damaged item replacement costs and processing fees are one source of revenue for 
VIRL, and are reported within Library Generated Revenue on our financial statements.  

In 2018, the unaudited financial statements show that Library Generated Revenue was 
$403,232 and $7,458 flowed from lost item charges.  

Communication Plan 
VIRL’s Fees and Charges Policy outlines the costs of lost items, and this policy is available on 
the website at http://virl.bc.ca/about/library-board/policies/. 

Relationship to the Strategic Plan 
Stewardship & Accountability: We have been entrusted with public resources, and we 
optimize these resources through responsible and effective management and fiscal integrity. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Anne O’Shea, BA MLIS 
Deputy Executive Director & 
Chief Operating Officer  

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Item 5 (f)  

Revised Board Policy: Fees and Charges 

Recommendation 
The Director of Finance, in consultation with the Executive Director, recommends: 

 That the Revised Board Policy: Fees and Charges be received by the Board of Trustees; 
and 
That the current Board Policy: Fees and Charges be rescinded by the Board of Trustees; 
and 
That the revised Board Policy: Fees and Charges be adopted by the Board of Trustees. 

Background 

At the March Board Meeting, the Board passed a motion to refer the Revised Board Policy: Fees 
and Charges to the Executive Committee to report back regarding the Former VIRL Area being 
stricken from the policy. 

At the May Executive Committee meeting, the Committee requested that staff prepare a report 
for the next Board meeting regarding the elimination of all visitor and non-resident fees from 
the Policy. 

For reference, the wording of the current policy is as follows: 

Regular Non-Resident and Visitor Fees 

Household membership (12 months) $200.00 
Household membership (6 months) $100.00 
Household membership (3 months) $50.00 
Household membership (2 months) $35.00 
Household membership (1 month)  $20.00 

Non-Resident from Former VIRL Area 

Household membership (12 months) $500.00 
Household membership (6 months) $250.00 
Household membership (3 months) $125.00 
Household membership (2 months) $85.00 
Household membership (1 month)  $45.00 
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Analysis 

While the history of the definition of “Non-Resident from former VIRL Area” is somewhat unclear, 
VIRL staff see no reason it could not be removed from the policy. This also simplifies operations 
in that all non-residents pay the same fee, and staff are not required to make the distinction 
between a “regular” non-resident and a non-resident from a former area. 

From 2015 – 2018, non-resident fees ranged from approximately $500 - $1,000 per year, with 
no revenue from “former VIRL area” fees. As such, there is little to no financial impact in making 
this change to the Policy. 

In response to the Executive Committee’s request for staff to report on the elimination of all 
visitor and non-resident fees, as noted above the financial impact is minimal, so could be 
incorporated into the existing budget. 

Conclusion 

The update to the Fees and Charges Policy as discussed above has been incorporated into the 
revised Policy. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Fees and Charges 

The Board charges various fees and charges as per the Library Act. 

Overdue Charges 

Late Charges on Adult Materials 
Adult Materials $0.30 / day 
Multimedia  $0.30 / day 
Special Loans  $1.50 / day 

Late Charges on Children’s Materials 
Children’s Materials $0.10 / day 
Multimedia  $0.10 / day 
Special Loans  $0.50 / day 

Maximum Late Charge 
The maximum late charge is $10.00. Your balance must be less than $10.00 in order to 
borrow library materials. Your borrowing privileges will be suspended if you have $10.00 
or more in late charges. 

Damaged or Lost Materials 
Lost materials are charged the full replacement cost, plus the overdue charges and the 
processing fee. 

Processing Fee 
The processing fee is $8.00. All lost items are subject to a processing fee. 

Replacement Library Cards 
Adults $2.00 
Children $1.00 

Fines are not charged to Audiobook users, shut-ins, shut-in volunteers, or Books By Mail 
customers.  

Meeting Room Rental 
For-profit groups: $30.00 / hour 
Non-profit groups: no charge 

CURRENT POLICY
Board Policy 

Fees and Charges 
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Regular Non-Resident and Visitor Fees 
Household membership (12 months) $200.00 
Household membership (6 months) $100.00 
Household membership (3 months) $50.00 
Household membership (2 months) $35.00 
Household membership (1 month) $20.00 

Non-Resident from Former VIRL Area 
Household membership (12 months) $500.00 
Household membership (6 months) $250.00 
Household membership (3 months) $125.00 
Household membership (2 months) $85.00 
Household membership (1 month) $45.00 

Photocopier and Print-out Fees 
One copy made by customer $0.25 
One copy made by staff & kept by customer $0.25 
One internet or database print-out $0.25 

Inter-Library Loans 
Free 

Suspension of Borrowing Privileges 
Anyone owing $10.00 or more in fees and charges loses their borrowing privileges. 

Espresso Book Printing 
Set-up fee  $15.00   (not applicable to Public Domain titles) 
Cost per copy $6.00 / book 
Black and white printing $0.05 / page 
Colour printing $0.50 / page   (not applicable to Public Domain titles) 
Delivery to local branch Recovered at cost 
Bulk discount  20 - 49 copies of same book: 10% off 

50+ copies of same book: 15% off 
Nonprofit partner discount No set-up fee or per/copy fee 

Adoption History 

ADOPTED BY: DATE: 
VIRL Board of Trustees June 2008 
VIRL Board of Trustees March 2016 
VIRL Board of Trustees September 16, 2017 

DATE OF NEXT REVIEW:  2022 REVIEW CYCLE: 5 years 

Vancouver Island Regional Library 
Board Policy 

Fees and Charges 
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Fees and Charges 
The Board charges various fees and charges as per the Library Act. 

Overdue Charges 
Adult Materials 
Adult Materials $0.30 / day 
Multimedia  $0.30 / day 
Special Loans $1.50 / day 

Children’s Materials 
None 

Video Game Collection 
Video Games $0.30 / day 
Additional Fees: 

• Case – Damaged or Missing $1.00 
• Liner Notes $1.00 

No overdue charges for audiobook users, shut-ins, shut-in volunteers, or Books By Mail 
customers. 

Maximum Late Charge 
The maximum late charge is $10.00. Your balance must be less than $10.00 in order to 
borrow library materials. Your borrowing privileges will be suspended if you have $10.00 or 
more in late charges. 

Damaged or Lost Materials 
Lost materials are charged the full replacement cost, plus overdue charges and a processing 
fee of $8.00.  All lost items are subject to a processing fee. 

Replacement Library Card 
Adult $2.00 
Child $1.00 

Inter-Library Loans 
Free 

Meeting Room Rental 
For-profit groups  $30.00 / hour 
Non-profit groups  No charge 

DRAFT POLICY 
Board Policy 

Fees and Charges 
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Photocopies and Print-outs 
One copy made by customer   $0.25 
One copy made by staff & kept by customer $0.25 
One internet or database print-out  $0.25 

Espresso Book Printing 
Set-up fee  $15.00 (not applicable to Public Domain titles) 
Cost per copy $6.00 / book 
Black and white printing $0.05 / page 
Colour printing $0.50 / page (not applicable to Public Domain titles) 
Delivery to local branch Recovered at cost 
Bulk discount  20 - 49 copies of same book: 10% off 

50+ copies of same book: 15% off 
Nonprofit partner discount No set-up fee or per/copy fee 

3D Printing 
Cost per gram of filament used $0.10 

Adoption History 
ADOPTED BY: DATE: 

VIRL Board of Trustees 
VIRL Board of Trustees September 16, 2017 
VIRL Board of Trustees March 2016 
VIRL Board of Trustees June 2008 

DATE OF NEXT REVIEW:  2024 REVIEW CYCLE: 5 years 

Vancouver Island Regional Library 
Board Policy 

Fees and Charges 
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March 2019 Finance Report 

Recommendation 
The Director of Finance, in consultation with the Executive Director, recommends: 

That the March 2019 Finance Report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Background 
Results to March 31, 2019 are presented for information. These reports do not follow the same 
format as annual audited statements as the focus is more on day to day operations. Vancouver 
Island Regional Library’s (VIRL) revenues are predictable and therefore accurately represented. 
The March financial results reflect that operational revenues are in line with expectations and 
that expenditures are below budget. The year-end process is in progress so there may be 
additional adjustments that impact the figures presented. 

The operating surplus as at March 31 is $160,535. At the end of March, $787,057 in reserve 
funded expenditures had been made, and transfers of $754,382 had been made to revenue, 
representing work completed to date.   

Statement 1 – Balance Sheet 
At the end of March, the balance sheet shows that VIRL continues to have healthy reserves and 
sufficient operational funds. Cash and investments were approximately $9.1 million at the end 
of March.  Refundable deposits relate primarily to deposits paid to local governments as part of 
construction projects, as well as security deposits included in rental agreements. Accounts 
receivable other relates primarily to refundable GST.  We continue to maintain a small inventory 
of promotional sale items, and prepaid expenses represent the portion of contracts and other 
items that have been paid in 2019 but relate to services in future years. 

The accounts payable balance at March 31 represents our current commitments at this date. 
Wages and deductions payable relate to accrued salaries and benefits. Deferred revenue 
assessments relate to levies received but not yet invoiced. MFA Long Term Debt relates to 
borrowings incurred for capital projects at the Nanaimo North, Nanaimo Harbourfront, Lake 
Cowichan, Masset, Sandspit, and Queen Charlotte branches.  

The surplus/equity section reflects capital accounts in order to present amortization as required 
by Public Sector accounting standards. Currently, approximately $21.4 million of our 
$46.1 million in assets have been amortized. The cost to replace those assets would be 
significantly above the original cost due to inflation. Long term plans need to provide funding 
for these replacements. We are now in year nine of a fifteen-year funding requirement. Regular 
replacement of our base materials puts VIRL in a good position for the future.   

74



Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 6 (a) 

Statements 2, 3, 4 - Revenue and Expenditures 
March represents the third of twelve months, so the target expenditures to date are 25%. 
Significant items affecting the operating surplus at the end of March include: 

• Levies to members are recognized on a monthly basis and represent 25% of the annual
budget.

• Provincial grants for the year were received in March.
• Total expenditures are below budget, representing 20% of total budget for the year.
• Operating expenditures are a little above budget at 28% of total budget for the year,

reflecting the fact that some expenses are incurred early in the year (such as insurance
and software licensing).

• Library materials are slightly above budget at 33% as more purchases are made during
the beginning of the year.

• Computer costs, Consulting and Professional Fees, and Bank and Service Charges are
above budget due to the timing of expenditures.

• Insurance is above budget as all insurance costs are incurred early in the year.
• Wages & Benefits, Travel & Vehicle Operation, and Training are just slightly above

budget.
• Other operating costs are either on budget or below.

Conclusion 
VIRL’s finances indicate that results are in line with expectations and significant projects are 
currently either complete or underway.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Statement 1

ASSETS
Cash and Investments 9,060,454
Refundable Deposits 267,588
Accounts Receivable, Other 76,479
Inventory, Book Bags, Whale toys 10,084
Prepaid Expenses 23,013
Current Assets 9,437,619
Buildings 19,977,172 
Accumulated Amortization - Buildings (3,476,036) 16,501,137
Furniture and Equipment 5,377,673 
Accumulated Amortization - Furniture and Equipment (3,964,051) 1,413,621
Computer Equipment 4,441,572 
Accumulated Amortization - Computer Equipment (4,038,688) 402,885
Vehicles 412,935 
Accumulated Amortization - Vehicles (279,852) 133,083
Books 14,485,542 
Accumulated Amortization - Books (8,245,699) 6,239,843
Leasehold Improvements 2,011,678 
Accumulated Amortization - Leasehold Improvements (1,454,440) 557,237
Work in Progress 493,733
Land 295,731
Fixed Assets 26,037,270
Total Assets 35,474,889

LIABILITIES 
Accounts Payable 199,282
Reserves 7,608,367
Wages & Deductions Payable 1,853,317
Friends Groups Fundraising 18,232
Deferred Revenue Assessments 74,205
Deferred Revenue Fundraising 312,401
MFA Long Term Debt 16,745,328
Total Liabilities 26,811,130

SURPLUS / EQUITY
Opening Surplus (17,534,046) (17,534,046)
Surplus (Deficit) Year to Date - 160,535
Current Year excluding Amortization 160,535 
Total Surplus to Date (17,373,511)

26,037,270

Total Surplus - Equity in Assets 8,663,759

TOTAL Liabilities Surplus Equity 35,474,889

Equity in Assets

March 31, 2019
Unaudited

 VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
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Statement 2

UNAUDITED

ANNUAL ACTUAL YTD =
BUDGET YTD 25% Variance

$ $ $
REVENUE
Levies to Members 23,140,091 5,785,053 25% (17,355,038) 
Prov Rev Share and Per Capita 1,307,232 1,282,481 98% (24,751) 
General Revenue 80,000 32,771 41% (47,229) 
Library Generated Revenue 387,000 91,316 24% (295,684) 

24,914,323 7,191,620 29% (17,722,703)            

Draws on Reserves 4,975,624 754,382 15% (4,221,242) 
Borrowed Funds 8,250,000 - 0% (8,250,000) 

38,139,947 7,946,002 21% (30,193,945)            

EXPENDITURES
Operating Expenses 24,941,293 6,992,888 28% 17,948,405 
Projects and Reserve Spending 13,198,655 787,057 6% 12,411,598 

38,139,947 7,785,467 20% 30,354,480 

NET POSITION (0) 160,535 160,535 

VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE

For The 3 Months Ending March 31, 2019
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Statement 3

ANNUAL ACTUAL YTD = 
BUDGET YTD 25% VARIANCE

Wages & Benefits 14,104,152 3,718,894 26% 10,385,258
Office, Photocopier & Supplies 234,218 29,026 12% 205,192
Postage, Mail & Courier 107,724 16,132 15% 91,592
Utilities and Telecommunications 122,062 23,221 19% 98,841
Computer Costs 532,829 391,064 73% 141,765
Building and Equipment Maint. 142,024 56,248 40% 85,776
Travel and Vehicle Operation 323,733 83,241 26% 240,492
Training and Workshops 73,143 20,188 28% 52,955
Consulting and Professional Fees 179,850 73,579 41% 106,271
Insurance 125,000 115,212 92% 9,788
Promotion and Advertising 98,219 19,634 20% 78,585
Branch Discretionary Material 132,463 23,089 17% 109,374
Appropriations 3,221,706 833,065 26% 2,388,641
Branch Costs 2,755,038 667,625 24% 2,087,414
Library Materials 2,717,115 897,770 33% 1,819,345
Bank and Service Charges 69,468 21,220 31% 48,249
Fundraising - 3,680 0% (3,680)
Grant expenses 2,550 0 0% 2,550
Operating Expenditures 24,941,295 6,992,888           28% 17,948,407

Projects and Reserve Spending 13,198,655 787,057 6% 12,411,598 

Total Expenditures 38,139,949 7,779,945 20% 30,360,005 

Unaudited

EXPENDITURES BY NATURE OF EXPENSE

For The 3 Months Ending March 31, 2019

VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY
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Statement 4

ANNUAL ACTUAL YTD = 25%
BUDGET YTD VARIANCE

Executive Director's Office 530,245 43,076 8% 487,169
Board Expenses 100,855 30,796 31% 70,059
Systems & Networks 914,380 506,784 55% 407,597
Communication Stategic Initiative 510,043 140,022 27% 370,021
Technical Services 693,832 166,411 24% 527,422
Finance Accounting 805,323 294,803 37% 510,520
Purchasing 243,378 59,392 24% 183,987
Branch Costs 2,892,492 859,077 30% 2,033,415
Shipping & Receiving 318,307 79,589 25% 238,719
Employee Benefits 3,185,451 817,374 26% 2,368,077
Human Resources 495,348 118,578 24% 376,769
Materials 2,627,789 920,217 35% 1,707,573
Inter-Library Loans 3,734 813 22% 2,920
Library Branch Services 8,525,556 2,119,210 25% 6,406,346
Appropriations 3,092,112 833,065 27% 2,259,047
Fundraising 0 3,680 0% (3,680)
Grant Expenses 2,447 0 0% 2,447
Operating Expenditures 24,941,295 6,992,888 28% 17,948,407

Projects and Reserve Spending 13,198,655 787,057 6% 12,411,598

Total Expenditures 38,139,949 7,779,945 20% 30,360,005

VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY

Unaudited

EXPENDITURES BY DEPARTMENT

For The 3 Months Ending March 31, 2019
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March 2019 Reserves Report 

Recommendation 
The Director of Finance, in consultation with the Executive Director, recommends: 

That the March 2019 Reserves Report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Background 
The Board is provided with updated Reserves information each meeting. The report shows all 
activity in the reserves for the year to the date of preparation. Interest earned is credited to 
each reserve as it is received. Appropriations to reserves are recognized on a monthly basis. 
Transfers from reserves are recorded when projects are substantially complete. 

Economic Impact 
The economic impact of this is in the ability of Vancouver Island Regional Library to meet its 
long term planning objectives. 

Communication Plan 
None required. 

Related to the Strategic Plan 
This report relates to our strategic priority on communication with stakeholders in general, and 
to the other priorities where financing to accomplish plans will affect our ability to deliver quality 
services, facilities and operations. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Reserve Balances as at March 31, 2019 

Outfitting New/Expanded Facilities 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 3,525,742 
Contributions into reserve 1,762,059 440,515 
Interest earned 12,801 
Drawdown for expenditures (3,475,624) (580,982) 
March Balance 3,398,076 

This reserve is used to fund projects for new and upgraded branches as part of the Consolidated 
Facilities Master Plan, including construction costs, shelving, furnishings, equipment, and 
repayment of MFA borrowings. 

Long Term Maintenance 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 2,592,224 
Contributions into reserve 734,637 183,662 
Interest earned 8,117 
Drawdown for expenditures (750,000) (55,400) 
March Balance 2,728,602 

This reserve, first established in 2005, is funded by the levies under the CFMP. It is dedicated 
to expenditures related to facilities maintenance, as well as smaller renovations at branches.  

Furnishings and Equipment 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 253,749 
Contributions into reserve 300,000 75,000 
Interest earned 994 
Drawdown for expenditures (300,000) (105,000) 
March Balance 224,742 

This reserve is for the replacement of furnishings and equipment. 

Vehicle Replacement 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 77,711 
Contributions into reserve 30,000 7,500 
Interest earned 246 
Drawdown for expenditures - 
March Balance 85,457 

This reserve is for replacement of VIRL’s vehicles. It allows for replacement of vans and trucks 
as required. Practice is to replace at 10 years or 300,000 kilometers, whichever occurs first.  
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Materials 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 10,340 
March Balance 10,340 

This reserve is funded by under spending in the materials budget. As reported to the Board in 
September of 2012 the reserve is now dedicated to opening day collections for new branches 
until it is exhausted.  

Systems and Network Replacement 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 46,963 
Contributions into reserve 450,000 87,500 
Interest earned 526 
Drawdown for expenditures (450,000) (13,000) 
March Balance 121,988 

This reserve is for the replacement of personal computers, workstations, circulation, and other 
electronic based equipment.  

Integrated Library System Replacement 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 73,357 
Contributions into reserve 50,000 12,500 
Interest earned 238 
Drawdown for expenditures - 
March Balance 86,095 
This reserve is for the replacement of the Integrated Library System, the basic platform upon 
which the Library Lending System operates from.  

Human Resources 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 69,319 
Interest earned 211 
March Balance 69,530 

This reserve was established with approval of the Board in 2005 for the purpose of settling 
Human Resource issues.  

Compensated Absences 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 282,652 
Interest earned 861 
March Balance 283,513 
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This reserve was established under public section accounting standards to cover costs associated 
with the use of accrued employee sick leave in the event of a widespread or catastrophic illness 
that affects VIRL staff. This reserve will only be withdrawn in the event that a significant amount 
of accrued sick leave is used in a short amount of time. It is not used to cover normal use of 
accrued sick leave. At the end of 2018, $425,658 was recorded as a liability in the financial 
statements, representing accrued sick leave earned by employees as at that date.  

Salaries 
2019 Budget Actual To March 31 

Previous Year Balance 600,000 
Interest earned 
March Balance 600,000 

This reserve was set up at the end of fiscal 2018, to capture underspending in salaries due to 
organizational changes and gaps in filling budgeted positions. The funds will be used to fund 
salary costs in future years, including the cost of additional staffing required as part of expanding 
branch sizes. 

TOTAL - Reserves as at March 31, 2019:  $7,608,367 
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Facility Projects Update 

Recommendation 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the Facility Projects Update report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Facilities projects in progress are reported below: 

Campbell River 
No additional discussions have taken place between Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) 
and municipal staff since the September 2018 Board meeting. VIRL is waiting on information 
regarding potential sites for a new branch. 

Background: 
In July 2017, VIRL staff met with staff from Campbell River to discuss a potential new library 
site at the Tyee Plaza. A developer is working with Campbell River to develop a portion of the 
plaza to include additional residential and commercial areas, and is interested in working with 
VIRL to develop a new library site between 10,000 – 18,000 square feet. VIRL had a good 
discussion with municipal staff, and discussed specific items around VIRL’s procurement and 
financing models. In November 2017, VIRL staff was invited to the Committee of the Whole 
meeting to continue discussions on a potential new branch.

Chemainus 

• Construction activities began the week of
March 4, with construction estimated to
finish in late 2019.

• VIRL continues to work with its consultants
to ensure successful delivery of this
project.

Background: 
After the VIRL Board made its preferences known in March of 2012, North Cowichan amended 
their plans and advised they may be providing another site (the old fire hall site). On 
February 22, 2016 VIRL received confirmation from the Municipality of North Cowichan that 
council supports the transfer of a lot at 9796 Willow St. (old fire hall site) to VIRL for a stand-
alone library under a restrictive covenant permitting library use only. The proposed lot would 
be large enough to accommodate a 5,000 sq. ft. branch with minimal parking. 
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In January 2017, the Alternate Approval Process for a borrowing in support of construction of 
the Chemainus library passed, with only 4 oppositions registered. 

Courtenay 
The 2019 Budget includes a refresh of the Courtenay branch as part of the capital plan. VIRL 
has engaged an architect (Urban Arts) to assist with planning this project. VIRL staff have 
been on site with the architect to review the site and to assist with planning.  

Ladysmith 
On July 31, 2017, VIRL staff met with Ladysmith’s Mayor and City Manager. No additional 
updates at this time. 

Background: 
Ladysmith is looking to initiate a mixed-use project on property owned by the town, which 
could include space for a new library. Discussions with Ladysmith staff indicate the next 
update will be in 2018 which is still pending. 

Port Alberni 
VIRL has engaged HCMA Architecture + Design to carry out the space planning and refresh 
of the branch. VIRL staff and the architect have been on site to review the space and to 
further the planning activities. 

Background: 
A donation from a member of the Port Alberni community has kick-started a refurbishment 
effort. The refurbishment will address layout and outstanding maintenance issues. 

Sooke / Juan de Fuca (Capital Regional District) 
• Schematic design has been finalized.

VIRL is working closely with the
architect to ensure the design meets
the needs of the community now and
for the future.

• The development permit has been
submitted and VIRL is working
towards submitting the building
permit.

• VIRL has continued discussions with the architect and other consultants regarding the
orientation of the building, parking, access, and other items. VIRL staff is working
with the District of Sooke on issues around the lease agreement for the land,
permitting, and other items.

• Survey, environmental and geotechnical work is complete. VIRL anticipates
construction starting in mid-2019, with the branch opening approximately 1 year after
construction commences.

Background: 
The District of Sooke has purchased some land within the Town Centre with the intent that a 
portion be used to construct the new branch. At the March 18, 2017 Board meeting, 
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it was determined that the branch will be located at the Waddams Road property. The lease 
of the current location has been extended to June 30, 2020 to allow ample time for design, 
public consultation and construction. 

Sidney 
• Construction began in October, and will be completed shortly. The branch will reopen

to the public on May 21.
• The renovation package was tendered and awarded to CCM, a contractor based in

Sidney.
• VIRL is operating a temporary library from a Sidney retail space while the branch is

closed.

   Background:  
VIRL received confirmation from Sidney that it wished to proceed with the renewal of a 
10-year lease, which will allow VIRL to undertake a renovation at this branch. VIRL and Sidney
have finalized the lease terms, and the planning for the renovation is underway. The first step
is to perform a building envelope assessment, which will evaluate the key components of the
existing branch and help to determine where renovation work is required.

North Saanich 
• VIRL met with the North Saanich CAO on May 8.
• The proposed site at the Panorama Centre is part of the Agricultural Land Reserve.

North Saanich was recently informed that their application to have the proposed
library site at the Panorama Centre be used for non-farming activity was denied.

• North Saanich will continue to work on obtaining approval. VIRL awaits further
direction from North Saanich.

Background: 
In November 2016, VIRL received a letter from North Saanich in support of transferring land 
to VIRL for the purpose of constructing a new branch at the Panorama Centre. 

Tofino 
• VIRL has attended various meetings related to the concept of a shared building

between VIRL and the Clayoquot Biosphere Trust, which would be built on a site
currently owned by Tofino. Discussions are still at the very early stages for this
potential project and to date VIRL has not committed to a plan.

Background 
In January 2013, VIRL received a letter with copy of resolution “That Council direct staff to 
advise Vancouver Island Regional Library that the District is soon to be undertaking a 
Civic Centre feasibility study, and that the District is hoping to include a library as a 
consideration in that plan.”  
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VIRL Prototype Branches 

Sayward 
• The revised tender for the construction package for the prototype branch closed on

April 1.
• VIRL received 6 bids, with one of the bids meeting VIRL’s required budget. The

contractor is a local firm based in Campbell River.
• VIRL anticipates the new branch opening in the fall of 2019. VIRL will work with the

contractor to ensure a successful delivery of the project, including identifying
opportunities for a potential reduction in the construction schedule.

Background: 
On May 31, 2017, the Sayward branch was closed due to air quality concerns.   Attempts to 
remedy these issues were undertaken, but a series of tests completed in June and July showed 
that air quality remained at a level that would not allow VIRL to reopen the branch in its 
current location.  

The condition of the leased space is such that a large capital investment would be required by 
both VIRL and the landlord to ensure the space is compliant with requirements under BC 
building code and WorkSafeBC.  VIRL is currently in a month-to-month and so does not feel 
that this investment is fiscally responsible.   As was previously  communicated to the  Board, 
WorkSafeBC changed its regulations on May 1, 2017.  These changes put additional 
responsibility on VIRL as an employer.  

Sayward Council offered VIRL a choice of three sites located on property owned by Sayward 
on which to house a permanent branch. On August 15, 2017, VIRL attended a meeting of 
Sayward Council where staff presented a report which recommended one of the sites. 

Sayward Council approved the lease of a parcel of land to VIRL, on which VIRL will construct 
a new, prototype library branch. VIRL will let an RFP for the prototype construction of this 
site.  

The Village of Sayward also offered their Council chambers to house a temporary library while 
a permanent solution is developed. VIRL opened a temporary location in the Council Chambers 
on September 26, 2017. This location includes all of the services offered at the closed branch, 
including Wi-Fi, public computers, and furniture for a community gathering space. 
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Masset 

• Based on the success of the Sayward tender, VIRL will move forward with developing
plans for the Masset branch.

• VIRL’s consultants are preparing the documents for tender.
• Preliminary information has been received, including a site survey, geotechnical and

environmental assessment.

Background: 
In April 2016, the Village of Masset advised VIRL that the transfer of a parcel of land had 
been identified and approved for the purpose of building a new library. VIRL staff visited 
Haida Gwaii in late May 2017 to review the site and discuss the project with local 
representatives. 

A public consultation was held August 21, 2017 in Masset. The session was well attended by 
the public and allowed VIRL to answer questions about the library and the planning process. 

Sandspit 
• VIRL is working with School District 50 to finalize a lease for land on which to house a

new prototype branch. Survey, geotechnical and environmental work has been
completed for the site, which will help VIRL to continue its planning and site
orientation.

• At the most recent discussion with School District 50, the District clarified that it is
expecting to have a similar model to VIRL’s Port Clements branch, where on certain
days/times the school is given exclusive use of the branch outside of operating hours,
and a separate collection is housed in the branch for exclusive use by the school.

• VIRL has concerns with the effectiveness of this model. Aside from operational issues,
using up space in the branch to house the school’s collection has a large impact on the
design and floorplan.

• The parties agreed to postpone discussions until this issue can be resolved.

Tahsis 
• In January 2018, Tahsis Council approved a site for a prototype branch. The site is an

approximately 27,000 square foot parcel of land owned by Tahsis and is situated next
to the community centre.

• VIRL completed pre-planning on this site, including a survey, geotechnical and
environmental assessment.

• As part of the geotechnical assessment, VIRL’s consultant identified that the site is
not suitable for construction without incurring significant site preparation
expenditures.

• VIRL continues discussions around alternate sites or other options for service delivery.

Background: 
Structural improvements to the Municipal Hall for the branch to stay at its current location 
were not found to be economically feasible for the Village.  
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Woss 
• The Village of Woss has identified the site where the new branch will be located. VIRL

staff have commenced with the necessary planning work in preparation of a prototype
branch.

• Based on the results of the Sayward tender, VIRL’s consultants are working to produce
a bid package for the Woss branch. VIRL anticipates that the tender will be posted
shortly.

Background: 
At the May 26, 2018 Board meeting, the Board reviewed a report prepared by VIRL staff 
related to the service options in Woss. At that meeting the Board determined that a 
prefabricated branch would best serve the community.  

Queen Charlotte 
• VIRL had discussions with School District 50 and local officials regarding potential sites

for a new library. No additional information to report at this time.

Economic Impact 
In 2010 the Board approved additional levies for the funding of facilities and correction of 
deferred maintenance issues, and affirmed this again in September 2017 with adoption of the 
2018 budget. 

Related to the Strategic Plan 
Principle 3 – Places & Spaces: Vancouver Island Regional Library branches will be welcoming 
places and community hubs for the informational, inspirational, cultural, and recreational needs 
and interests of our diverse customers and communities. One of the ways we plan to reach this 
goal is by creating larger, fully accessible and welcoming branches. 

It is also related to our Values – Stewardship & Accountability – in which VIRL has been 
entrusted with public resources, and we optimize these resources through responsible and 
effective management and fiscal integrity. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 
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2019-2023 Capital Plan and 
 Architectural Design Process 

Recommendation 
The Director of Finance, in consultation with the Executive Director, recommends: 

That the 2019-2023 Capital Plan item 7(a) and the Architectural Design Process item 
7(b) be received by the Board of Trustees. 

2019-2023 Capital Plan 
As part of its annual budget, Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) prepares a 5-year 
capital plan that covers the planned projects, and assigns them an expected value and year. 
This report ensures we are complying with our commitments under the Consolidated Facilities 
Master Plan (CFMP), and allows VIRL to forecast its capital expenditures and the related impact 
on reserve balances.  

The capital plan is generally prepared 12 to 18 months before a project will actually commence, 
since the budget is prepared early in the year prior to the budget year. Since scope, costing, 
the viability of a project based on planning work can change significantly in that time period, 
VIRL staff felt it would be helpful to prepare an update to the 2019 – 2023 capital plan. The 
goal is to have this update become part of the regular business conducted each year, to allow 
for updates to planned projects on an ongoing basis. 

Analysis 
The capital plan was updated to reflect: 

• Changes in the construction market that have negatively impacted costs, as has been
previously communicated to the Board;

• Changes to scope, as planning activities have been completed which inform project
planning;

• Updated costing for the prototype branch, based on the recently completed Sayward
bid package; and

• Other changes to projects based on capacity of VIRL staff, our consultants, our
members, and the construction market.

In line with industry best practices, VIRL’s capital projects are divided into multiple phases, 
from pre-planning work to construction completion and project close-out. Each phase may 
take weeks or months to complete, as more information becomes available. There are 
numerous activities by both VIRL staff and the various third parties involved that feed into 
these phases.  
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VIRL has also reviewed the timeline of its projects for accuracy. The updated capital plan aims 
to be as accurate as possible, while recognizing there is an environment of some uncertainty. 

While staff seek to complete all projects in a timely manner, there are factors outside of VIRL’s 
control, such as the availability of consultant services, that impact how projects progress 
through these phases. VIRL seeks to minimize the impact of these factors through solid project 
planning, continuous project monitoring, and engagement of high quality professional services. 

Impact 
The changes proposed do not impact the member levy in the current or future years. Projects 
have been adjusted within the projected contributions as previously approved in the 2019 – 
2023 financial plan.  

The updated projects ensure there are adequate balances in both the reserves used to fund 
facilities projects. 

New & Expanded Branch Reserve 
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Contributions 1,762,059 1,924,916 2,075,609 2,231,560 2,392,919 
Withdrawals 3,475,624 3,381,874 2,284,374 1,969,374 2,101,874 
Reserve Balance, End of Year 1,812,177 355,219 146,454 408,641 699,686 

Long Term Maintenance Reserve 
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Contributions 634,647 814,933 985,487 1,110,248 1,239,336 
Withdrawals 2,600,000 1,050,000 930,000 100,000 100,000 
Reserve Balance, End of Year 629,871 394,804 450,291 1,460,540 2,599,875 

Conclusion 
The updated capital plan more accurately reflects VIRL’s planned projects, and will allow us to 
continue to meet the requirements of our members and the CFMP. Projects planned for 2020 
– 2024 are estimates used for planning and budgeting purposes. The capital plan continues to
be a “living document”, and as such will be revised as more information becomes available.

Architectural Design Process 
Background 
Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) service locations are key gathering places within our 
communities. In 2010 the Board commissioned a report that reviewed and set 
out a strategy to address the outstanding building code and maintenance deficiencies. 
The Consolidated Facilities Master Plan & Companion Report set the course.  Staff accomplish 
this by: 
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• Adhering to our Facilities Master Plan to address the ongoing facility & maintenance 
improvements required in all of our branches; 

• Engaging with customers to ensure new and renovated facilities reflect the needs of 
each of our distinct communities; 

• Creating library spaces that are flexible and adaptable to address current & future 
demands; 

• Ensuring our branches are outfitted with the most up-to-date and robust technology 
hardware & software; and 

• Promoting digital literacy by identifying and diminishing barriers to access tools &
information within our digital world. 

Capital Projects at a Glance 
Capital projects regardless if they are refurbishments or new builds are 
complex endeavours that involve thorough planning and analysis long 
before the first shovel of dirt is moved.  A successful capital project is 
driven by the Board, community input and cross-divisional staff teams with 
parameters that shift and evolve for every project.  

The process of designing a new building or a refurbishment typically 
consists of a series of design phases.  Not one of these steps can be 
overlooked or short changed.  Doing so impacts the outcome.  It takes 
time.  Key to the success of any library construction project or 
refurbishment is a detailed building program which is the written 
representation of what is wanted and needed.  Each area of the library 
must be detailed and described in the building program so the architect 
can execute the appropriate vision with the budgets and timelines 
established by library staff. 

The library building program is but one — albeit vital — step in the Capital Project 
process.  What follows in this document is a step by step overview from the concept to the 
completion that will help all understand the processes and complexities to build a 21st century 
library.  It should be noted that information and decision made in one of the phases/stages 
forms the basis of the subsequent stages.  Design is seldom a linear process.  The process 
typically moves back and forth between the phase, allowing ideas from more detailed designs 
to influence and modify the overall design direction previously established.  Furthermore, in 
practice these phases often blend into one another.  There are typically 5 phases that an 
architect practices to complete a project but they vary on the scope to the project. 

Predesign & Planning / (5 months) 
The launch of the predesign and planning lays the foundation to carry the project to fruition. 
Key outcomes of step 1 include the creation of a cross-functional staff team to guide the 
project, the completion of the Building Program and the development of the construction of 
an RFP for the construction contractor.  

92



Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (a) & (b)  

Schematic Design / (3 months) 
In this phase the architect establishes the requirements and goals of the project.  The architect 
usually starts with a rough study drawing that captures all of the concepts of the building 
program. This most often includes spatial or adjacency relations as well. The vision outlines in 
the building program start to take shape through drawings.    

Below is a breakdown of the steps that will lead to a successful preliminary design: 

• Design team provides a preliminary evaluation of the program
• Schedule and construction budget are developed
• Community consultation

Design Development / (5 months) 
Design development collects the results from the schematic design phase and the 
consultation.  The design team develops a physical format. 

Below is a breakdown of the steps that will lead to a successful design: 

• Demonstrate that the building can be built
• Evaluate systems
• Select building material
• Coordinate and strategize on known and projected issues
• Develop material and colour boards
• Community consultation
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Construction Drawings / (5 months) 
The construction drawings are prepared by the design team and review the parameters for 
the local building permit applications.

Below are the drawings that must be completed for inclusion in the RFP: 

• Working plan
• Section drawings
• Elevations
• Excavation
• Civil
• Structural
• Electrical
• Landscape

Letting the Tender/Shovels in the Ground / 14- 16 months 
A RFP is prepared calling for qualified contractors to undertake the project.  The construction 
drawings form part of the tender documentation. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Schedule D

Large/Urban Branches

Branch 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2024 and 

Beyond Funding Source

Sidney 2,000,000 Facilities Reserve Renovation/Furnishing
Port Alberni 1,000,000 Long Term Maint. Reserve Renovation/Furnishing
Courtenay 1,500,000 Facilities Reserve Renovation/Furnishing
South Cowichan 70,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Comox 100,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Qualicum Beach 135,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Nanaimo Harbourfront 100,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Nanaimo Wellington 75,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Nanaimo North 100,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cowichan 1,500,000 Facilities Reserve Renovation/Furnishing
Total Renovations 3,000,000 1,570,000 235,000 175,000 100,000 1,500,000

Sooke 7,500,000 Debt & Levies New & Expanded Branch 
Campbell River 5,000,000 Debt/Fac. Reserve New & Expanded Branch 
Ladysmith 2,300,000 Debt/Fac. Reserve New & Expanded Branch 
North Saanich 3,000,000 Debt/Fac. Reserve New & Expanded Branch 
Total New/ Expanded - 7,500,000     5,000,000    5,300,000  - - 

Total Large/Urban 3,000,000 9,070,000 5,235,000 5,475,000 100,000 1,500,000

Facility projects for 2019 represent the capital funding required, and form part of the proposed 2019 budget. Projects for 2020 to 2023 are estimates for planning 
and budgeting purposes, and will be finalized as preliminary project activities are completed. The year assigned to a project represents the year it is expected to 
be completed.

New or Expanded Branches

Summary of Planned Facilities Projects 

Changes to budget amounts will be communicated to the Board.

Project Description           
& Nature

Updated Capital Plan
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Facility projects for 2019 represent the capital funding required, and form part of the proposed 2019 budget. Projects for 2020 to 2023 are estimates for planning 
and budgeting purposes, and will be finalized as preliminary project activities are completed. The year assigned to a project represents the year it is expected to 
be completed.

Summary of Planned Facilities Projects 

Changes to budget amounts will be communicated to the Board.

Branch 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Funding Source

Port McNeill 30,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Sayward 750,000 Long Term Maint. Reserve New & Expanded Branch 
Woss 600,000 Long Term Maint. Reserve New & Expanded Branch 
Tahsis 600,000 Facilities Reserve New & Expanded Branch 
Gold River 31,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Port Alice 18,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Sointula 200,000 Long Term Maint. Reserve Renovation/Furnishing
Bowser 27,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Port Clements 20,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Ucluelet 26,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Quadra Island 65,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Gabriola Island 63,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Bella Coola 35,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cumberland 62,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cortes Island 28,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Port Renfrew 14,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cowichan Lake 68,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing

New or Expanded Branches
Chemainus 2,700,000 Debt & Levies New & Expanded Branch
Masset 900,000 Debt/Fac. Reserve New & Expanded Branch
Sandspit 600,000 Debt/Fac. Reserve New & Expanded Branch
Tofino 1,100,000 Debt/Fac. Reserve New & Expanded Branch 

Total Small/Rural 5,550,000 49,000 1,977,000 189,000 172,000 0

Small/Rural Branches
2024 and 

Beyond
Project Description        

& Nature

Updated Capital Plan
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Large/Urban Branches

Branch 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2024 and 

Beyond
Funding 
Source

Sidney 2,000,000 Facilities Levy Renovation/Furnishing
Port Alberni 300,000 FFE Levy Renovation/Furnishing
Courtenay 1,500,000 Facilities Levy Renovation/Furnishing
South Cowichan 70,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Comox 100,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Qualicum Beach 135,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Nanaimo Harbourfront 100,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Nanaimo Wellington 75,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Nanaimo North 100,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cowichan 1,500,000 Facilities Levy Renovation/Furnishing
Total Renovations 2,300,000 1,570,000 235,000 175,000 100,000 1,500,000

Sooke 7,500,000 Debt & Levies New & Expanded Branch 
Campbell River 5,000,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch 
Ladysmith 1,800,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch 
North Saanich 3,000,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch 
Total New/ Expanded - 12,500,000 4,800,000  - - - 

Total Large/Urban 2,300,000 14,070,000 5,035,000 175,000 100,000 1,500,000

Summary of Planned Facilities Projects 

Changes to budget amounts will be communicated to the Board.

Project Description           
& Nature

Facility projects for 2019 represent the capital funding required, and form part of the proposed 2019 budget. Projects for 2020 to 2023 are estimates 
for planning and budgeting purposes, and will be finalized as preliminary project activities are completed. The year assigned to a project represents 
the year it is expected to be completed.

New or Expanded Branches

48 Adopted by Vancouver Island Regional Library Board of Trustees, September 22, 2018

Approved 2019 - 2023 Financial PlanApproved 2019 - 2023 Financial Plan
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Summary of Planned Facilities Projects 

Changes to budget amounts will be communicated to the Board.

Facility projects for 2019 represent the capital funding required, and form part of the proposed 2019 budget. Projects for 2020 to 2023 are estimates 
for planning and budgeting purposes, and will be finalized as preliminary project activities are completed. The year assigned to a project represents 
the year it is expected to be completed.

Branch 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Funding 
Source

Port McNeill 200,000 FFE Levy Renovation/Furnishing
Gold River 31,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Port Alice 18,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Sointula 200,000 FFE Levy Renovation/Furnishing
Bowser 27,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Port Clements 20,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Ucluelet 26,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Quadra Island 65,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Gabriola Island 63,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Bella Coola 35,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cumberland 62,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cortes Island 28,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Port Renfrew 14,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing
Cowichan Lake 68,000 F&E Reserve Furnishing

New or Expanded Branches
Chemainus 2,700,000 Debt & Levies New & Expanded Branch
Masset 600,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch
Queen Charlotte 450,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch
Sandspit 450,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch
Tofino 1,100,000 Debt/Fac. Levy New & Expanded Branch 

Total Small/Rural 4,200,000 0 1,100,000 0 0 0

Small/Rural Branches

2024 and 
Beyond

Project Description        
& Nature

Approved 2019 - 2023 Financial Plan
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2020 Budget Assumptions 

Recommendation 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the 2020 Budget Assumptions report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Preliminary Assumptions 

Core Expenditures 

For budgeting purposes, core expenditures represent the cost of maintaining the existing level 
of service to the public, and include branch costs, wages and benefits, library materials, and 
administration costs. For the 2019 Budget, the increase was 3% due to new employer payroll 
taxes and other items. Historically, staff have attempted to keep the rate increase to 2%, which 
is in line with expectations around inflation and other cost pressures. VIRL staff have worked 
within this increase by prioritizing expenditures and making informed decisions.  

In preparation for the 2020 budget, preliminary work indicates that existing service levels can 
be maintained within an increase of 2.75% to the core levy, taking into account the following 
significant potential cost factors: 

• Wages increases of 2% within each collective agreement, and increases for exempt staff
within the exempt pay grid approved by the Board in 2017.

• Increased pressures within the BC construction market, which impact capital projects as
well as branch expenses, repairs and maintenance, and other related costs.

• Increase of 3% in library materials, in line with the commitment made to the Board each
year.

• Increases to facilities-related expenditures to address increased costs in the construction
market.

• Insurance remains at 2019 levels, given our projected insurance premium rates as
discussed with our insurance broker.

• Remaining total operating expenditures maintained at a 2% increase.

Maintaining the operating levy increase at 2%, operating expenditures will need to increase by 
significantly less than 2% or potentially decrease to account for the increases noted above. 
Increases within operating expenditures of less than 2% are difficult to maintain, as inflation 
drives costs upwards. Effectively, an increase of less than 2% means a reduction in the amount 
of goods or service that can be purchased within that budgeted line item. 
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Overall Inflation Indicators 
2018 saw strong inflation in BC, with a 3.0% increase in BC compared to 2.0% across Canada. 
The construction sector, which impacts VIRL’s costs related to new projects, repairs 
and maintenance, and other facilities items, continued its trend upwards.  

As has been previously communicated to the Board, VIRL continues to face the challenge of 
these rapidly inflating construction costs. Current economic forecasts for BC show that costs 
may moderate slightly as some current large projects approach completion, but as new large 
projects commence over the next few years there will be additional pressure on the industry. 

 Potential Levy Impact Proposed Core Levy Increase from 2019 

Core Operations: 2.75% $20,517,516 $549,131 

Consolidated Facilities Master Plan Levies 
In addition, two levies are raised annually to provide sufficient funding for the maintenance and 
improvement of library facilities in support of the Consolidated Facilities Master Plan. These 
levies are used to fund: 

• Maintenance, Furniture, Equipment and Information Systems Replacement
• Facilities Infrastructure Improvements and Expansions

2020 Represents Year 10 of a 15-year plan to raise funds for facilities improvements that provide 
additional capacity to underserviced areas and maintain healthy reserve balances. 

Maintenance, Furniture, Equipment and Information Systems Levy 
In its initial year (2011), this levy represented 1% of the previous year’s core levy with the intent 
to increase steadily over a 10-year period until sufficient funds were raised to meet VIRL’s long 
term needs. 3/8th of this funding is used for the replacement of furniture, equipment and 
information systems technology. The remaining 5/8th is used for Facilities Maintenance. 

As presented in the 2019 budget assumptions, and as incorporated in the adopted 2019 financial 
plan, the yearly increases were reduced starting in 2017 and the timeline has been extended to 
2025. This decreases the yearly impact to members, while still ending at the 10% level 
established in 2011. For 2020, the levy will be $1,553,097, an increase $143,449 or 0.62% over 
2019. 

The Maintenance, Furniture, Equipment and Information Systems Levy schedule progresses as 
follows: 

Expected 
Levy 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

% of 
Previous 
Levy 

1.0 2.0 3.0 4.0 5.0 6.0 6.4 6.9 7.3 7.8 8.2 8.7 9.1 9.6 10.0 
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Facilit ies Levy 
The Facilities Levy follows the same 15-year plan. Funds from this levy are used for capital 
improvements, as well as costs related to building and operating new or expanded branches.  

As presented in the 2019 budget assumptions, and as incorporated in the adopted 2019 financial 
plan, the yearly increases were reduced starting in 2017 and the timeline has been extended to 
2025. This decreases the yearly impact to members, while still ending at the 12.50% level 
established in 2011. For 2020, the levy will be $1,941,371, an increase of $179,312 or 0.77% 
over 2018. 

The Facilities Levy progresses as follows: 

Expected 
Levy 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

% of 
Previous 
Levy 

1.25 2.50 3.75 5.00 6.25 7.50 8.06 8.61 9.17 9.72 10.28 10.83 11.39 11.94 12.50 

Potential Impact on Levy 

The overall impact of maintaining current levels of service, combined with the next stage of the 
facilities and maintenance levies, will potentially increase the total Levy by $821,970 in 2020 to 
$23,962,062. This represents an increase of 3.55% over the 2019 total levy. On a per capita 
basis, this increase represents an addition of $1.89. 

Note:  The first draft of the budget is still being prepared by staff for presentation to the 
Executive Committee in July. The Budget Assumptions document is a high-level summary 
that requires further review and is presented for information only and to garner feedback. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Social Procurement 

Recommendation 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the Social Procurement Report be received by the Board of Trustees. 

Background 

Library service in the province of British Columbia is a mandated service governed by the 
Library Act (the Act).  Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) does not fall under the 
umbrella of a municipality or regional district, as is the case with municipal library systems. In 
its governance role, the Board is responsible for oversight and decision making related to 
VIRL’s strategic direction, financial planning, and bylaws — core policies that support VIRL’s 
Mission, Vision and Values, in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.  

Social procurement practices are gaining momentum and becoming a new standard among 
federal, provincial, and municipal governments. This approach is a response to existing social 
pressures facing urban and rural communities; and it is also becoming a required element in 
federally funded programs.  

This report was prepared in response to increased interest shown by the Board of Trustees on 
the topic of Social Procurement. 

Current Situation 

The idea of smarter planning and growth came about in the 1970s with the New Urbanism 
movement. The Smart Growth theory began to take hold in the late 1990s and early 2000s 
with the focus on planned economic and community development that attempts to curb urban 
sprawl and worsening environmental conditions. The aim of Smart Growth is on leveraging the 
three E’s: economy, environment, and equity policies. Within municipalities, Smart Growth 
concepts are implemented within Official Community Plans which in turn, work well with social 
procurement. 

Social Procurement is the achievement of a social value component within public investments 
in major development and infrastructure projects. It is used as a tool by governments through 
the alignment of public policy objectives to build healthy communities (Yalnizyan, 2017). 
It is an “opportunity to guide public spending to not just purchase economic value, but also 
add social and environmental value in neighbourhoods” (Yalnizyan, 2017). 
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The main strategy used to grapple with shaping development and land use patterns, while 
achieving a social value outcome from a large development project, is the use of a Community 
Benefits Agreement (CBA). A CBA is used by many governments including municipalities.  

It is a “legally enforceable contract, signed by community groups/government and by a 
developer, setting forth a range of community benefits that the developer agrees to provide 
as part of a development project” (Gross, LeRoy, Janis-Aparicio, 2005). A CBA enforces the 
developer’s promises and is incorporated in the jurisdiction’s development agreement. 

The CBA is both a process to work towards these mutually beneficial objectives, and a 
mechanism to enforce both sides’ promises (Gross, LeRoy, Janis-Aparicio). A CBA may include 
the following types of social improvements: 

• Local job creation
• A reduction in poverty: preferential consideration to living wage suppliers
• Increased low-cost and barrier-free housing
• Targeting socio-economic groups for employment opportunities
• Reducing social isolation and exclusion
• Use of environmental and sustainable practices: achieving greater energy efficiency,

improved traffic flows, reducing carbon emissions, etc.
• Creation of community benefits such as parkland or recreational facilities

Social Impact Purchasing has the objective of utilizing suppliers and vendors that uphold and 
achieve environmental and ethical values and goals within their organization. Social purchasing 
“is emerging as a means for government, private sector, institutions and non-profits to 
leverage their existing purchasing into an added value outcome” (LePage, 2017). 

Social impact purchasing continues to provide for best values while incorporating, wherever 
possible, sustainable and ethical procurement within its supply selection (LePage, 2017). It 
“does not negate the need for competitive pricing, but adds social values” (LePage, 2017); 
examples include: zero waste operations; use of recycled materials; advancing diversity and 
inclusion within hiring practices; and economic, environmental and social sustainability 
practices. 

Economic Impact 

Both strategies of utilizing CBA’s and social impact purchasing continue to fit within existing 
Trade agreements (e.g. open access to all bidders).  

All VIRL procurement activities for goods and services adhere to the competitive process as 
defined by the VIRL Procurement Policy.  

Social Procurement in BC 

The Province of British Columbia implemented Social Impact Procurement Guidelines in June 
2018 for Purchasers within all provincial ministries.  
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The intent is to use social impact purchasing to “reward vendors for actions that add social 
value, and encourage vendors to look for new ways to increase their social value to improve 
their ability to compete for future procurement opportunities that may include social impact 
criteria” (British Columbia Government, 2018). 
Three examples of municipal social procurement in action on Vancouver Island: 

• The Town of Qualicum Beach collaborated with the Qualicum Beach Streamkeepers
organization to create a beach front viewing pavilion that provides information on the
coastal eco-system and Qualicum First Nation’s history. Qualicum Beach adopted a
Social Procurement policy on June 13, 2016.

• The Village of Cumberland used social procurement practices within its “Main Street”
project. Cumberland then adopted a Social Procurement Framework in August 2015.

• The City of Victoria used a Community Benefits Agreement incorporating local and
First Nations job hires, and an apprenticeship stream in the Crystal Pool project.

Conclusion 

VIRL is neither a government nor a land developer; it is a cooperative regional library system. 
VIRL is an organization that provides a social value component, in and of itself.  

In 1989 VIRL developed its first Purchasing Policy which provided for equal opportunity for the 
procurement of goods and services. Since 1990 VIRL has participated in cooperative 
purchasing through the Nanaimo Public Purchasing Cooperative Group. As part of the ongoing 
Board Policy review process, VIRL’s Procurement Policy was last revised and adopted by the 
Board on March 17, 2018. 

VIRL strives to incorporate as many environmental and sustainable efficiencies in its operations 
as budgets afford. VIRL is committed to many paperless strategies as seen in the 2018 
electronic-only version of the Annual Report. VIRL’s purchasing, maintenance and building 
strategies include: recycling; sourcing bio-degradable and environmentally friendly products; 
resale and repurposing of materials and equipment; and the use of sustainable and efficient 
energies, landscapes, equipment, products and fixtures.  

VIRL improves local literacy and education levels, and provides community spaces for the free 
exchange of ideas to all members of the community. VIRL’s Mission, Vision and Values 
underscore its commitment to: 

• Enriching the lives of community members;
• Developing strong libraries as vital community destinations;
• Leading and innovating;
• Stewardship and accountability;
• Information and literacy;
• Intellectual freedom;
• Collaboration and partnerships; and
• Tradition and technology.
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Through public programming VIRL promotes public awareness of social and environmental 
issues such as Earth Day, Bike to Work Week, Shake Out Day, and partnering in programs 
such as these held at the Gabriola Island branch: 

• In 2016, GabEnergy provided a six session presentation on “Behind the Panel:
Demystifying Home Solar Energy”.

• In 2017, Island Futures produced a session on “How much Energy do I use? This
session explained how to use a kilowatt meter (the meter was donated to the branch).

• A further presentation by Island Futures in 2018 on “Heat Loss, Hot Spots and
Moisture: Maximizing your Home’s Efficiency using a Thermal Imaging Camera and
Moisture Pen” (these items were also donated to the branch).

• In March 2019, two sessions were offered by EmPower Gabriola, a Sustainable Energy
Co-operative entitled, “Surviving a Power Outage: Basic Practical Suggestions “. These
sessions shared examples and tips on how to take advantage of low impact options
such as using battery powered lamps, not oil; or using solar powered batteries to
operate your refrigerator.

VIRL sees all businesses and organizations as potential partners to achieve social values. VIRL 
encourages all suppliers to become partners with us in achieving sustainability and best value 
through our procurement practices. VIRL will continue to seek information and knowledge on 
social procurement practices and the implications for VIRL. 

VIRL is committed to increasing its understanding of social procurement practices through 
webinars, workshops and professional development. An introductory webinar session on Social 
Procurement was shared with the VIRL leadership team at the end of March and a presentation 
was made to the team at large. VIRL staff will be attending an upcoming Coastal Community 
Social Procurement Initiative (CCSPI) workshop titled, Intro to Social Procurement for Local 
Government on June 5 in Nanaimo. The CCSPI was formed through the AVICC and is  
co-chaired by Josie Osborne, Mayor of Tofino and Lisa Helps, Mayor of Victoria. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Melanie Barnum 
Divisional Manager 
Office of the Executive Director 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 

Joel Adams 
Director of Finance 
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (e) 

Revised Board Policy: Rules of Conduct 

Recommendation: 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the Revised Board Policy: Rules of Conduct be received by the Board of Trustees; 
and 
That the current Board Policy: Rules of Conduct be rescinded by the Board of Trustees; 
and 
That the revised Board Policy: Rules of Conduct be adopted by the Board of Trustees.  

Background 

As part of its regular business, Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) reviews its Board 
policies approximately every 5 years. The Rules of Conduct Policy was last updated in 
November of 2014. 

Amendments Summary to the Rules of Conduct 

The body of the policy was reviewed to ensure accuracy and relevance. As a result of this 
review: 

• The introduction now includes a reference to safety;
• The prohibition on smoking was expanded to reflect updated WorkSafe guidelines; and
• The job titles of staff were updated to reflect VIRL’s current organizational structure.

No other changes were required. Internal guidelines are in place to ensure that the Rules of 
Conduct are appropriately and consistently applied.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Anne O’Shea, BA MLIS 
Deputy Executive Director & Chief 
Operating Officer 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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CURRENT POLICY 
Board Policy 

Rules of Conduct 
 

Rules of Conduct 
The purpose of this policy is to enhance the protection and safety of those using Vancouver 
Island Regional Library (VIRL) and to ensure that a visit to a library is a pleasant experience. 
Violation of the Rules of Conduct may result in suspension of privileges and or expulsion 
from library premises. 
• Abusive, discriminatory, harassing, illegal, threatening or violent conduct or language

of any kind is not permitted.
• Persons engaging in disruptive behaviours will be escorted off the premises.
• Persons may be required to make available for inspection all bags and carrying cases

when leaving the premises.
• The use of alcohol, illegal drugs and the possession of illegal drug paraphernalia is not

allowed on library premises.
• Smoking inside library buildings and within three metres of any library is not permitted.
• Persons found stealing, damaging or defacing VIRL property or materials will have their

library privileges cancelled and may be prosecuted under the Criminal Code.
• Parents, guardians and caregivers must provide supervision and care of their children

while on library premises.
• VIRL does not accept any responsibility for personal items, lost or stolen on its premises.

Loitering on library premises before, during and/or after hours is not permitted.
• Library materials cannot be taken into the washroom.
• Members of the public must obey copyright laws, licensing agreements and other

intellectual property rights.
• Shoes and shirts must be worn.
• Roller blades, skate boards and other sports equipment may not be used in the library.
• Pets are not allowed on the premises, with the exception of trained assistance animals

and/or those approved for library programs.
• Soliciting, canvassing, selling or distributing unsolicited materials on library property is

prohibited.
• Authorization from the Director of Library Services or designate must be obtained for

photographing, filming or video recording on all library premises.

Policy Approved: June 2009 
Revisions Approved:  November 2014 
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Rules of Conduct 
The purpose of this policy is to enhance the protection and safety of those using Vancouver 
Island Regional Library (VIRL) and to ensure that a visit to a library is a safe and pleasant 
experience. Violation of the Rules of Conduct may result in suspension of privileges and or 
expulsion from library premises. 
• Abusive, discriminatory, harassing, illegal, threatening or violent conduct or language

of any kind is not permitted.
• Persons engaging in disruptive behaviours will be escorted off the premises.
• Persons may be required to make available for inspection all bags and carrying cases

when leaving the premises.
• The use of alcohol, illegal drugs and the possession of illegal drug paraphernalia is not

allowed on library premises.
• Smoking tobacco, cannabis or other substances inside library buildings and within six

metres of any library is not permitted. This includes the use of e-cigarettes.
• Persons found stealing, damaging or defacing VIRL property or materials will have their

library privileges cancelled and may be prosecuted under the Criminal Code.
• Parents, guardians and caregivers must provide supervision and care of their children

while on library premises.
• VIRL does not accept any responsibility for personal items, lost or stolen on its premises.
• Loitering on library premises before, during and/or after hours is not permitted.
• Library materials cannot be taken into the washroom.
• Members of the public must obey copyright laws, licensing agreements and other

intellectual property rights.
• Shoes and shirts must be worn.
• Roller blades, skate boards and other sports equipment may not be used in the library.
• Pets are not allowed on the premises, with the exception of trained assistance animals

and/or those approved for library programs.
• Soliciting, canvassing, selling or distributing unsolicited materials on library property is

prohibited.
• Authorization from the Director of Corporate Communications & Strategic Initiatives or

the Director of Library Services & Planning or designate must be obtained for
photographing, filming or video recording on all library premises.

Adoption History 
ADOPTED BY: DATE: 

VIRL Board of Trustees 
VIRL Board of Trustees November 2014 
VIRL Board of Trustees June 2009 
DATE OF NEXT REVIEW:  2024 REVIEW CYCLE: 5 years 

DRAFT POLICY 
Board Policy 

Rules of Conduct 

110



Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (f) 

Revised Board Policy:  
Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process 

Recommendation 
The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the Revised Board Policy: Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process be received by the 
Board of Trustees;  
and 
That the current Board Policy: Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process be rescinded by the 
Board of Trustees;  
and 
That the revised Board Policy: Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process be adopted by the 
Board of Trustees.  

Background 

As part of its regular business, Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) reviews its Board 
policies approximately every 5 years. The Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process was last 
updated in November of 2014. 

Amendments Summary to the Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process 

The body of the policy was reviewed to ensure accuracy and relevance. As a result of this 
review, the job titles of staff were updated to reflect VIRL’s current organizational structure.  

There were no other changes required. Internal guidelines are in place to ensure that the 
policy is appropriately and consistently applied when necessary.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Anne O’Shea, BA MLIS 
Deputy Executive Director & 
Chief Operating Officer 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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CURRENT POLICY 
Board Policy 

Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process 
 

Policy Approved:  October 2007 
Revisions Approved:  November 2014 

Prohibition Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to support the Rules of Conduct.  Vancouver Island Regional 
Library (VIRL) will impose penalties on any person who does not comply with the Vancouver 
Island Regional Library Rules of Conduct. Any person who contravenes the Rules of Conduct 
will be prohibited from entering VIRL for such period of time as determined by the Library 
Manager, Divisional Manager of Public Services and/or Director of Library Services. 
The Circulation Supervisor, Acting Circulation Supervisor, Assistant Circulation Supervisor or 
staff member having the branch supervision responsibility premium will direct the person 
who is in contravention of the Rules of Conduct to leave VIRL. The Library Manager will be 
notified at the earliest opportunity and an incident form will be written. 
The Library Manager has authority to prohibit the person from entering VIRL after 
consultation with the Divisional Manager of Public Services and/or Director of Library 
Services and will send a letter to the person to inform them of the reasons they are 
prohibited from entering VIRL and the time period within which this prohibition is to apply. 
A copy of the letter will be forwarded to the Circulation Supervisor, Divisional Manager of 
Public Services, Director of Library Services, Executive Director and local police detachment, 
if appropriate. 

Appeal Process for Customers Prohibited from Entering VIRL 
A person has a right to request a hearing to dispute a prohibition from entering a Vancouver 
Island Regional Library branch. An appeal must be in writing and filed within 14 days of the 
date of the letter of notification. When an appeal is received by VIRL, it is reviewed by the 
Divisional Manager of Public Services and/or Director of Library Services and a hearing will 
be scheduled. Hearings may be conducted over the telephone or in person as determined 
by the Divisional Manager of Public Services and/or Director of Library Services. 
After the hearing, the Divisional Manager of Public Services and/or Director of Library 
Services will prepare a written report with recommendations. The report is then reviewed 
by the Executive Director who can affirm, amend, or reverse the decision made with respect 
to the prohibition.  
If the Executive Director concurs with the Divisional Manager of Public Services’ and/or 
Director of Library Services’ recommendations, the Executive Director signs the written 
report and the final order will be communicated in writing to the parties. 

The person may appeal the final order to the Board. Requests must be in writing, addressed 
to the Chair of the Board and submitted within 14 days from the date of the final order. 
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CURRENT POLICY 
Board Policy 

Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process 

Policy Approved:  October 2007 
Revisions Approved:  November 2014 

The Board Committee will be comprised of the Chair, Vice-Chair, the past Chair and the 
Executive Director. The Board Committee can recommend that the final order be affirmed, 
amended or reversed. The final decision of the Board Committee will be communicated to 
all parties. 
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Prohibition Policy 
The purpose of this policy is to support the Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) Rules 
of Conduct. VIRL can impose penalties on any person who does not comply with the Rules 
of Conduct, including being prohibited from entering all VIRL service locations for such 
period of time as determined by the Library Manager, Assistant Director and/or Director of 
Library Services & Planning (Leadership). 
The site supervisor will direct the person who is in contravention of the Rules of Conduct to 
leave the premises. The Library Manager will be notified at the earliest opportunity and an 
occurrence report will be written. 
The Library Manager has authority to prohibit a person for a set time period after 
consultation and approval from a Leadership member to issue a prohibition letter. 
The Library Manager or designate will deliver the letter to the person notifying of their 
prohibition to enter VIRL location(s), with the reasons and time period for the prohibition. A 
copy of the letter will be forwarded to the Circulation Supervisor, Leadership, Divisional 
Manager of Health and Safety, Deputy Executive Director & Chief Operating Officer (COO), 
Executive Director, and if appropriate the local police detachment. 

Appeal Process for Customers Prohibited from Entering VIRL 
A person has a right to request a hearing to dispute a prohibition from entering a Vancouver 
Island Regional Library branch. An appeal must be in writing and filed within 14 days of the 
date of the letter of notification. When an appeal is received by VIRL, it is reviewed by the 
Leadership and a hearing scheduled. Hearings may be conducted over the telephone or in 
person as determined by Leadership. 
After the hearing, Leadership will prepare a written report with recommendations. The 
report will then be reviewed by the Deputy Executive Director & COO and/or the Executive 
Director who can affirm, amend, or reverse the decision made with respect to the 
prohibition.  
If the Deputy Executive Director & COO and/or the Executive Director concur with the 
recommendations, the Executive Director will sign the written report and the final order will 
be communicated in writing to the parties. 

The person may appeal the final order to the Board. Requests must be in writing, addressed 
to the Executive Director and submitted within 14 days from the date of the final order. 
The Board Committee will be comprised of the Chair, Vice Chair, the past Chair and the 
Executive Director. The Board Committee can recommend that the final order be affirmed, 
amended or reversed. The final decision of the Board Committee will be communicated to 
all parties. 

DRAFT POLICY 
Board Policy 

Prohibition Policy and Appeals Process 
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Adoption History 
ADOPTED BY: DATE: 

VIRL Board of Trustees 
VIRL Board of Trustees November 2014 
VIRL Board of Trustees October 2007 

DATE OF NEXT REVIEW:  2024 REVIEW CYCLE: 5 years 
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (g)
 

UBCM Resolution Regarding Library Funding 

Recommendation 

The Executive Committee recommends: 

That the UBCM Resolution Regarding Library Funding be received by the Board of 
Trustees;  
and 
That a special committee be created by the Board of Trustees to lobby for more 
funding from the provincial government. 

Background 

Provincial library funding has remained virtually unchanged for the past three decades. This 
has placed an ever-increasing burden on municipalities and regional districts to cover the 
cost of library services in our communities.  

This resolution calls on the Minister of Education and the Provincial Government to increase 
its support for BC libraries at the annual Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) 
Conference.  

The goal is for the Resolution to receive strong support from our member municipalities and 
regional districts at UBCM.  

Resolution 
  “WHEREAS libraries in British Columbia are largely financed by levies paid by local 
governments, 

 AND WHEREAS libraries in British Columbia provide open and equal public access to vital 
resources, including the internet, public computers, digital library tools and in-person service 
from expert staff to provide opportunities for all British Columbians to access knowledge and 
information and increase literacy in our communities and present informative programmes; 
including First Nations programmes and material which advance public understanding and 
reconciliation, 

 AND WHEREAS libraries in British Columbia are delivering their excellent services in an 
environment where Provincial library funding has remained virtually stagnant for the past 30 
years, 
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (g)

 THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Government of British Columbia give urgent attention 
to funding for BC Libraries by adding $20 million to the BC Provincial Budget for 2019 for 
allocation to libraries throughout BC, 

 AND FURTHER THAT the Province be requested to ensure that BC Libraries will 
henceforth receive Provincial Government financial support at a sustainable level in 
subsequent years following the 2019 Budget.” 

Economic Impact

None. 

Communication Plan 

Following adoption by the Board, the Resolution will be distributed to all Trustees to bring 
forward to their respective Councils for endorsement and submission to UBCM on, or before, 
the June 30, 2019 deadline.   

Respectfully submitted, 

David Carson 
Director, Corporate Communications and 
Strategic Initiatives 

Joel Adams, CPA CA 
Director of Finance 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (h) 

2018 Annual Report 

Recommendation 
The Director of Corporate Communications and Strategic Initiatives and the Divisional 
Manager, Marketing and Communications/Privacy Officer, in consultation with the Executive 
Director, recommends:  

That the 2018 Annual Report, “Bridging the Divide” be received by the Board of 
Trustees. 

Background 

Every year, Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) produces an Annual Report which 
highlights VIRL’s accomplishments from the previous year, summarizes its finances, 
acknowledges donors, and recognizes the continued dedication and support from the Board of 
Trustees. 

2018’s “Bridging the Divide” tells story after story of the many ways our libraries brought people 
together, made people feel welcome, helped share new ideas and perspectives, and promoted 
diversity and learning.  

Here’s a snapshot of some of the stories readers of the report will experience: 

• VIRL’s Indigenous Voices initiative that swept across our service area
• LGBTQ2+ programming and promotions
• An adult-themed shadow puppet show that drew big crowds in Masset
• The transformative power of dance for teens in Nanaimo
• A state-of-the-art new website for VIRL
• The roadshow that brought STEAM awareness to rural and remote  communities

The 2018 report is entirely digital and web-based, making it accessible and attractive for 
stakeholders no matter their device or platform. 

Follow this link to view the 2018 Annual Report. 

Economic Impact 

None. 
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June 1, 2019 

Item 7 (h) 

Communication Plan 
Links to the Annual Report will be emailed to all media, MLAs, Regional Districts and 
Municipalities in the VIRL service area. The Annual Report will be posted on our website, all 
social media platforms, and promoted on the large TV screens which are used in branches to 
promote programs and events.  

Related to the Strategic Plan 
Strategic Priority #1, 2 and 4: 

Community: Bridging the Divide tells the stories of some of the ways in much our programs 
and people brought communities closer, and helped to connect us all.  

Collect, Connect, Collaborate, Create: The Report communicates programs and 
resources that appeal to people from a broad range of demographics and increases 
awareness of our services and resources.  

Life at Work: Strengthening internal communication so that all members of the 
organization are working collaboratively towards a common goal.   

Respectfully submitted, 

David Carson 
Director of Corporate Communications & 
Strategic Initiatives 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 

Natasha Bartlett 
Divisional Manager, Marketing & 
Communications / Privacy Officer 
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Item 8 (a) 

VIRL in the Media 
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Wilderness survival 
book borrowed in 1977 
is finally returned to 
B.C. library
THE CANADIAN PRESS / Mar. 17, 2019 10:20 a.m. / CANADA & 

WORLD / NEWS

VANCOUVER — A book about surviving in the 
outdoors has been returned to a B.C. library branch 
more than four decades after it was checked out.

The book, “Wilderness Living: A Complete 
Handbook and Guide to Pioneering in North 
America” was borrowed from the Union Bay branch 
of the Vancouver Island Regional Library in 1977.

123



It was returned anonymously to the Courtenay 
branch last Monday.

ADVERTISEMENT

Library spokesman David Carson says the book’s 
subject matter “adds to the mystique of its 
whereabouts over the past four-plus decades.”

He says the book is in excellent condition 
considering its extended absence from the shelves.

Carson says overdue materials for adults accrue a 
daily fine of 30 cents until a $10 cap is reached — 
which is lucky for whoever who signed it out.

“The fine would have been in excess of $4,500 
without the cap,” said Carson, adding that he 
doesn’t know if the book will go back into circulation.

He noted that it’s still being sold and is considered a 
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valuable resource for outdoor survival.

Carson said although ideally, books are returned 
before their due date, it’s not unusual for items to be 
returned late.

“But to have a book returned from the time when 
Stars Wars first came out — and for it to be in such 
good condition — is definitely not common,” he said.

125



V

Posted By: Ben O'Hara on: March 18, 2019 In: CHEK, News, Top Stories

Construction underway on new library in Chemainus

Photo/Twitter @northcowichan

Building work is o cially underway on a new library that the mayor of North Cowichan says will be a wonderful asset for the people of Chemainus.

“This building is going to be modern and innovative,” said Al Siebring.

“The wait can often be long for big projects like this to get o  the ground, so to see that construction has begun is incredibly exciting.”

When nished, its expected the facility at 9796 Willow Street will include:

• 5,000 square feet of oor space

• Increased sta ng levels

• Expanded hours of operation

• A larger opening day collection with many new materials

• An expanded program schedule

• More public computers

• A vibrant children’s area

• A lounging area with replace

• A laptop bar

• Study space

• A bookable multipurpose room

Vancouver Island-based contractor, CCM Construction Ltd, is leading the building work.
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“To see construction o cially underway is a huge development for the community and library sta ,” said Chair of Vancouver Island Regional Library’s (VIRL) Board of Trustee
Leigh.

“For a project of this scope, there are many players and milestones, and I would like to thank everyone for their dedication and commitment. This is an exciting day for VIRL a
entire Chemainus community.”

Its expected construction on the new library will be completed in the fall of 2019.

Photo/VIRL
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The Vancouver Island Regional Library team taking its place at the 
new Chemainus library site, from left, includes: Paul Maras-Hilling, 
Stephen Warren, Rosemary Bonanno, Joel Adams, Stephen R. 
Warren and David Carson. (Photo by Don Bodger)

Foundation being built 
for the new Chemainus 
library to become a 
cornerstone of the 
community
All the services and amenities in keeping 
with the modern age 
DON BODGER / Mar. 18, 2019 12:20 p.m. / LOCAL 

NEWS / NEWS

Excitement is building in Chemainus along with the 
actual construction taking place at the site of the 
new Vancouver Island Regional Library building for 
the community.
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Stakeholders gathered at 9796 Willow St. in 
downtown Chemainus Monday morning for the 
official launch of the long-awaited project.

“It’s so good to see shovels in the ground and finally 
getting down the journey with the community of 
Chemainus,” said VIRL executive director Rosemary 
Bonanno.

“To see construction officially underway is a huge 
development for the community and library staff,” 
noted Brenda Leigh, chair of the VIRL’s board of 
trustees. “For a project of this scope, there are many 
players and milestones, and I would like to thank 
everyone for their dedication and commitment. This 
is an exciting day for VIRL and the entire Chemainus 
community.”

The Sidney-based contractors, CCM Construction 
Ltd., began the actual physical work at the site two 
weeks ago.

“This is our crew here – five of us – and all the 
trades will be coming in once we get going,” said the 
company’s site supervisor Matt Duhamel.

All going well and according to projections, he 
figures the building will be completed by late 2019 
and certainly well in advance to provide the 
community with a nice Christmas present.
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The VIRL has been keeping up with the times with 
many new buildings and refurbishments in recent 
years, including Lake Cowichan in 2014.

Changing times have meant changing facilities to 
accommodate the public’s useage requirements for 
libraries today.

“We’ve got a consolidated facilities master plan that 
guides us through this process,” said Bonanno.

“We want to ensure we’ve got appropriate spaces 
that community members can meet or for quiet 
study.

“The design encompasses what people continually 
are looking for – a place to meet and gather,” she 
added. “If you want to come and curl up and read a 
book, you can.”

That’s one of the functions that excites Chemainus 
Business Improvement Association president Chris 
Istace the most. To have a reading space like the 
one at the Duncan branch within the Cowichan 
Community Centre is invaluable.

“I’ve always been a huge advocate and the BIA has 
been for this building,” he indicated.

“When we bring that over to a business perspective, 
businesses thrive off healthy foundations.”
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The library is viewed as becoming a key cornerstone 
of the community.

“The amount of tourists, cyclists and people 
discovering Chemainus, this will be right here in the 
heart of the community,” said Istace.

“The biggest long-range thing is it actually fits in with 
the Chemainus revitalization plan from years ago.”

The new library will feature furniture, IT 
infrastructure, a vibrant children’s area, a laptop bar, 
a bookable multi-purpose room and so much more 
in 5,000 square feet of floor space.

“This building is going to be modern and innovative 
and a wonderful asset for the people of Chemainus,” 
noted Municipality of North Cowichan Mayor Al 
Siebring. “The wait can often be long for big projects 
like this to get off the ground, so to see that 
construction has begun is incredibly exciting.”

“It just evolves, this is the information age,” 
reasoned Bonanno. “It’s the key to success on so 
many levels.

“We’re here to support that need and with the 
diversity of an electronic collection we can expose 
our customers to a wider depth of information.

“It’s just going to beat expectations, I feel.”
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Chemainus community leaders and local government officials join 
VIRL executive director Rosemary Bonanno for the traditional 
shoveling ceremonial photo at the new Chemainus library site. 
Beside Bonanno, far left, they include: Lori Frankson, Chris Istace, 
Lynne Smith, Debra Toprowski and Natasha Horsman. (Photo by Don 
Bodger)
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Wilderness Survival Book Borrowed In 1977 Is Finally 
Returned To B.C. Library
The Canadian Press, 18 Mar, 2019

VANCOUVER — A book about surviving in the outdoors has been returned to a B.C. library branch 
more than four decades after it was checked out.

The book, "Wilderness Living: A Complete Handbook and Guide to Pioneering in North America" 
was borrowed from the Union Bay branch of the Vancouver Island Regional Library in 1977.

It was returned anonymously to the Courtenay branch last Monday.

Library spokesman David Carson says the book's subject matter "adds to the mystique of its 
whereabouts over the past four-plus decades."

He says the book is in excellent condition considering its extended absence from the shelves.

Carson says overdue materials for adults accrue a daily fine of 30 cents until a $10 cap is 
reached — which is lucky for whoever who signed it out.

"The fine would have been in excess of $4,500 without the cap," said Carson, adding that he 
doesn't know if the book will go back into circulation.

He noted that it's still being sold and is considered a valuable resource for outdoor survival.

Carson said although ideally, books are returned before their due date, it's not unusual for items 
to be returned late.

"But to have a book returned from the time when Stars Wars first came out — and for it to be in 
such good condition — is definitely not common," he said.
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The board at the Cowichan Valley Regional District has set a 7.27% 
tax increase for 2019. (File photo)

CVRD sets tax increase 
for 2019 at 7.27%
New water and housing functions make up 
3.52 % of increase 
ROBERT BARRON / Mar. 20, 2019 1:00 p.m. / LOCAL 

BUSINESS / NEWS

The Cowichan Valley Regional District has passed 
its budget with an average 7.27 per cent tax 
increase for 2019.

The creation of two new services, drinking water and 
watershed protection and affordable housing, which 
were the subject of two successful referendums that 
were held at the same time as the municipal 
elections in October, make up 3.52 per cent of the 
tax increase.
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RELATED STORY: AFFORDABLE HOUSING, 
WATER PROTECTION REFERENDUMS BOTH 
PASS

A further 0.21 per cent increase is due to a rise in 
rates for the Vancouver Island Regional Library, 
leaving 3.54 per cent of the tax increase for core 
services that are delivered by the CVRD.

“The costs to deliver almost all services continue to 
increase, and local governments across the 
Cowichan region are faced with addressing major 
challenges that threaten our quality of life,” said Ian 
Morrison, chairman of the CVRD.

“It is never popular or simple for elected officials, to 
increase taxes. There are real impacts for residents. 
Over the course of many meetings, this process 
included passionate discussion and hard-won 
compromises resulting in the smallest annual 
increase to core services in four years.”

Two weeks ago, the CVRD were considering a 9.01 
per cent tax increase for 2019, but Morrison said 
staff and board members were challenged to come 
up with more ways to cut the tax increase.

RELATED STORY: CVRD CONSIDERS AN 
AVERAGE 9.1% TAX INCREASE FOR 2019
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He said, after much discussion and debate, the 
decision was made to cut the district’s regional 
parkland acquisition fund from $750,000 to 
$150,000 for the year, reducing the tax increase by 
almost two per cent.

“There’s still money available this year for select 
purchases (of park land),” Morrison said.

“The board can decide to restore funding for the 
regional parkland acquisition fund to normal levels 
next year if it wants. The budget process was 
protracted more than usual this year because it was 
a tough challenge to get our new directors up to 
speed on all the information. It was steep learning 
curve for them, but all directors played an active role 
in asking questions of staff and other board 
members and seeking clarifications during the 
process.”

RELATED STORY: IAN MORRISON NEW 
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AT CVRD

Drafting budgets for the CVRD is a complex process 
as its annual budget is made up of 180 individual 
budgets.

These budgets include regional services paid by all 
district residents, and electoral area services such 
as planning and service-specific budgets like water 
and utilities.
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The differences in tax rates across the CVRD stems 
from the amount and types of services each region 
in the district has agreed to participate in and pay 
for.

This is different from municipal budgets where the 
costs are shared equally across the municipality.

The impact on taxes for individual properties will 
also vary depending on the change in assessment 
for those properties relative to property assessment 
changes throughout the region.

Tax increase implications in each area of the CVRD:

Electoral Area A

Average home- $600,146: Tax increase of 6.27 per 
cent, or $74.58 per home.

Electoral Area B

Average home- $572,756: Tax increase of 8.35 per 
cent, or $111.81 per home.

Electoral Area C

Average home- $579,409: Tax increase of 7.9 per 
cent, or $94.47 per home.

Electoral Area D
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Average home- $478,703: Tax increase of 6.06 per 
cent, or $72.48 per home.

Electoral Area E

Average home- $467, 961: Tax increase of 8.09 per 
cent, or $80.81 per home.

Electoral Area F

Average home- $470,456: Tax increase of 7.71 per 
cent, or $88.96 per home.

Electoral Area G

Average home- $448,052: Tax increase of 4.82 per 
cent, or $30.12 per home.

Electoral Area H

Average home- $550,953: Tax increase of 12.94 per 
cent, or $81.82 per home.

Electoral Area I

Average home- $526,727: Tax increase of 8.43 per 
cent, or $107.34 per home.
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Six-year-old Desi Gomez-Charles creates a bookmark in Gryffindor 
colours on Harry Potter Day on Thursday at the Nanaimo North 
Library. GREG SAKAKI/The News Bulletin

Magic in the air at 
Nanaimo library on 
Harry Potter Day
VIRL’s Nanaimo North Library branch 
hosted activities Thursday 
GREG SAKAKI / Mar. 21, 2019 6:25 p.m. / COMMUNITY

Hogwarts’ stern librarian Madam Pince probably 
wouldn’t have approved of fun and games in the 
library, but everyone else seemed to be having a 
good time today.

Thursday was Harry Potter Day at the Nanaimo 
North Library.

Children were sorted into their Hogwarts School of 
Witchcraft and Wizardry houses, made wands and 
bookmarks, played wizard chess and posed for 
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photo ops. Participating in the various activities 
earned kids house points and entries into a draw for 
quills and ink.

“The Harry Potter stories continue to be magical for 
all ages and we like to make it one of the biggest 
events we have during the year and the kids love it,” 
said Sheila Hammond-Todd, VIRL librarian, who was 
dressed as Professor McGonagall for the occasion.

She said the books are generally checked out off the 
shelves and there tends to be a lengthy wait to 
borrow the audiobook versions. The magic and the 
storytelling make the books timeless, she said.

“Even though I’m too old to have read them when I 
was young, my daughter was young, and so I got to 
experience something I think that was just as great, 
which was reading them out loud to a child growing 
up and enjoying that as a family,” Hammond-Todd 
said. “So I just want to help keep bringing that to 
other people.”

Magic in the air at Nanaimo lib…
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The Parksville Library has made some improvements and will be 
featured in this weekend’s open house. — File photo

Open house to 
highlight Parksville 
library’s new look
MICHAEL BRIONES / Mar. 26, 2019 8:30 p.m. / LOCAL 

NEWS / NEWS

Parksville’s library has a refreshed look.

The library, located at 100 Jensen Avenue East, will 
hold an open house March 30 to showcase 
improvements and new features.

They include a cozy lounge with fireplace, laptop 
bar, teen study areas, an all-new children’s area and 
a new collection of materials for readers of any age 
and interest.
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The event will run from 11 a.m. to 3 p.m. There will 
be children’s programs, a virtual reality, 3D printing 
booth, cake and prizes.

— NEWS Staff

Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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SRD Area D director Brenda Leigh 
nominated as VIRL board of trustees 
chair

SHARE ON:    

Twila Amato, sta Wednesday, Mar. 27th, 2019
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CAMPBELL RIVER, B.C. – The Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) has a new board 
of trustees chair.

Strathcona Regional District (SRD) Area D director Brenda Leigh has been nominated 
as the 2019 Chair of the Vancouver Island Regional Library Board of Trustees.

This is according to an announcement made by the VIRL. The correspondence was 
received by council members during Monday’s council meeting. 

Leigh will be joined by Port McNeill mayor Gabriele Wickstrom as the vice-chair. Both 
Leigh and Wickstrom will lead the VIRL’s executive committee.

According to documents from VIRL, they are also waiting on the city for word on 
possible sites for a new library branch in Campbell River.

Leigh sat on the board from 1995 to 2001 as a representative from the Comox-
Strathcona Regional District. From 2008 until now, she has been the library trustee for 
the SRD. 

Leigh serves as the director for the electoral Area D in the SRD, representing Oyster 

  SRD Area D director Brenda Leigh will be leading the Vancovuer Island Regional Library's executive 

committee as the board of trustees' chair. Photo sourced from the Strathcona Regional District website. 
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Workshop on Mack Laing Nature Park lls room at Comox Community Centre
Troy Landreville, Thursday, Mar. 28th, 2019
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National Poetry Month 
festivities coming to 
Nanaimo
WordStorm Society for the Arts presents 
four events, including city’s first poetry 
slam 
JOSEF JACOBSON / Mar. 28, 2019 11:00 

a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT

April is National Poetry Month and Nanaimo’s 
WordStorm Society for the Arts is celebrating the 
occasion with a series of events, including what 
WordStorm artistic director Carla Stein calls the 
city’s first poetry slam.

Stein describes a slam as a “competitive in a 
democratic sense” event, in which performers 
compete for prizes from a panel of judges taken 
from the audience. The event, taking place at the 
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Queen’s on April 12 at 7 p.m., will also feature B.C. 
poets R.C. Weslowski, Lucia Misch and Erin Kirsh. 
The grand prize is $100, admission is $10. Message 
WordStorm’s Facebook page to sign up.

“It’s going to be low-key, no pressure,” Stein said. 
“We’re all there to just support each other and enjoy 
each other.”

WordStorm is also partnering with the Nanaimo 
Harbourfront Library to present 5 Poets – Many 
Galaxies, a free event with local poets Stein and 
Hilary Peach, as well as visiting poets Bill Bissett, 
Stephen Roxborough and Geoff Inverarity at the 
library on April 8 at noon.

WordStorm’s regular Nanaimo Spoken Word night at 
the Buzz Coffee House happens on April 4 starting 
at 6:30 p.m. and and 15 Minutes of Infamy will take 
place on April 17 at the Green Olive at 7 p.m. Both 
events are $5 at the door. More poetry month details 
online.

arts@nanaimobulletin.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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Vancouver Island Regional Library 
catalogue undergoing upgrade

SHARE ON:    

Twila Amato, sta Friday, Mar. 29th, 2019
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VANCOUVER ISLAND, B.C. – The island’s library system is going through a database 
upgrade.

The Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) announced that their circulation system 
will undergo an upgrade on Wednesday, April 3rd.

According to their announcement, customers may experience service disruption from 
6:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m.

VIRL is upgrading the system to ensure it is fully supported and up to date.

During the upgrades, customers may not be able to do the following:

• search through the online catalogue

• log into library accounts to place holds or renew items

• access VIRL eResources

• receive overdue and hold email/telephone pickup notices

• phone the VIRL telephone account and renewal line

To report issues, contact 1-877-415-VIRL or email info@virl.bc.ca.

  Stock image. 
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Parksville Mayor Ed Mayne tries virtual reality for the first time. VR is 
a new feature at the refreshed Parksville Public Library, which has 
undergone major renovations. — Michael Briones photo

Parksville mayor tries 
virtual reality at library
Open house showcases modern new 
features 
MICHAEL BRIONES / Mar. 31, 2019 5:30 

a.m. / COMMUNITY / LOCAL NEWS

An open house was held to celebrate the 
refurbished parts of the Parksville Library on 
Saturday, March 30.

The event was attended by Mayor Ed Mayne, who 
tried virtual reality, a new feature, for the first time. 
Also present were Qualicum Beach Coun. Adam 
Walker and Vancouver Island Regional Library 
executive director, Rosemary Bonanno.

Children in attendance were treated to programs, 
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including the 3D printing booth, and cake.

The library recently underwent a makeover and was 
closed for a month earlier this year. It was reopened 
Feb. 7 and an open house was staged to introduce 
the addition to the newly painted and resurfaced 
library.

READ MORE: The strangest things ever returned 
to BC public library 

Among the added features to the library are cozy 
lounge area with fireplace, new furniture, a laptop 
bar, teen study areas, an all-new children’s area, 
and a new collection of materials for readers of any 
age and interest, new circulation desk, and new 
book drop.

Bonanno said applying the new attractions coincided 
with the library’s scheduled makeover.

“Since we were going to do painting and replacing 
the floor, we looked at how we could maximize our 
dollars and we did,” said Bonanno. “What you see 
today is the joint effort between the municipality and 
ourselves.”

The Parksville branch has been opened for 
approximately 15 years and there has been very 
little maintenance done, said Bonanno.
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“So it’s appropriate to do it this time and we wanted 
that 21st century aura about the library,” said 
Bonanno. “Libraries are evolving and we want to 
ensure that the citizens in this branch can take 
advantage of everything that now is in a modern 
library.”

The total budget for this project was approximately 
$150,000, with $40,000 supplied by the City of 
Parksville for new flooring.

Michael.Briones@pqbnews.com

Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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The Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) online services will be 
down Wednesday morning for upgrade service. File photo/Campbell 
River Mirror

Library’s online service 
will be down 
Wednesday morning
Vancouver Island Regional Library system 
to be closed for scheduled maintenance 
and upgrades 
Apr. 1, 2019 2:30 p.m. / COMMUNITY

The Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) 
library’s circulation system is undergoing an upgrade 
on Wednesday, April 3 as part of schedule 
maintenance.

Customers trying to access online services may 
experience a service disruption between 6 and 10 
a.m. During this time they may not be able to search
the online catalogue; log into their account to place
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holds or renew items; access system eResources; 
receive overdue and hold email/telephone pickup 
notices; or phone our telephone account and 
renewal line at 1-888-988-8475 (VIRL)

READ MORE: Library system to increase E-
resources, eliminate fees on children’s materials and 
get into video games

VIRL says the work is happening to ensure the 
circulation system is fully supported and up to date. 
The library system will continue to post the upgrade 
status to the website and catalogues.

Anyone having trouble with services can reach VIRL 
at toll-free 1-877-415-VIRL or email at 
info@virl.bc.ca. VIRL will announce when the 
upgrade is complete.
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VIDEO: Inside Lake Cowichan’s 
Nuu-chah-nulth culture with carver 
Joshua Watts
LEXI BAINAS / Apr. 6, 2019 5:00 p.m. / COMMUNITY

Nuu-chah-nulth carver Joshua Watts is reconnecting with his Lake Cowichan 
roots, tracing them through books, traditional tales, and objects from the past.

He’s carved a superb modern piece for the Cowichan Valley Regional District’s 
recycling station at Meade Creek, and is working on a traditional pole for Lake 
Cowichan’s own Ts’uubaa-asatx First Nation.

Watts shared some of his path to reconnection with a crowd at the Lake 
Cowichan library recently, part of a series called Indigenous Voices that’s being 
presented there.

Nuu-chah-nulth carver Joshua Watts gives interes…
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“My family here in Lake Cowichan, the Livingstone family, saw that I was posting 
about [my work] on social media. Excitement kind of grew for the pole that I am 
carving on the lake for them. There’s a longhouse on North Shore Road, and 
with one project after another, they’re trying to create some sort of cultural 
community here.

“My granny — she’s actually the wife of my grandmother’s brother but she calls 
me her grandson and I call her granny — is Gina Livingstone. She has been 
teaching me a lot because I grew up outside of Lake Cowichan. I don’t know too 
much about the community here. But she’s been getting me back up to speed. 
From my understanding, we were moving out, back when logging companies 
were starting to settle here, when smallpox hit, and the population really 
dropped.

“There are about 20 First Nations members of this band. But now, we are at a 
time when our people are really searching for where they are from. There are a 
few who moved to the States but now they are reconnecting. It’s part of my 
motivation in working with the community here. I kind of want to give everybody 
something to come back to.

He then described the thought behind the CVRD piece.

“I’ve been carving for about six years, but it’s been on and off. That piece at 
Meade Creek: the concept behind that was the idea of recycling, to represent a 
really common First Nations philosophy.

“A lot of people know that sustainability and a sustainable lifestyle is a very 
indigenous/First Nations thing. Across the [B.C.] Coast, people have different 
stories but there’s often a tribe of the Salmon People.

“That’s what that art at Meade Creek is supposed to represent: a salmon’s fin. 
It’s an abstract thought to link that to a story that I will share. As First Nations 
people, we often have a legend that talks about returning the salmon bones or 
what is consumed in our bodies to the Salmon People to show them respect. For 
some Nations, it involves returning the bones to the river.”
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Read more below

(See http://www.harbourpublishing.com/title/SalmonBoy for information about 
Donna Joe’s book, Salmon Boy: A Legend of the Sechelt People, which deals 
with this subject and 
https://www.goodreads.com/book/show/972137.Raven_s_Cry for Christie 
Harris’s Raven’s Cry, which includes the story, The Prince Who Was Taken 

Away by the Salmon.)

According to Watts his art work “appreciates that relationship where [the salmon] 
sacrifice themselves and their bodies and for many nations, returning the bones 
to the river is appreciating that they sacrifice themselves that we can live and 
survive off their bodies. Recycling, in a way, is pretty similar. You return your 
bottles, metal, and other materials, to have a respectful relationship rather than 
just consume and dump in a pile and keep repeating that. That’s the idea behind 
that piece.”

Also, when it comes to objects, the Coast Salish culture of the First Nations 
peoples of the eastern part of the Cowichan Valley is a lot different, he said.

“Has anyone ever seen a woven blanket by a Coast Salish weaver? Compared 
to, say, a button blanket [from the northern part of the Island], its imagery is 
much more abstract; in Coast Salish art it’s harder to tell what it is. If you look at 
the book back there, People of the Totem, that’s a button blanket that that 
person is wearing, and it clearly has a form line depiction on it. It’s easy to tell 
that it’s a figure of something.

“Coast Salish is less about the form line and more about the abstract knowledge 
behind it. Susan Point, a Musqueam artist, is one of the giants when it comes to 
contemporary Coast Salish art. If you are looking for an example, she would be 
someone where you’d be easily able to tell: this is Coast Salish art.”
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Asked about his own art, how he places his work in the historical timeframe of 
his people’s culture, Watts said, “I have a lot of influences from different tribes. 
I’m kind of a social butterfly that way. I check out what other people are doing, 
from all Indigenous cultures. My main motivator for creating my art is traditional 
art. That’s because of the feeling I get when I find out what a mask is.

“Just recently I was researching a mask for a month. It was an old mask, and it 
has huge ears. It’s not very appealing aesthetically but the sort of idea behind it 
has never been discovered. It would just be a mask. But, I have actually found 
out it’s depicting a spirit residing in the mountains that would watch everything 
24/7. There’s a dance behind it, and a song behind it. That kind of stuff, that 
creates inspiration for me. That’s why I identify more as a traditional artist.

“But, that being said, I do watch out for the more contemporary artists, too. That 
piece at Meade Creek is definitely a more contemporary piece. I have talked a 
bit with the management there. I kind of want to do a 3-D piece there as well so I 
can expand that with a more traditional-appearing piece. When it comes to my 
art form I’m into expressing our connection with the past,” he said.

Read more below

Watts brought out several books that he recommends to people who want to 
learn about Nuu-chah-nulth art and culture. Most are available through the public 
library.

“There’s a book called Cedar, an introduction to the First Nations’ use of cedar. 
It’s kind of hand in hand with our culture because without cedar a lot of our 
ceremonies, our structures, the life that we have, our relationship with the waters 
— cedar is kind of the backbone that helps us have a strong relationship with all 
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those things. Even if you just flip through it, a lot of the illustrations are really 
engaging. They draw a lot from other books, so you can also find out where 
things come from.”

That book can be found at http://www.douglas-mcintyre.com/search?
subject=&q=Cedar

He explained that the Lake Cowichan First nation is connected with the west 
coast of Vancouver Island, Nuu-chah-nulth territory. The Coast Salish, which 
includes Duncan’s Cowichan Tribes, is located on the east coast of the Island, 
and the northern tip of the Island is Kwakwaka’wakw territory.

“The cultures are really different. This book, which is called Nuu-chah-nulth 
Voices, History, Objects, & Journeys is probably one of the best books I’ve found 
about Nuu-chah-nulth culture. It’s also available in this library. It’s got oral 
histories, and names, if you’re interested.

“There’s an interview with Ron Hamilton. Have any of you met Ron? He actually 
carved that pole in front of the library here; he worked right over there. Ron’s 
actually a very knowledgeable man. He covers a lot of ground with his talk. He’s 
actually helping re-arrange a collection in the American Museum of Natural 
History in New York because they are planning on the re-doing of their set-up of 
their whole North West Coast collection.

“Anyway, Ron is playing a pretty big part. I believe he’s a co-curator of the whole 
exhibit. I’m doubly related to Ron. He’s an elder. We’re related on both sides of 
my grandparents’ family. I’d like to share that about him. I’m really inspired by his 
work.”

Watts explained that seeing the strong support for and success of Haida art has 
encouraged other First Nations artists along B.C.’s coast.
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“That’s why this book about the Nuu-chah-nulth is really important to me. It has a 
lot of engagement in the oral histories, the cultural knowledge. The people that 
are really passionate about history and art definitely in this book. If you’re 
interested in factual information, this is the one.”

But for those who want to see the differences between the various cultures, he 
recommends Out of the Mist: Treasures of the Nuu-chah-nulth Chiefs by Martha 
Black.

“The main content of this book is pictures. If you’re looking for images of Nuu-
chah-nulth art, this would be the book.”

He said he likes to refresh himself before starting a project by looking at books 
like these.

“I like to look at the old objects, archival images; that’s what really fires me up. 
The whole idea behind creating these objects is not just for show, it’s a 
connection with the ancestors. A mask is just a piece of the puzzle. There are 
various anthropologists that I like to check out their papers, and their notes. I’m 
still learning how to read really, really old-school handwriting. But there are a lot 
of volunteers at the museum to help translate the handwriting.”

See the second half of this feature next week.

Picture 8 of 12
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Portrait masks play an important role in Nuu chah nulth culture, according to carver Joshua 

Watts. (Lexi Bainas/Gazette)
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Campbell River rm pegged to build 
new Sayward library

SHARE ON:    

Troy Landreville, sta Monday, Apr. 8th, 2019
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SAYWARD, B.C. – The new Sayward library has taken an important step towards 
construction.

On April 5th, 2 Hills Renovations, a Campbell River-based construction rm, was 
awarded the contract to build the new library for the Village.

Vancouver Island Regional Library’s executive director Rosemary Bonanno called it an 
exciting day for Sayward.

“With the contract now awarded and construction soon to start, the entire Sayward 
Valley can look forward to a state-of-the-art library for many years to come,” Bonanno 
said.

“I would like to thank Sayward Council for giving up their Council Chambers to allow 
for a temporary library for the better part of the past two years.”

A construction start date and timeline will be made available once VIRL receives it 
from 2 Hills.

“Council has been committed to this project from day one,” Sayward Mayor John 
MacDonald said.

  Rendering courtesy Vancouver Island Regional Library 
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MacDonald thanked residents for their understanding throughout the process.

“Your patience is being rewarded with your new full-service library,” he added.

According to a release, the plan for the new library encompasses all aspects of the 
project, including construction, furniture, IT infrastructure, and more.

Once built, Sayward  the library will include the following features and amenities:

• 2,100 square feet of oor space;

• expanded hours of operation;

• a larger opening day collection with many new materials;

• an expanded program schedule;

• a laptop bar;

• study space; and

• a bookable space.

A Prototype for Other Rural Builds

The release notes that the cost-e ectiveness and scalability of the Sayward branch 
design means that VIRL now has a prototype model that can be replicated in other 
rural communities in need of new libraries.

The 2,100 square foot model being built in Sayward can be scaled up or down 
depending on a community’s size and service needs.

The release notes that the prototype approach will help VIRL deliver on the 
commitments to our rural communities set out in the Consolidated Facilities Master 
Plan.
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Hills Renovations, a Campbell River-based construction firm, was 
awarded the contract to build the new library for the Village of 
Sayward. VIRL image

New Sayward Library 
contract awarded
Campbell River firm to build prototype 
facility for smaller communities 
Apr. 9, 2019 10:30 a.m. / LOCAL NEWS / NEWS

The new Sayward library has taken an important 
step towards construction.

On April 5, 2 Hills Renovations, a Campbell River-
based construction firm, was awarded the contract 
to build the new library for the Village of Sayward.

“This is an exciting day for Sayward,” says 
Rosemary Bonanno, Vancouver Island Regional 
Library’s (VIRL) Executive Director. “With the 
contract now awarded and construction soon to 
start, the entire Sayward Valley can look forward to a 
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state-of-the-art library for many years to come. I 
would like to thank Sayward Council for giving up 
their Council Chambers to allow for a temporary 
library for the better part of the past two years.”

A construction start date and timeline will be made 
available once VIRL receives it from 2 Hills.

“Council has been committed to this project from 
day one,” says John MacDonald, Mayor of the 
Village of Sayward. “For Capital Projects of this size 
and scope, there are many moving parts and 
milestones before construction can start. Thank you 
to everyone for your understanding throughout the 
process — your patience is being rewarded with 
your new full-service library!”

The plan for the new library encompasses all 
aspects of the project, including construction, 
furniture, IT infrastructure, and more.

Once built, Sayward will have a state-of-the-art 
library with the following features and amenities:

• 2,100 square feet of floor space

• Expanded hours of operation

• A larger opening day collection with many new
materials

• An expanded program schedule

168



• A laptop bar

• Study space

• A bookable space

A Prototype for Other Rural Builds

The cost-effectiveness and scalability of the 
Sayward branch design means that VIRL now has a 
prototype model that can be replicated in other rural 
communities in need of new libraries. The 2,100 
square foot model being built in Sayward can be 
scaled up or down depending on a community’s size 
and service needs. This prototype approach will help 
VIRL deliver on the commitments to our rural 
communities set out in the Consolidated Facilities 
Master Plan.
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Nearly a dozen 
hopefuls vying for title 
of Comox Valley poet 
laureate
Apr. 11, 2019 6:30 a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

They 
have a 
thing or 
two to 
say.

The 11 
poets 

vying to become the third Comox Valley Poet 
Laureate will have a chance to show their poetry 
performance chops at the first round of the CVPL 
search beginning at 7 p.m., Easter Monday, at 
Michael’s Off Main restaurant.

“Anyone who loves good writing, passion, thinking 
and being moved should come out to this,” said 
Jamie Bowman, a CVPL committee member who 
got the poet position started in 2015.

At that event, four or five entrants will be selected for 
the finals, which go in the same venue a week later, 
April 29, when the winner will be chosen.

170



Joining the judging panel is Jordan Scott, winner of 
the Latner Writers’ Trust Poetry Prize in 2018, who is 
a North Island College English instructor and a 
former Simon Fraser University poet-in-residence.

Scott’s first book of poetry, Silt, was published in 
2005 and was shortlisted for the Dorothy Livesay 
Poetry Prize in 2006. He followed up in 2008 with 
Blert, then in 2013 with Decomp. In 2015 he was 
granted access to the Guantanamo Bay detention 
camp, and published the multimedia work Clearance 

Process in 2016 to document his visit there.

He joins outgoing CV Poet Laureate Natalie 
Nickerson, singer-songwriter Josie Patterson (aka 
COZY) and rap artist Eric Ettinger on the jury.

The panelists are reviewing submitted works of 
entrants Amos Mercier, Michael Datura, Jessica 
Dawson, Catriona De La Torre, Pamela Dewolf, 
Spencer Sheehan-Kalina, Apryl Fawn, Lawrence 
Cooper, Kerry Hale, Darsi Kamay and Taryn 
Goodwin.

The competition is open to page poets, songwriters, 
spoken word and rap/hip hop artists.

The winner will collect a $2,000 honorarium over the 
two-year term and will be expected to create works, 
while reflecting the mood of the community, fostering 
poetry and literacy, and organizing poetry events.
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The Word Up Poet Laureate Search is a project of 
Comox Valley Arts, your regional Arts Council, with 
sponsorships from the Comox District Teachers 
Association, School District 71, Vancouver Island 
Regional Library, 97.3 The Eagle, North Island 
College, City of Courtenay, the Island Word, and 
Sure Copy.
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VIDEO: Finding the connection to 
his community is essential to carver 
Joshua Watts
LEXI BAINAS / Apr. 13, 2019 5:00 p.m. / COMMUNITY

Joshua Watts, a Nuu-chah-nulth carver, is reconnecting with his Lake Cowichan 

roots these days.

He’s carved a superb modern piece for the Cowichan Valley Regional District’s 

recycling station at Meade Creek, and is working on a traditional pole for Lake 

Cowichan’s own Ts’uubaa-asatx First Nation.

Watts spoke to a crowd at the Lake Cowichan library recently, part of a series 

called Indigenous Voices that’s being presented there. This story covers the 

second half of his talk.

It’s taken time for Watts to discover the best route to his roots.

“How I’ve come to do this is by working with other artists,” he told the crowd at 
the library.

“My first teacher, who helped me to understand what West Coast art is was Ray 
Natraoro (Natrall) from the Squamish Nation. I started doing canoes with him 
when I was 17-18. We were getting ready to go to Bella Bella for Tribal 
Journeys.

“That was really when I really started to understand what all this cultural stuff 
means. Before that it was just cool. But when I talked to my teachers I found out 
it wasn’t cool 40-50 years ago to do those things. Now, a lot of young First 
Nations people are very proud. That’s inspiring to me because, for my parents’ 
generation, it still had a negative connotation from the potlatch ban and other 
historical systematic failures.
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“Has anyone ever heard of Tribal Journeys, where Indigenous communities 
along the coast would organize themselves and then would host everyone? We 
were carving two canoes for that trip: a women’s canoe and a general canoe.

“It took us 18 days to get up from Squamish. We started there, went out to Howe 
Sound and across to Sechelt, where they hosted us for a while. Then we went to 
Nanaimo and then back to the mainland at Port Hardy. Then we shot across 
there, and stayed in a cultural longhouse way in the bush. Then we made our 
crossing to Bella Bella and we stayed there for a week.”

Along the route, the group got bigger and bigger as host nations would join in.

“The energy around that was a huge inspiration for me for becoming an artist.

“I met a lot of people who had the same kind of feeling and the same kind of 
motivation. It started with a canoe. Then it sort of snowballed into talk about 
everyone else’s regalia, masks. For those of you who don’t know, small talk in 
First Nations communities often means the family tree comes out and the 
question: ‘So how are we related?’ Everyone starts talking about shared 
ancestors and the further back we go, the more family we have. That’s a really 
important thing for First Nations people. All of these masks and songs, it’s what it 
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all comes down to: what family are you from, what tribe are you from, and who 
are you? You’re not just a person in the family tree; you’re a branch. Each 
person is really important.”

Read more below
Legal

Coming to see he was part of a tradition that spread into both the past and the 
future gave Watts a sense of wonder.

“I started doing more masks. Then, about 2015, 2016 I applied for a YVR Art 
Foundation scholarship. That’s the Vancouver airport; they have an incredible 
arts foundation. It involved a lot of younger artists who are at the same stage as 
me, the same generation, and the same motivation to do art, but different 
backgrounds, different art forms.”

His commission to do the pole for the Ts’uubaa-asatx Nation came, in part, from 
his work at the YVR foundation.

“Part of my motivation for working with the community here, at my 
grandmother’s First Nation, is having a memorial pole for a family. And that isn’t 
just a piece of art. It’s something we can all reference, to trace back who we are 
and why we’re here and what made us different from everybody.

“For those who haven’t seen me working on it: there’s a [carving of a] man at the 
bottom that references our ancestors and also my grandmother’s later brother, 
[the late Hereditary Chief] Cyril Livingstone. From what I hear from my family, he 
was very inspirational and did a lot of work to re-establish the band here, re-
announcing the band, getting the traditional territories recognized by the 
government, building housing, and getting people back to the community. I also 
want to commemorate him in the figure.

175



“So, the bottom is a man, and he’s going to be wearing a plank head dress; they 
are made of straight think planks: that mask is a really sacred mask to Nuu-
chah-nulth people.

“It’s kind of a message to everyone that not only are we a Nuu-chah-nulth 
community but we are also culturally involved in that sort of ceremony. So, we 
can share with other Nuu-chah-nulth tribes, and connect that way. Through that 
ceremony, and that mask, we can probably trace back where those other masks 
are from as well.

“Above the man is sort of a serpent symbolizing the body of the headdress, 
connecting the two. It is to further connect us to Nuu-chah-nulth culture and 
express that. Above serpent is a bear and he’s got a little salmon in his mouth: a 
connection to the land and to the fish, our histories. At the top is a thunderbird. 
It’s a really common mythological being in North West Coast history.

“It’s not really at the top of the totem pole: people think there’s a hierarchy on the 
pole. the higher up you go, but that’s not really the case because if there was no 
bottom on the pole there would be no foundation. It wouldn’t stand at all. It’s the 
same with the middle. Without that, there would be no connection. The 
thunderbird is at the top because it comes from the sky. In all our legends, the 
thunderbird is really powerful. I wanted to have that.

Read more below

“How to tell between the eagle, the raven, other birds and the thunderbird is that 
the thunderbird has horns, they project off the top of the head. That’s how you 
can tell, by seeing that imagery, not just in prints but in sculptures as well.”

Watts also sees legendary Canadian artist Bill Reid as an inspiration.
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“I like to mention this. He [Reid] started doing art later on in his life. He was not 
really connected to his First Nations community, and art helped him get back to 
that. His work is pretty iconic.”

In Watts’s opinion, Reid played a big part in bringing First Nations art into the 
contemporary mainstream.

“He’s had so many public installations, Bill Reid, but, in my opinion, his 
contemporary style, was a lot further ahead than his traditional pieces. He was 
raised outside of his community and didn’t really have a connection with his 
culture, his ancestors, his territory, but art brought him back there.

“And that’s sort of a similar story for me. I grew up in Squamish. It was small 
back then. I grew up as a native kid and there were native people all around me 
but I didn’t really understand that my tradition and my ancestors were 
somewhere else. That it was Port Alberni and here where our ancestors are 
from.

“I didn’t really understand that until a lot of my friends got talking about events 
they’d been invited too. Then I’d say, ‘Can I come, too?’ and they’d say, ‘No, this 
is a Squamish Nation thing. You’re not Squamish.’

“Then I had to figure out where I came from. I found out my grandfather was 
from Port Alberni. His name was Chubby Watts; he really was chubby, too. I 
hope I don’t inherit that but I’m really glad I inherited the family, and the 
connection.”

Picture 4 of 11← →
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Carver Joshua Watts chats about one of the many resource books he recommends to those 

interested in learning more about the Nuu chah nulth culture of Lake Cowichan’s Ts’uubaa-

asatx First Nation. (Lexi Bainas/Gazette)
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Gabriola artist Liliana Kleiner presents Female Nature: Spirit Mother 
at Hive Emporium from April 18 to May 5. (Photo submitted)

Spirit Mother art show 
on Gabriola examines 
‘sacredness of 
femaleness’
Liliana Kleiner presents ‘Female Nature: 
Spirit Mother,’ her first local exhibition in 16 
years 
JOSEF JACOBSON / Apr. 16, 2019 7:30 

a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT
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Gabriola Island-based artist Liliana Kleiner often 
travels the world showcasing her art, but this month 
she’s exhibiting her work locally for the first time 
since 2003.

“I was just involved in other places,” she said of her 
local absence. “Wherever I am at the moment, that’s 
where I am showing.”

For the past 16 years Kleiner’s work has been 
shown around Vancouver Island and the Lower 
Mainland and as far as Central and South America, 
Europe and Israel. From April 18 to May 5, Kleiner, 
who is also a clinical psychologist specializing in 
Jungian dream analysis, presents Female Nature: 
Spirit Mother at Hive Emporium.

The show features work spanning the last 25 years, 
including paintings, prints, woodcuts, handmade 
organic papers and films. Kleiner’s dreamy, abstract 
folk art draws on her lifelong interest in mythology 
and “the sacredness of Mother Earth and the 
sacredness of femaleness.”

On April 27 she launches her newest book, Female 

Nature: Sacred Matter, at Gabriola Public Library, 
with a reading at Nanaimo Harbourfront Library the 
next day.
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“I think we are getting way out of balance and into a 
dead end with the relationships between the 
masculine and feminine energies, between thinking 
and science and feeling and Mother Earth,” she 
said. “So those themes have been of interest to me 
through mythology, through stories, through art and 
through dream work.”

Kleiner said she hopes the exhibition of her body of 
work can open people’s hearts and minds.

“As I see it, the intention of good art is to open 
people’s imaginations and open their heart, their 
depth of feeling, try to dream, bring more 
consciousness, more light, into this world,” she said.

WHAT’S ON … Opening reception for Female 
Nature: Spirit Mother at Hive Emporium on April 18 
at 6:30 p.m. Show runs to May 5. Artist talk on April 
21 at 1 p.m. Book launch at Nanaimo Harbourfront 
Library on April 28 at 2 p.m.

arts@nanaimobulletin.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter

181



Richard Hagensen and Joanne Banks of the Campbell River chapter 
of the Council of Canadians approached council last April about 
plastic use. File photo/Campbell River Mirror

Plastic use is subject of 
Earth Week event at 
library
Drop-in event features displays, films and 
more on Saturday afternoon 
MIKE CHOUINARD / Apr. 22, 2019 1:30 p.m. / LOCAL 

NEWS / NEWS

A number of organizations asked the City of 
Campbell River to consider a ban on single-use 
plastic bags last fall.

This weekend, they’re collaborating to hold Getting 
Beyond Single Use Plastic on Saturday afternoon. 
The event is organized by the Council of Canadians 
– Campbell River chapter, Campbell River
Environmental Committee, Sierra Club – Quadra
Island chapter and Citizens for Quality Health Care.
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“It was the four groups that signed the letter to the 
city,” says Richard Hagensen of the local Council of 
Canadians chapter.

At present, 14 B.C. communities have either banned 
single-use plastic bags and, in some cases, other 
single-use plastic, or are in the process of doing so.

“The message we’re trying to give out is basically 
move away from plastics,” he says.

The City of Campbell River asked staff to learn what 
other communities are doing and prepare a report.

“They also want to take some time and poll the local 
businesses to see what the impacts would be and 
what their plans are,” he says.

RELATED STORY: Campbell River City Council 
urged to ban plastic bags

The organizations are concerned by what they see 
as the planet choking on plastic, so they wanted to 
organize something this weekend, in part because 
of other environmental event.

“It sort of follows up with Earth Week,” says Joanne 
Banks, also of the Council of Canadians.

The two had approached the city before about 
banning bottled water at city facilities and events.
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Hagensen also recently conducted a walkabout of a 
couple of blocks around their home and found about 
20 single-use plastic bags discarded, as well as 
various plastic items and other garbage.

“He sort of documented what he picked up,” Banks 
says.

“It’s near a creek too that feeds an ocean,” 
Hagensen adds.

RELATED STORY: Campbell River city council 
considering going ‘blue’

The Getting Beyond Single Use Plastic event takes 
place at the Campbell River branch of the 
Vancouver Island Regional Library at 124o 
Shoppers Row, from 1 to 4 p.m. on April 27.

“One of our members is doing plastic fashion,” 
Banks says. “She’s going to be making something 
out of all plastics.”

The event will feature displays, including alternatives 
to plastic, prizes and a couple of films, including an 
episode from CBC’s Marketplace on supermarket 
use of plastic bags and packaging and another short 
film looking at the annual Earth Day beach clean-up 
on Quadra, which is again scheduled for this 
weekend on Sunday, April 28 from 10 a.m. to 3 p.m., 
with the headquarters for the event at Rebecca Spit.
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RELATED STORY: Strathcona Regional District 
asks for local clean-up help from aquaculture 
company

For more information on Getting Beyond Single Use 
Plastic, email surfdust@telus.net or call 250-286-
3019.
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District of North Saanich had hoped to install a library at the 
Panorama Rec Centre. (File photo)

North Saanich 
stumped after land 
board rejects new 
library bid
District questions if Agricultural Land 
Commission interpreting rules in a new 
way 
NICK MURRAY / Apr. 26, 2019 3:30 p.m. / COMMUNITY

The District of North Saanich was left surprised after 
its bid to construct a library on a piece of the 
Panorama Recreation Centre site was rejected by 
the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC).

In a ruling dated April 2, the ALC Executive 
Committee refused two April 6, 2018 applications 
submitted by North Saanich to: (1) Subdivide a 0.8 
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ha (2.0 ac) parcel, and (2) Conduct a Non-Farm Use 
activity (library) within the Agricultural Land Reserve 
on the subdivided parcel.

ALSO READ: Human Rights museum to restore 
Coast Salish artist’s Witness Blanket

Mayor Geoff Orr said the decision was unexpected 
and council needed to discuss whether this was an 
anomalous decision that should be appealed or if it 
was part of a new interpretation of the spirit of the 
rules by the ALC, necessitating a change in future 
strategy.

“The Agricultural Land Commission decision to 
refuse the North Saanich applications will initiate a 
reassessment of the proposal to construct a library 
on the Panorama Recreation Centre parcel,” said 
Orr. “District staff will take some time to review the 
Executive Committee decision internally and also 
consult with Vancouver Island Regional Library 
representatives, Panorama Recreation Centre staff, 
the municipalities of Central Saanich and Sidney, 
and Capital Regional District staff to determine the 
next steps.”

ALSO READ: New commemorative loonie 
marking progress for LGBTQ2+ rights draws 
mixed response
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The extensive consultation is now needed to decide 
if a new library is viable on the proposed site or if 
alternatives should be explored, such as building 
one elsewhere or expanding other facilities outside 
North Saanich.

The ALC Executive Committee acknowledged that 
there is a long history of approvals having been 
granted for non-farm uses on the 6.4 ha (16.0 ac) 
site. They also stated that the two current district 
applications are “…consistent with the history of 
approvals on the property for non-farm uses,” but 
“…not consistent with its [ALC sic] purpose to 
preserve agricultural land or encourage farming on 
agricultural land…”

ALSO READ: French for the Future event to host 
300 students in Victoria

The Panorama was only going to be sub-divided for 
the library and Orr says because the current 
proposal is now on hold, there are no further plans 
to develop the rec centre with other initiatives. 
Worryingly, he says if this decision is indicative of a 
new interpretation of the rules by the ALC, the 
Panorama might have difficulty being developed in 
the future.
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Council are scheduled to meet May 6, but Orr says it 
is unclear whether the ALC’s decision will be 
discussed then or at a later meeting. From an 
administrative perspective, there is no rush as the 
District have a year to appeal the ruling.

nick.murray@peninsulanewsreview.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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Comox Valley’s first-ever poet laureate, Kevin Flesher, was the MC 
for the “elimination” round. Photo supplied

Final four determined 
in Comox Valley Poet 
Laureate Search
Apr. 27, 2019 6:00 a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

The house was full, not only with poetry supporters 
and enthusiasts, but flowing with wise, sharp and 
insightful words.

It was round one of the third Comox Valley Poet 
Laureate Search, Monday night (April 22) at 
Michael’s Off Main, and the energy in the room 
swelled with a wealth of talent and enthusiasm.

RELATED: 11 hopefuls vying for title of Comox 
Valley poet laureate
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Then, after the last poet had stepped from the stage 
and the judges had huddled for an hour, the list of 11 
applicants had been whittled to four finalists: 
Lawrence Cooper, Michael Datura, Pamela DeWolf 
and Taryn Goodwin.

They will now face off in the finals, coming this 
Monday (April 29) at Michaels, and a winner will be 
declared.

“All of the participants were masterful in their 
command of language and ability to weave tales, 
express emotion and paint mental pictures,” said 
CVPL committee chair Wendy Nixon Stothert.

The judges found it quite challenging to determine 
the finalists, she added.

The CVPL Search is a project of Comox Valley Arts, 
the local arts council.

Prior to the public portion of this Monday’s event, the 
judging panel will be interviewing each of the final 
four.

Then the poets will each have two, three-minute 
readings of their works, followed by several ‘on-the-
spot poetry challenges’ and then an assigned poem: 
“Why I Want to be CV Poet Laureate.”
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The judging panel will then take a short time to 
confer before announcing who will wear the title 
2019-2021 Comox Valley Poet Laureate.

The winner gets a $2,000 honorarium, paid in 
instalments, over the two-year term. Sponsors 
include the Comox Valley District Teachers 
Association, School District 71, Vancouver Island 
Regional Library, 97.3 The Eagle, North Island 
College, the City of Courtenay, Island Word, and 
Sure Copy.

The judging panel includes NIC English instructor 
and award-winning poet Jordan Scott, outgoing 
CVPL Natalie Nickerson, and rap artist Eric Ettinger.

Normally a breakfast/brunch place, Michael’s is 
opening Monday evening especially for this event 
and has put on a menu of desserts and light meals, 
with Cumberland Brewing Forest Fog on tap.

Entrance to the event is free, but donations will be 
collected for the CVPL honorarium.
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2019 City of Nanaimo 
property tax increase set at 5 
per cent
nanaimonewsnow.com
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N

The 2019 property tax increase is the 
largest in several years.File 
photo/NanaimoNewsNOW

ANAIMO — Home owners will grapple with one of the larg
est property tax increases in recent years.

Nanaimo councillors on Monday, April 29 approved setting the 2019 
property tax increase at five per cent.

Four per cent of the increase is for a general tax increase, funding 
City services, initiatives and employment. The other one per cent will 
allocate $1 million to the general asset management reserve.

Including tax increases for the Vancouver Island Regional Library, the 
Nanaimo Regional Hospital and the Regional District, the total tax 
increase comes to slightly more than six per cent.

City of Nanaimo staff said the average Nanaimo home, valued at 
roughly $516,000, with pay slightly more than $2,100 in property tax 
in 2019.

Roughly $50 a year was already added to the bill an average Nanaimo 
home would handle for increased user rates.

The average property tax increase in Nanaimo in the last 10 years 
hovers around two per cent.

The proposed 2020 property tax increase is estimated to be 3.6 per 
cent, falling to 2.9 per cent in 2021.

info@nanaimonewsnow.com

On Twitter: @nanaimonewsnow
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The 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest awards were presented at a ceremony on April 
27th in Nanaimo.

Co-sponsored by the Nanaimo Arts Council, the Vancouver Island Regional Library, and 
the Vancouver Island University Department of Creative Writing and Journalism, the 
awards are open to writers on Vancouver Island and the Gulf Islands. 127 entries were 
received this year across three categories: Adult, Youth, and Junior.

Winner of 1st-prize in the Adult category, as chosen by judge Stephen Guppy, was Katy 
Weicker of Victoria for her story “Tinder Embers.” Noted Guppy: “The narrator of 
‘Tinder Embers’ is the anti-heroine of an anti-romance; the author has taken the formula 
romance and turned it on its head.” (Read Stephen Guppy’s complete remarks on the 
winners below.)

Second-prize went to Jonathan Sean Lyster of Parksville for “Target Market,” while 
Dawn Stofer of Denman Island won third-prize for “Identities Reclaimed.”

2019 ISLANDS SHORT FICTION CONTEST AWARDS 
PRESENTED
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Receiving Honourable Mentions were Robert Bowerman (Nanaimo) for “I’ve Got You 
Now,” Jim Creighton (Campbell River) for “Old Growth,” Cornelia Hoogland (Hornby 
Island) for “1-800-WHERE-R-YOU,” David Reichheld (Sooke) for “Let Morning Bring 
Me,” and Délani Valin (Nanaimo) for “Potemkin.”

In the Youth category, the first-prize winner was Charlotte Taylor of Nanaimo for “Calm 
Before the Storm,” of which judge Lee Losell said, “This beautifully written piece begins 
with a low tension that builds throughout the story until we arrive at an ending we 
suddenly realize was inevitable.” Second-prize was awarded to Yinan Cao (Nanaimo) for 
“Stray” and Jocelyn Diemer (Campbell River) received third-prize for “Burning Away.”

Honourable mentions went to Kaitlyn Ha (Nanaimo) for “Clouds” and Linnea Wiggers 
(Nanaimo) for “The Adventure of Arthur May.”

Of the first-prize story in the Junior category, “The Old Clock” by Thunya Dudley of 
Nanoose, judge Nathan McKay said, “This is a cool mix of fantastical and realistic. 
There’s wild stuff with elves and glow pumpkins and wishes but it’s grounded by a main 
character with very human motivation . . . . Great stuff!” The second-prize winner was 
Esmé Iverson (Duncan) for “The Patchwork Girl” while third-prize went to Carolynn 
Warren (Comox) for “The Super Cookie.”

Honourable mentions in the Junior category were awarded to Caroline Edwin (Campbell 
River) for “Adventures in the World,” Cadence Millsap (Nanaimo) for “The Miraculous 
Tales of Butterfly and Bee,” Julia Ratzlaff (Nanaimo) for “The Dove Diamond,” Tarika 
Stitt (Nanaimo) for “The Origin of Thought,” and Franklin Warren (Comox) for “Almiro’s 
Tales.”

Over $2200 in cash and prizes was awarded.

The Islands Short Fiction Contest is made possible by financial support from the 
Province of British Columbia, the City of Nanaimo, and Vancouver Island University. 
Most of the winning stories will be posted shortly on this website, where past winners 
may also be read.

Judge Stephen Guppy on the winners and honourable mentions in the Adult category:

I enjoyed reading through the entries in this year’s contest. Every entry had something 
to offer in terms of entertainment value, and most were well-written and constructed 
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around a worthwhile concept. Nanaimo obviously boasts a vibrant community of fiction 
writers.

Winnowing down the lengthy list of entries was a challenging task. A few narratives 
simply didn’t fulfil the genre criterion: this is a short fiction contest, and memoirs, 
travelogues, and philosophical essays—however interesting they might be on their own 
terms—don’t qualify. Quite a few stories have real potential but seem to be a draft or 
two away from completion—typically, the conflict is too vague or appears too late in the 
narrative. “Go straight to the heart of the conflict” is the best advice I can give to writers 
of short fiction: it’s often the difference between a story that gets published and finds 
an audience and one that doesn’t.

I hope the writers who shared their work with us will continue to revise and develop 
their stories: there’s no shortage of potential here.

1st Prize: “Tinder Embers” (Katy Weicker, Victoria)
The narrator of “Tinder Embers” is the anti-heroine of an anti-romance; the author has 
taken the formula romance and turned it on its head. The use of social media as a 
device for involving the narrator with an “off-stage” character who functions as a foil is 
particularly effective.

2nd Prize: “Target Market” (Jonathan Sean Lyster, Parksville)
“Target Market” is a science fiction story that’s built around an original concept, one 
that’s particularly appropriate in the context of a writing contest. The resolution is 
understated but chilling.

3rd Prize: “Identities Reclaimed” (Judith Stofer, use DAWN STOFER, Denman Island)
“Identities Reclaimed” is original, funny, and hip. While quite a few first-person stories 
feature an unreliable narrator, the central figure of this story isn’t so much unreliable as 
profoundly quirky—her perspective is refreshingly strange.

Honourable Mention:

“Potemkin” (Delani Valin, Nanaimo) is a well-crafted story with a simple but intriguing 
plot structure. The voice is engaging, the transitions are clear and incisive, and the 
prose style is interesting without being obtrusive. 
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“Old Growth” (Jim Creighton, Campbell River) makes effective use of an unreliable 
narrator to set us up for a convincing resolution. The narrator’s voice, rooted in a 
clearly-imagined place and time, carries this story. 

“1-800-WHERE-R-YOU” (Cornelia Hoogland, Hornby Island) features some enjoyable 
poetic prose and imagery. 

“Let Morning Bring Me” (David Reichheld, Sooke) is richly descriptive and does a good 
job of representing a sweep of time. 

“I’ve Got You Now” (Robert Bowerman, Nanaimo) includes a couple of strong 
characters and exploits the parallels and contrasts between them—that’s always an 
important technique for fiction writers. 

Nicole Potvin reads the 1st-prize winning entry in the Adult category, “Tinder Embers,” while author Katy Weicker looks 
on via video link from Victoria
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John Kuby of Comox has written a book: No Quit in Me: My wild ride 
with tongue cancer.

Author shows 
connection between 
sexual revolution and 
throat cancer epidemic
May. 2, 2019 1:30 p.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

When John Kuby, a 68-year-old snowboarder and 
mountain biker, was diagnosed with tongue cancer 
three years ago, he had no idea his body had been 
carrying a viral infection. One that he got from a 
sexual partner, probably in his 20s.

The cancer-causing human papilloma virus (HPV) is 
transmitted sexually. Since the 1960s, men and 
women have been having more sexual partners. 
The pill made it safer to have sex. However, oral sex 
is not safe when it comes to HPV because the virus 
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is hosted in the cavities of the mouth as well as the 
genital areas. Hence, we are now experiencing a 
proliferation of HPV cancers. Kuby is one of the 
many men of the boomer generation being hit with 
this.

It is almost common knowledge that HPV causes 
cervical cancer in women. That is why girls are 
vaccinated in Grade 6. What is not well known is 
that men also have the HPV virus in them. If it 
manifests as cancer, it is most often oropharyngeal 
(tongue or throat) cancer, usually in men Kuby’s 
age.

Now that the medical community is aware of the 
connection of HPV to tongue cancer, boys are also 
being vaccinated in Grade 6, before they become 
sexually active.

Most of us contract HPV viruses during sex, but in 
most cases our body’s natural defences take care of 
any infections within a year or two without any 
symptoms. But some of the infections lie dormant 
and manifest as cancers years later.

HPV can cause four other types of cancers: anal, 
penal, vulvar and vaginal cancer make up 30 per 
cent of all HPV cancers. Cervical cancer comprises 
35 per cent, and oropharyngeal cancer 35 per cent. 
Fortunately, vaccines prevent each of these, as well 
as the HPV-caused genital warts.
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Unfortunately, most of us have not had the vaccine. 
Head and neck cancer are the sixth most prevalent 
cancer worldwide, and HPV-related cancers are the 
fastest growing sexually transmitted disease.

For young people, the HPV vaccination is effective 
up to age 26. If you have not been vaccinated, visit 
your local community health centre and ask for your 
shots. You will need three of them and there may be 
a cost.

For older people, there is a mini-epidemic of tongue 
and throat cancers in men of the baby boomer 
generation.

As baby boomer Kuby shows in his cancer 
experience book — No Quit in Me: My wild ride with 
tongue cancer — this is an ugly, ugly cancer.

In the year he spent recovering from cancer and 
radiation/chemotherapy treatment, Kuby endured a 
steady barrage of challenges: throat pains, burning 
inside and outside his throat, mouth sores, thrush, 
swallowing problem, random burning sensations, 
constipation, vomiting, choking, facial disfiguration, 
turkey neck, mucus management issues, dry mouth, 
sleep deprivation and fear. For a month he was not 
able to speak, and for five months was fed through a 
tube. He was exhausted, weak and gaunt. He 
survived it all, only to be left with memory loss, brain 
fog and depression.
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No one wants to go through all that. But, Kuby’s 
sense of humour, openness to experience and 
appreciation for all the help from his caregivers 
makes the story of getting back to snowboarding 
and mountain biking an inspirational adventure.

Laughing Oyster Bookstore is hosting the launch of 
Kuby’s book at the Courtenay library, from 6:30-8 
p.m. on Tuesday, May 21. He will read, talk about
his adventures with tongue cancer, and sign books.

Visit the book’s website at www.noquitinme.ca 
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Mirror fishing columnist Don Daniels says that getting away from 
shore, by whatever means you like, will lead to greater success on 
the local lakes right now. Photo by Don Daniels

Fly tying lessons done 
for now, I’m going 
fishing
Also a few tips on what’s working right now 
on the local lakes 
May. 3, 2019 1:30 a.m. / COLUMNISTS / OPINION

For the past number of years, I’ve been gathering 
people of all ages together to learn the basics of 
tying a fishing fly.

This year I had three sessions at the Campbell River 
library and we finished last Sunday.

The first group met at the Seniors Centre and we 
had 14 people who attended.

204



Here in Campbell River we live in the fishing zone 
and I found the people moving here from other 
provinces are interested in fly fishing who get 
satisfaction from catching a fish with a fly they have 
made themselves.

But it’s not just about teaching for me. I also get to 
learn from the people who have sat down and 
learned the basic steps to making a fly.It’s also really 
gratifying to see that seniors (both ladies and men) 
and children can sit together and concentrate on 
tying a fly pattern that will catch fish. 

Generations coming together.

When we get together materials are supplied at no 
charge and when we spend a few hours of basic 
instruction and then the participants can advance at 
their own speed.

Dennis King, a long time resident of Campbell River, 
has come out to the sessions and he has a number 
of fishing related stories that I will pass on later in 
the year. I start the fly tying for beginners in late 
January and times and dates and location will be 
announced.

But for now, I’m taking a break to focus on actually 
fishing.
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The weather is getting warmer and the campers are 
getting out with some areas still closed and the 
roads can be lumpy, so take care when heading out.

In mid March, lake water temperature was around 
10 degrees and the warmer weather will attract 
swimmers to the lakes for swimming but it’s early 
and the water is still cold.

Shore fishing using worms is working but I find to 
get out a few more yards will improve fishing for you.

While we are waiting for the bug hatch to happen 
(and it will), those using spinning gear are getting 
fish.

Since I fly fish I was trying to guess what the trout 
were feeding on and I changed to a Tom Thumb fly 
and I hooked into a small rainbow trout on a sinking 
line.

One fun thing about fishing when things slow down 
is that those fishing beside you are willing to tell 
some stories. One guy told me to fish only at 2 p.m. 
as the hatchery feeds the fish at that time of day. 
Someone else had told me that Echo Lake has 
small trout about two inches and he noticed the 
small fish close to shore. Yes there are small fish 
close to shore but they are stickleback minnows and 
trout love to feed on them.
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I get a chance to fish the local lakes and will report 
as information comes available, so watch this space 
for updates. You can fly fish local lakes from shore 
but you need waders to get in deeper water or use a 
belly boat or pontoon boat to get around. I know 
people use kayaks to fish out of but it’s not my cup 
of tea.

Now is the time to fish the stump farm. More on that 
next week.
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Author Diana Stevan has two novels out and will release her third, 
Sunflowers Under Fire, around Mother’s Day.

Vancouver Island 
author taps into 
mother’s stories for 
novel
Diana Stevan explores new terrain with a 
book launched with Mother’s Day in mind 
MIKE CHOUINARD / May. 3, 2019 9:30 a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT

For Vancouver Island author Diana Stevan, her 
latest novel is inspired by her mother and 
grandmother, so she wanted to publish it around the 
same time as Mother’s Day.

Sunflowers Under Fire tells the saga of a Ukrainian 
farm wife named Lukia Mazurets, who relies on her 
faith and wits to survive in western Russia during a 
tumultuous period of history, from 1915 to 1929, one 
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that includes the Great War, the Bolshevik 
Revolution, the resulting civil wars and the Polish 
occupation.

The book marks a bit of departure for Stevan from 
her previous books.

“This is a whole other chapter of my life,” she says. 
“They’re all very different.”

The novel grew out of the stories her mother told 
around the dinner table, including ones about 
Stevan’s grandmother, who gave birth to eight 
children, and her life before leaving the old country. 
She says her grandmother showed her the power of 
a mother’s love, which is why she wanted to publish 
it in time for Mother’s Day.

“I feel like I not only discovered her but those times,” 
she says. “There was such a story there that I had to 
tell.”

She is also thankful she made a point of writing her 
mother’s family stories down. With this book, she 
draws comparisons to literary works such as 
Madeleine Thien’s Do Not Say We Have Nothing, 
Rohinton Mistry’s A Fine Balance and Frank 
McCourt’s Angela’s Ashes.
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The book has already been published online where 
it has received positive reviews. Following a May 7 
launch of the printed version in Campbell River, she 
is also holding book release events in Courtenay at 
the VIRL branch on May 17 at 2 p.m. and at the 
VIRL’s Harbourfront branch in Nanaimo on May 24 
at 2 p.m.

Stevan plans to read a short chapter at the event 
and talk about how the book came together. This 
included researching modern-day Ukraine in what 
was part of Russia during the time-span of the 
novel. This included researching online along with 
heading to libraries in Vancouver, Toronto, New York 
and Stamford, Conn. Stevan also communicated 
with a professor of Slavic studies to learn more.

While she dipped into her treasure trove of family 
stories, she felt there were too many gaps in the tale 
to turn the project into a work of creative non-fiction. 
She had to rely on her imagination to create some of 
the settings, conversations and supporting 
characters, which really left her with the choice to 
turn this into a novel.

“I had to invent so much,” she says.

RELATED STORY: Writer’s novel based on job she 
couldn’t let go of
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Stevan has had experience with long-form fiction, as 
she had written a couple of full-length novels 
already. Her book, The Rubber Fence, was based 
on her experience working in a psychiatric ward 
during the early 1970s. It, in turn, was a departure 
from the previous book, A Cry From The Deep, 
which is described as as “time-slip romantic 
adventure/mystery,” set in Provence, Manhattan and 
Ireland.

RELATED STORY: Young filmmaker returns from 
Hollywood to screen award-winning movie in 
Campbell River

Along with fiction, Stevan has written for a variety of 
publications, including academia, travel and fitness 
pieces for newspapers, and she was a freelance 
writer-broadcaster for CBC TV’s Sports Journal. She 
has also worked as an actor, and has even 
collaborated with grandson and filmmaker Michael 
Stevantoni on a film project. Her website bio states 
she spends her time between West Vancouver and 
Campbell River.
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Campbell Riverites get 
Honourable mentions 
in Islands Short Fiction 
Contest
The awards are open to writers on 
Vancouver Island and the Gulf Islands 
May. 7, 2019 1:30 a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

Three Campbell Riverites received honourable 
Mentions in the 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest 
awards presented at a ceremony on April 27 in 
Nanaimo.

Co-sponsored by the Nanaimo Arts Council, the 
Vancouver Island Regional Library, and the 
Vancouver Island University Department of Creative 
Writing and Journalism, the awards are open to 
writers on Vancouver Island and the Gulf Islands. 
127 entries were received this year across three 
categories: Adult, Youth, and Junior.

Winner of first prize in the Adult category, as chosen 
by judge Stephen Guppy, was Katy Weicker of 
Victoria for her story “Tinder Embers.” Noted Guppy: 
“The narrator of ‘Tinder Embers’ is the anti-heroine 
of an anti-romance; the author has taken the formula 
romance and turned it on its head.” Second-prize 
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went to Jonathan Sean Lyster of Parksville for 
“Target Market,” while Dawn Stofer of Denman 
Island won third-prize for “Identities Reclaimed.”

Receiving Honourable Mentions were Robert 
Bowerman (Nanaimo) for “I’ve Got You Now,” Jim 
Creighton (Campbell River) for “Old Growth,” 
Cornelia Hoogland (Hornby Island) for “1-800-
WHERE-R-YOU,” David Reichheld (Sooke) for “Let 
Morning Bring Me,” and Délani Valin (Nanaimo) for 
“Potemkin.”

In the Youth category, the first-prize winner was 
Charlotte Taylor of Nanaimo for “Calm Before the 
Storm,” of which judge Lee Losell said, “This 
beautifully written piece begins with a low tension 
that builds throughout the story until we arrive at an 
ending we suddenly realize was inevitable.” Second-
prize was awarded to Yinan Cao (Nanaimo) for 
“Stray” and Jocelyn Diemer (Campbell River) 
received third-prize for “Burning Away.”

Honourable mentions went to Kaitlyn Ha (Nanaimo) 
for “Clouds” and Linnea Wiggers (Nanaimo) for “The 
Adventure of Arthur May.”

Of the first-prize story in the Junior category, “The 
Old Clock” by Thunya Dudley of Nanoose, judge 
Nathan McKay said, “This is a cool mix of fantastical 
and realistic. There’s wild stuff with elves and glow 
pumpkins and wishes but it’s grounded by a main 
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character with very human motivation … . Great 
stuff!” The second-prize winner was Esmé Iverson 
(Duncan) for “The Patchwork Girl” while third-prize 
went to Carolynn Warren (Comox) for “The Super 
Cookie.”

Honourable mentions in the Junior category were 
awarded to Caroline Edwin (Campbell River) for 
“Adventures in the World,” Cadence Millsap 
(Nanaimo) for “The Miraculous Tales of Butterfly and 
Bee,” Julia Ratzlaff (Nanaimo) for “The Dove 
Diamond,” Tarika Stitt (Nanaimo) for “The Origin of 
Thought,” and Franklin Warren (Comox) for “Almiro’s 
Tales.”

Over $2200 in cash and prizes was awarded.

The Islands Short Fiction Contest is made possible 
by financial support from the Province of British 
Columbia, the City of Nanaimo, and Vancouver 
Island University. Most of the winning stories will be 
posted shortly on the contest website at 
https://isfc.ca, where past winners may also be read.
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Sooke writer earns 
accolades in short 
fiction contest
David Reichheld wins honourable at the 
2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest 
May. 7, 2019 2:00 p.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

Sooke writer David Reichheld won honourable at the 
2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest awards for his 
work Let Morning Bring Me.

Co-sponsored by the Nanaimo Arts Council, the 
Vancouver Island Regional Library, and Vancouver 
Island University, the awards are open to writers on 
Vancouver Island and the Gulf Islands.

More than $2,200 in cash and prizes was awarded.

215



ALSO READ: Shaping words into stories

A total of 127 entries were received this year across 
three categories: adult, youth, and junior.

Winners included:

Adult – 1. Katy Weicker, Victoria; 2. Jonathan Sean 
Lyster, Parksville; Dawn Stofer, Denman Island.

Youth – 1. Charlotte Taylor, Nanaimo; 2. Yinan Cao, 
Nanaimo; 3. Jocelyn Diemer, Campbell River.

Junior – 1. Thunya Dudley, Nanoose; 2. Esmé 
Iverson, Duncan; Carolynn Warren, Comox.

Most of the winning stories will be posted on the 
contest website at www.isfc.ca, where past winners 
may also be read.

editor@sookenewsmirror.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter

216



Campbell River author 
presenting excerpts 
from her latest novel at 
Courtenay Library
May. 9, 2019 1:30 a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

Author Diana Stevan of Campbell River will be 
reading from her latest novel, Sunflowers Under 

Fire, at the Courtenay Public Library on Friday, May 
17 at 2 p.m.

Prior to the reading, she’ll be giving a short 
PowerPoint presentation on how she used family 
history to write her novel based on her 
grandmother’s life in western Russia (present-day 
Ukraine) duringthe First World War, the Bolshevik 
Revolution, the civil wars and the Polish occupation.
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Raised in Winnipeg, Stevan shared a bedroom with 
her baba until she was 15, but her grandmother 
never talked about life in the old country.

“She helped raise me but I never knew the horrors 
she faced before she came to Canada in 1929,” 
Stevan said. “She probably kept things inside, much 
like soldiers do when they come back from war. To 
talk about the past would’ve reawakened the trauma 
of what they’d gone through.”

After her baba died, Stevan’s mother, a natural-born 
storyteller, would talk about life in Volhynia, an 
oblast (province) of Ukraine and the impact of all the 
wars on the family. Stevan recorded them and later, 
encouraged by her own granddaughter, decided to 
write the story.

Stevan’s grandmother, Lukia Mazurets, was an 
uneducated Ukrainian farmwife and mother of eight, 
but her love of family, wits, and faith got her through 
one of the most tumultuous times in Russian history. 
It’s an inspirational story, one that shows the lengths 
an ordinary woman will go through to keep her 
family together.

And with the ongoing news about Russia and 
Ukraine, Sunflowers Under Fire shows how the 
seeds of this ongoing conflict were planted 
generations ago. It started well before the Tsars took 
power and continues to today.
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Stevan hopes her story will also underline the 
difficult choices all immigrants make when they 
leave the land of their birth. “No one leaves a 
country that serves them well. They leave when 
there’s little hope for themselves and/or their loved 
ones.”

This is Stevan’s third novel. Her first novel, A Cry 

From The Deep, is a romantic mystery/ adventure 
set in Manhattan and Ireland; her second is The 

Rubber Fence, women’s fiction set on a psychiatric 
ward in a Winnipeg hospital. She’s also written a 
coming-of-age novelette, The Blue Nightgown, also 
set in Winnipeg. With their two daughters grown, 
Stevan lives with her husband Robert in Campbell 
River and West Vancouver. When she isn’t writing, 
she loves to travel, read, garden, and visit her family.
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LATEST NEWS Jack Knox: Mother’s Day is a chance to apologize, at 
least

Nanaimo property taxes up 5 per cent 

Nanaimo property taxes are rising by ve per cent — $99 on an average home 
— now that city council has approved its new nancial plan.

An average Nanaimo home is assessed at $516,418. This year’s property taxes 
for such a property will be $2,102, up from $2,003 last year.

In addition, water fees will be increasing by $38 to $552 for a typical home. 
Sewer and sanitation fees will each rise by $5.

Total taxes and municipal fees on the average home will be $2,959, an increase 
of $147 from 2018. Nanaimo council approved its latest ve-year nancial plan 
and set the tax rate this week.

The tax bill going to homeowners also includes levies for the Vancouver Island 
Regional Library, the Regional District of Nanaimo, the Nanaimo Regional 
Hospital District, the school district, B.C. Assessment and the Municipal Finance 
Authority. Those additional taxes add up to $1,462 on the average home, up by 
$65 from last year.

The total rate for an average home once all charges are included will be $4,421, 
up by $212.

The city anticipates tax increases on its portion of the bill to drop in subsequent 
years, with expected property-tax increases of 3.6 per cent next year, 2.9 per 
cent in 2021, 2.8 per cent in 2022, and 1.4 per cent in 2023.

This year’s property-tax increase includes one percentage point for a higher 
contribution to a city reserve fund to maintain and upgrade infrastructure.

The budget allows for increased engagement with residents, new positions in 
the Nanaimo Fire Department, in the bylaw sections and RCMP.
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Funds also will go to replacing the main re hall. A transportation co-ordinator 
job is included as well.

Hiring of an engineering development technician is expected to reduce 
development approval times.

© 2019 Copyright Times Colonist

Man charged with 
rst-degree murder in 

Brentwood Bay slaying

Young Hannah Day 
loses her battle with 
cancer

Blue-box recyclables 
no longer accepted at 
local Bottle Depots

Fire in former 
nightclub causes 
estimated $150,000 in 
damage

Historic Plaza Hotel 
more than just home 
to a strip club

Roll out of higher CPP 
costs expected to 
a ect HR budgets for 
wages, bene ts

Search continues for 
hotel caretaker 
missing since re

Highlands residents 
gird for ght against 
quarry proposal

One dead, two 
seriously injured in 
‘violent struggle’ at 
Brentwood Bay home

Eight police cruisers 
chase van through 
Nanaimo

Carriers 
wanted

GET A JOB 
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FLYERS
The Times Colonist is 
looking for people to 
deliver yers every 
Thursday ...

221



ASPENGROVE STUDENT WINS 
ISLANDS SHORT FICTION 
AWARD 

Charlotte, winner of the 2019 Islands Short Fiction Award 
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We are very proud to let you now that one of our very own, Charlotte T., who 
established herself as a playwright last year, has been awarded first prize in the youth 
category for the 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest. 
The Islands Short Fiction Contest is a collaboration by the Nanaimo Arts Council, 
Vancouver Island Regional Library, and Vancouver Island University Creative 
Writing Department. Charlotte received a monetary award and her story will be 
published in their anthology later this year. 
Here is what Lee Losell, the judge for the 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest, Youth 
Category, said of Charlotte story, Calm Before the Storm:  
“This beautifully written piece begins with a low tension that builds throughout the 
story until we arrive at an end that we suddenly realize was inevitable. The sparse 
but realistic dialogue, and the seemingly innocuous scenes of a family arriving at 
their beach house for what should be just another family vacation, belie the 
unnerving sense that something is very wrong under the surface. With beautifully 
paced writing, the reader is slowly drawn into the increasingly detached inner world 
of the protagonist who seems to be seeing familiar things as if for the first time, and 
with some discomfort. And this new vision propels us along with her, towards her 
ultimate loss of control.” 
More information can be found on the Contest Website: https://isfc.ca/ 
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Painter Carla Stein will be displaying works from her new Trees of 
Life series during the Hammond Bay Studio Tour. (Photos courtesy 
Carla Stein)

Nanaimo artists open 
their doors for 
Hammond Bay Studio 
Tour
More than 20 artists from various 
disciplines will have new work on display 
JOSEF JACOBSON / May. 14, 2019 8:30 

a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT

Carla Stein said the Hammond Bay Studio Tour has 
helped open her work to a wider audience.

Since joining the annual show and sale four years 
ago, the local painter said she’s had art aficionados 
from across the Island and Vancouver drop by her 
home studio to talk art and purchase pieces.
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“To have my art seen by people who might 
otherwise not be aware of it or be able to view it 
because of where they live has been a really great 
experience on all sorts of different levels,” she said.

ADVERTISEMENT

The 2019 edition of the tour takes place on May 25 
and 26. The tour will feature work by the group’s 11 
permanent members as well as 12 guest members, 
including paintings, photography, ceramics, 
woodwork, glasswork, metalwork and textile art.

While the artists are spread out along Hammond 
Bay Road and its arteries, their work can also be 
viewed all together at the Hammond Bay Serious 
Coffee location and at the Nanaimo North Library.

Stein said she’s looking forward to the conversations 
she’ll share with her visitors. She said it can be a 
learning experience.
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“Lots of people come because they’re collectors, but 
also a lot of people come because they’re budding 
artists themselves,” she said. “And so you get to do 
a little bit of mentoring and get to know people and 
it’s just an all-around really positive experience.”

WHAT’S ON … Hammond Bay Studio Tour takes 
place on Saturday and Sunday, May 25 and 26 from 
10 a.m. to 4 p.m. Click here for the full artist list and 
map. No pets.

arts@nanaimobulletin.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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Craig Spence photo Awards for the 2019 Islands Short Fiction 
Contest were held in Nanaimo on April 27.

Parksville, Nanoose 
writers take home 
awards at short fiction 
contest
127 entries were received this year across 
three categories 
May. 14, 2019 1:30 a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL 

ENTERTAINMENT

Residents from Parksville and Nanoose took home 
awards at the 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest.

Awards were presented at a ceremony on April 27 in 
Nanaimo. Co-sponsored by the Nanaimo Arts 
Council, the Vancouver Island Regional Library, and 
the Vancouver Island University Department of 
Creative Writing and Journalism, the awards are 
open to writers on Vancouver Island and the Gulf 
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Islands. One hundred and twenty-seven entries 
were received this year across three categories: 
Adult, Youth, and Junior.

The first-prize story in the Junior category went to 
Thunya Dudley of Nanoose for her story The Old 

Clock.

“[The Old Clock] is a cool mix of fantastical and 
realistic,” said judge Nathan McKay. “There’s wild 
stuff with elves and glow pumpkins and wishes but 
it’s grounded by a main character with very human 
motivation.” 

The second-prize winner in the category was Esmé 
Iverson (Duncan) for The Patchwork Girl while third-
prize went to Carolynn Warren (Comox) for The 

Super Cookie.

RELATED: Rebecca Snow wins writing contest

Winner of first-prize in the Adult category, as chosen 
by judge Stephen Guppy, was Katy Weicker of 
Victoria for her story Tinder Embers. 

Second-prize went to Jonathan Sean Lyster of 
Parksville for Target Market, while Dawn Stofer of 
Denman Island won third-prize for Identities 

Reclaimed.
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Receiving Honourable Mentions were Robert 
Bowerman (Nanaimo) for I’ve Got You Now, Jim 
Creighton (Campbell River) for Old Growth, Cornelia 
Hoogland (Hornby Island) for 1-800-WHERE-R-

YOU, David Reichheld (Sooke) for Let Morning 

Bring Me, and Délani Valin (Nanaimo) for Potemkin.

In the Youth category, the first-prize winner was 
Charlotte Taylor of Nanaimo for Calm Before the 

Storm. 

Second-prize was awarded to Yinan Cao (Nanaimo) 
for Stray and Jocelyn Diemer (Campbell River) 
received third-prize for Burning Away.

Honourable mentions went to Kaitlyn Ha (Nanaimo) 
for “Clouds” and Linnea Wiggers (Nanaimo) for “The 
Adventure of Arthur May.”

More than $2,200 in cash and prizes was awarded.

Most of the winning stories are posted shortly on the 
contest website at https://isfc.ca, where past winners 
may also be read.

— NEWS staff, submitted
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Nick Chowdhury, co-chair of the Strathcona Community Helath 
Network (left), passes out a few dots to Coun. Colleen Evans and 
Cleo Corbett, senior planner for the city of Campbell River, for them 
to add to the Housing Ideas Wall at City Hall on Wednesday. The 
public is invited to place dots representing types of housing they’ve 
lived in at various points in their lives, as well as what kinds they’d 
like to see added to the community while the study takes place until 
the end of the month. Photo by Mike Davies/Campbel River Mirror

Another chance for 
Campbell Riverites to 
chime in on affordable 
housing solutions
‘This is a chance for local people to look at 
local solutions and where they want to see 
housing go’ 
MIKE DAVIES / May. 16, 2019 2:00 p.m. / LOCAL NEWS / NEWS

Affordable housing is atop many minds in Campbell 
River right now.
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Families, senior citizens, young adults, seasonal 
employees, college students, second homeowners, 
right down to those who are most vulnerable, 
homelessness and a lack of affordable housing 
affects all populations and there is a need for a 
variety of housing types and prices to suit our 
diverse population, according to Libby King of the 
Strathcona Community Health Network (SCHN).

She has been looking at possible solutions for a 
couple of years now, and the SCHN has recently 
partnered up with the Coalition to End 
Homelessness to open up the discussion with the 
community in an initiative called “Affordable Housing 
Benefits Everyone.”

As part of that project, the Campbell River 
community is being invited to share their ideas, 
thoughts and concerns about housing by leaving 
comments on the Housing Ideas Walls going up 
throughout Campbell River, attending an interactive 
engagement event on May 23, and learning more 
about housing in our community.

“We have to change the way we’re looking at 
housing,” King says. “This is a chance for local 
people to look at local solutions and where they 
want to see housing go.”
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That dialogue also needs an education component, 
King says, so part of what they’re doing is filling 
people in on what kinds of housing development has 
taken place elsewhere and asking how it could fit 
into the market here, if at all.

“This is mainly about creating a dialogue and 
increasing the community’s understanding of the 
housing situations so that we can all make better 
decisions. We haven’t had to deal with this stuff until 
pretty recently. We had a vacancy rate of 
somewhere around eight per cent for many, many 
years, so we haven’t needed to know about this 
stuff.”

It’s not that people don’t know there’s a problem, 
King says. It’s more that they haven’t needed to 
really think about housing in a holistic way.

“They haven’t been forced to think, for example, 
about what is a carriage house? What is row 
housing? We don’t have a lot of that in Campbell 
River, so people may not have been exposed to 
these ideas and what those types of housing options 
can do for a community,” King says. “They certainly 
haven’t had the conversations about whether it’s 
something they want or if it could be one of the 
solutions that should be looked at. Maybe it’s not. 
Maybe it’s worked somewhere else, but there’s a 
reason it wouldn’t fly in Campbell River. That’s the 
kind of thing we want to explore.”
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RELATED: Housing in Campbell River is less 
accessible, assessment report finds

RELATED: Housing strategy continues to move 
forward, but there won’t be a ‘magic bullet’

The drop-in conversation event next Thursday runs 
from 4 p.m. to 6 p.m. at the Campbell River Seniors’ 
Centre, 1414 Ironwood (next to Thrifty Foods). This 
will be an interactive event with guided stations for 
people to learn about different housing types, and to 
express their thoughts, concerns, suggestions, and 
ask questions. Participants can also join a hosted 
table conversation to discuss their thoughts with 
others and respond to a series of questions to guide 
conversation.

But they don’t have to attend that event to have their 
voices heard, King says.

From May 17 to 31, several large “Housing Ideas 
Walls” will be posted at locations around Campbell 
River including the Library, Sportsplex, and at City 
Hall. Community members are invited to contribute 
their ideas to these walls which encourage thinking 
about the types of housing they’ve lived in at 
different phases of their life, what housing they 
currently reside in, the kind of housing needed in the 
future, as well as what they feel is missing. 
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At the end of the campaign, King and her partners 
will summarize what was heard and provide a set of 
recommendations on next steps to all levels of 
government so, as a community, they can better 
advocate for affordable housing in the region.

“Every community needs to have different solutions,” 
King says. “What works in one community isn’t 
necessarily going to work in another one, so every 
community needs to look at their local barriers and 
come up with local solutions.”

miked@campbellrivermirror.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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The Sidney/North Saanich Library Teen Advisory 
Group invites youth to get mindful and meditative. 
(Courtesy Vancouver Island Regional Library)

Sidney/North Saanich 
library brings labyrinth 
to make youth mindful
Vancouver Island Regional Library’s local 
youth team parners with UVic 
PENINSULA NEWS STAFF / May. 16, 2019 5:30 

a.m. / COMMUNITY

The 

Sidney/North Saanich Library Teen Advisory Group 
invites youth to get mindful and meditative next 
weekend.

The University of Victoria (UVic) Labyrinth comes to 
the SHOAL Centre in Sidney on Friday, May 24 from 
4:30 to 8:30 p.m. and Saturday, May 25 from 9 a.m. 
to 5 p.m.

“Last year, our TAG sponsored a presentation by 
Wendy Lum called Living in the Moment,” says 
Virginia Macleod, the Sidney/North Saanich Library 
branch’s customer services librarian. “She 
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mentioned walking the UVic labyrinth as a tool for 
mindfulness that can help to relieve stress and 
anxiety. Getting to UVic is not easy for everyone in 
our community so the TAG was inspired to bring the 
labyrinth to you.”

READ ALSO: North Saanich stumped after land 
board rejects new library bid

Everyone is invited to walk the labyrinth and 
experience the healing powers of this ancient 
meditative tool. UVic’s Henri Locke leads a free 
workshop about the history of the labyrinth and its 
use on May 24 from 3:30 to 4:30 p.m.

The Sidney/North Saanich Library TAG is a group of 
youth who work on special library and community 
projects and will be recruiting new members in 
September. For more information about TAG, call 
250-656-0944 or visit the Vancouver Island Regional
Library website www.virl.bc.ca.
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The Sooke Writers’ Collective sixth anthology will be launched May 
26 at the Sooke Region Museum. (contributed)

Sooke Writers’ 
Collective launches 
sixth anthology of local 
works
Local short stories and poetry featured in 
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collection of writing 
TIM COLLINS / May. 16, 2019 12:15 

p.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT

The Sooke Writers’ Guild launches its sixth 
anthology this month.

Entitled Sooke Writes Again – Sooke Writers’ 

Collective Anthology Six, the latest book includes a 
mixture of established and emerging authors, 
including the four winning entries from students of 
Edward Milne Community School in poetry and short 
fiction.

Those winners will be announced at the book launch 
at the Sooke Region Museum on Sunday., May 26.

“Sooke Writes Again is an exciting collection of local 
works, and we invite the public to enjoy the launch 
and offer their congratulations to the student 
winners,” said Deb Clay, a guild spokesperson who 
coordinated the anthology’s production and 
contributed to the book’s design.

She said the annual writing contest for students is a 
tradition started by the predecessor of the Sooke 
Writers Guild, the Sooke Scribblers.

The student winners will receive cash prizes in 
addition to having their work published in the 
anthology.
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But the anthology contains far more than the student 
winners.

Twenty local authors have contributed poetry, 
memoir, short fiction and more in a wide range of 
genres and many of them will be reading at the May 
26 event.

“Each year the collective grows,” Clay said.

“We’ve added subgroups, such as the poet’s group, 
and have had several members short-listed for 
national and regional awards. We’ve hosted 
educational events for members and the public and 
hope to do more. It’s a great group of emerging and 
established writers and everyone is welcome to join 
us at the launch.”

RELATED: LOCAL AUTHOR WINS

The collective meets on the first Wednesday of each 
month at the Sooke branch of the Vancouver Island 
Regional Library and welcomes new members.

Proceeds of the anthology sales support future 
student writing contest prizes, a 2020 anthology, and 
other writing events for the community.

The launch is free to the public and will take place 
between 2 and 4 p.m. in the museum pavilion. Tea, 
coffee, and snacks are provided.
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Edie Daponte performs with the Don Leppard Big Band at Pat’s 
House of Jazz. (Submitted)

Lexi Bainas column: 
It’s time to blow your 
horn, tap your toes, 
release your spirit, and 
clap your hands
There’s a ton of swinging sounds this 
week, both at Crofton and in downtown 
Duncan 
LEXI BAINAS / May. 17, 2019 3:00 

p.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT

Carmen Stanek is passing along a note about an 
upcoming art show: The Power of 13 showcases the 
imaginative minds of 13 artistic souls.
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It’s happening May 23 to June 14, at the Arbutus 
Gallery, off the main lobby inside the Cowichan 
Community Centre.

You’ll find yourself experiencing everything “from 
subective realism to the fantastical as members of 
the group offer up a visual treat of varying styles, 
some sublime, some evocative, frenetic or calming 
but all open for your interpretation and viewing 
pleasure. We are excited to share our unique artistic 
journeys with you,” she says.

“The Power of 13 celebrates each artist’s individual 
process; come and discover an artistic style that 
resonates with you. Your impressions and 
conversations are anticipated and welcomed. This 
three-week show will be an opportunity to connect in 
person with host artists and art demonstrations. 
Artists will be present at our opening reception, 
which will be held on May 25 from 1 to 3 p.m.”

***

Sidney vocalist Edie Daponte shines when she’s 
singing with a small combo, but she will truly sparkle 
when she’s in front of the energetic 17-piece Don 
Leppard Big Band.
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Together they will perform well-loved big band 
classics with a touch of Paris at Pat’s House of Jazz

in Crofton’s Osborne Bay Pub on Sunday, May 19. 
Admission is $20.

This follows a sold-out show with Daponte and the 
Leppard band at the pub in December and 
Daponte’s sold-out show From Rio to Paris at the 
pub in September. Daponte’s sultry, passionate 
voice lends itself perfectly to a wide range of jazz 
standards, seamlessly moving from jazz to bossa 
nova and back again.

The Leppard band plays everything from authentic 
dance music of the ’30s and ’40s, to the inspirational 
swinging sounds of Count Basie and Duke Ellington, 
to the energetic, richly coloured music of 
contemporary jazz arrangements. A retired military 
band director and arranger, bandleader Leppard is 
also the drummer — the guy who drives the bus. He 
has recorded more than 50 albums with various 
artists and taped more than 600 television shows.

Showtime is 2 p.m. at the pub, at 1534 Joan Ave. 
Admission is $20. Reservations are highly 
recommended. Tables will be held until 1:30 p.m.

***
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One Cowichan Valley writer is among the award 
winners of the 2019 Islands Short Fiction Contest 
awards announced April 27 in Nanaimo.

Co-sponsored by the Nanaimo Arts Council, the 
Vancouver Island Regional Library, and the 
Vancouver Island University Department of Creative 
Writing and Journalism, the awards are open to 
writers on Vancouver Island and the Gulf Islands. 
One hundred twenty-seven entries were received 
this year across three categories: Adult, Youth, and 
Junior.

In the Junior category, the second-prize winner was 
Esmé Iverson of Duncan for “The Patchwork Girl”.

Congratulations, Esmé!

More than $2,200 in cash and prizes was awarded.

The Islands Short Fiction Contest is made possible 
by financial support from the Province of British 
Columbia, the City of Nanaimo, and Vancouver 
Island University. Most of the winning stories will be 
posted shortly on the contest website at 
https://isfc.ca, where past winners may also be read.

***
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Musician and bandleader Mike Simkins has blown a 
note my way saying that the Valley swing band, 
Brass, Wind & Rhythm is presenting a concert on 
Tuesday, June 11 at the Duncan United Church.

“We will be playing a wide range of music like ‘Moon 
Glow’, ‘Stand by Me’, ‘The Preacher’, ‘Flashdance…
What a Feeling’, ‘Star Dust’ and more,” he says. 
“The concert is by donation with all of the proceeds 
going to Duncan United Church’s Homeless 
Prevention Fund. You will enjoy two sets of toe-
tapping music. Please feel free to dance in the 
aisles! Children are welcome,” he says.

***

Don’t forget that during the annual Heritage Days at 
Lake Cowichan this long weekend, the Kaatza Art 
Group are presenting their show on Friday, 
Saturday, and Sunday at Centennial Hall, along with 
the special display of photos by the Lake Cowichan 
75th anniversary committee. Also, on Saturday 
night, May 17, there is a talent night at the Lake 
Cowichan 50+ Centre from 6:30 p.m. to 9:30 p.m.
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LATEST NEWS Coach on stopping gunman at Portland high school: ‘My 
instincts just took over’

Sidney library to reopen Tuesday

The renovated Sidney/North Saanich library is set to reopen Tuesday morning, 
following $2 million in upgrades to make the space more modern and 
accessible.

The branch has been closed since Sept. 23, while undergoing renovations to 
electrical systems and lighting, as well as a full remodelling of the youth and 
adult sections.

The upgraded library will feature additional computers, a replace lounge area 
and large windows to increase natural lighting.

“The other thing that we’re really, really, really excited about is some of the 
upgrades are going to improve accessibility,” said Virginia MacLeod, a customer-
service librarian at the branch.

The revamped space was designed to be more accessible for people with 
wheelchairs and mobility challenges, said David Carson, director of corporate 
communications and strategic initiatives at Vancouver Island Regional Library. 
There will also be assistive computer stations for people with vision and hearing 
challenges.

A few blocks away from the branch’s downtown Sidney location, a smaller, 
temporary location has continued to provide books and programs to the 
community. The temporary location will close today.

MacLeod said the space’s smaller size has posed a challenge to library sta , 
forcing them to nd other locations to run some of their programs. Sidney All 
Care, a residential-care facility, has hosted the library’s story time since the 
renovations began.

“Their residents were able to participate in story time with all our regular kids, so 
it became a fantastic intergenerational program,” MacLeod said.

The library will host a grand-opening party for the public on June 15.
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NANAIMO — Emerging voices from Nanaimo’s art scene now have wind in their creative sails.

Several local writers won or earned honourable mentions at the Islands Short Fiction Contest, presented in late April at the Vancouver 
Island Regional Library’s harbourfront branch. 

Young author Charlotte Taylor won the youth category for her story “Calm Before the Storm.” 

By Spencer SterrittWRITTEN WORD

Nanaimo-area writers win big in short ction contest
May 20, 2019

Several Nanaimo-area writers have more con dence in their writing after several big wins.

SECTIONS
NEWSSPORTSWEATHERCOMMUNITY EVENTSSPONSOREDOBITUARIESREAL ESTATE
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“This beautifully written piece begins with a low tension that builds throughout the story until we arrive at an ending we suddenly 
realize was inevitable,” youth judge Lee Losell said of the story. 

Fellow Nanaimo writer Yinan Cao was runner-up with Kaitlyn Ha and Linnea Wiggers representing the harbour city as honourable 
mentions in the category. 

Parksville writer Jonathan Lyster, who came in second in the adult category, said writing challenges like the Islands Short Fiction 
Contest are an ideal way for young writers to nd their voices. 

“It’s one thing to give your story to your mother, father or best friends and get their feedback. But…when you get this kind of validation 
from someone with zero stakes in your life, it’s really validating about what you do.” 

The junior category was lled with Nanaimo-area writers. Thunya Dudley of Nanoose took the rst-place prize. Cadence Millsap, Julia 
Ratzlaff and Tarika Stitt each received an honourable mention. 

Lyster said contests also pose interesting restrictions which help craft a writer, such as it has to be of a speci c length or genre to get 

Hybrid and electric vehicles in demand as gas prices soar
Apr 27, 2019

Nanaimo's recycling culture remains strong despite NRE closure, o cials say
Apr 26, 2019

Downtown Nanaimo night market returning after successful rst year
Apr 26, 2019
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Tweet

them trying something new. 

“We have such an image today of kids having their faces buried in their phones or sitting at a computer. You know, some of those kids 
staring at their phones are writing a story on it, or when they’re staring at a computer they’re learning something new they want to 
write about.” 

Nanaimo authors Delani Valin and Robert Bowerman both earned honourable mentions in the adult category. 

Over $2,200 in cash and prizes was given to the winners of various categories. 

spencer@nanaimonewsnow.com

On Twitter: @spencer_sterrit

by Spencer Sterritt

Like 14
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Local author Ardelle Holden is taking part in the Crime Writers of 
Canada Cool Canadian Crime event at Nanaimo Harbourfront Library 
on May 25. (Josef Jacobson/The News Bulletin)

Crime Writers of 
Canada present Cool 
Canadian Crime at 
Harbourfront Library
Five West Coast authors, including 
Nanaimo’s Ardelle Holden, to share their 
work 
JOSEF JACOBSON / May. 21, 2019 1:30 

a.m. / ENTERTAINMENT / LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT
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Ardelle Holden watches a lot of mystery shows and 
movies and often finds that she’s able to solve the 
crime on the screen. This prompted her to try and 
devise a mystery of her own.

“I thought [I’ll] see if I can come up with a plot that’s 
a little bit more difficult to figure out,” the Nanaimo-
based author said. “And so I did.”

Holden’s debut novel, A Person of Interest, required 
“three and a half years’ gestation” before finally 
being published last summer. The book follows a 
woman who is wanted for murder and goes into 
hiding with a mysterious stranger.

ADVERTISEMENT

“I just came up with a scenario and I thought, ‘I 
wonder how this is going to work out,’” she said.
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Holden described the book as a labour of love and 
though she enjoyed writing it very much, she was 
content to let the story end where it did. But when a 
reader said they wanted more, Holden obliged.

“I had absolutely no intention of writing a sequel until 
somebody on my Facebook author page said, ‘I can 
hardly wait for the sequel,’ and I thought, ‘Sequel? 
Hmm, OK,’” Holden said.

The sequel, Murder by Bits and Bytes, involves a 
major computer crime. Holden sent the manuscript 
to her editor earlier this month and aims to have the 
book available in June. She also has a third book in 
the series planned for later this year.

In the meantime, Holden will be reading from and 
discussing A Person of Interest in downtown 
Nanaimo for the first time on May 25, when she is 
joined by join four other West Coast authors, all 
members of the Crime Writers of Canada for an 
event at Nanaimo Harbourfront Library.

The other presenters are fellow first time authors 
Paulette McCarthy of Nanaimo, Qualicum Beach’s 
Sydney Preston and Vancouver resident Merrilee 
Robson. Victoria’s Elizabeth Bass will also be in 
attendance.
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Holden started joining writers’ organizations two 
years ago when she met a member of the 
Federation of B.C. Writers while on vacation in 
Mexico. She’s now a member of multiple groups and 
said “the more you take part, the more you learn.” 
She said she learned a lot at the recent FBCW 
Spring Writes Festival in Nanaimo earlier this month. 
Holden was there every day and took in “a wealth of 
information.”

“Just in this last conference alone I really did learn to 
get the emotion into my character, to get the 
personality into the character more than describing. 
Showing not telling. And I learned more about 
layering in detail. You just absorb so much…” 
Holden said. “I normally go home after a conference 
like this and I do a document up myself of excerpts 
of their notes and what they hand out and how I can 
apply it to my work. And then I send them a thank 
you note.”

WHAT’S ON … Crime Writers of Canada present 
Cool Canadian Crime at Nanaimo Harbourfront 
Library, 90 Commercial St., on Saturday, May 25 at 
1:30 p.m.

arts@nanaimobulletin.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter

arts@nanaimobulletin.com
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The lounge area and laptop bar in Sidney’s reopened library. 
(Contributed by Sharon Walker)

Sidney’s library opens 
new chapter after $2M 
refit
Library reopens after 8 months boasting 
improved systems and accessibility 
NICK MURRAY / May. 21, 2019 11:50 

a.m. / COMMUNITY / LOCAL NEWS

The renovated Sidney/North Saanich library opened 
Tuesday, following a $2 million upgrade.

The library moved to a temporary facility for eight 
months while work was completed to upgrade 
electrical systems and improve accessibility.

ALSO READ: New U-Haul partnership comes to 
Sidney
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“It’s been completely renovated and transformed,” 
says library manager, Sharon Walker. “The space 
has been brought up to modern standards, with new 
systems and lighting. There’s a nice and open 
layout, where we can see out our widows the 
beautiful gardens that the Town of Sidney has 
maintained.”

A lounge area was created next to a fireplace, where 
visitors can relax and flick through magazines, as 
well as improved computer facilities, with more units 
and an enhanced laptop bar.

Visually, the space has been improved with a mural 
made by children, on one of the walls, depicting 
orcas and a sea scene.

Library staff say they are grateful to their customers 
for following them to the smaller temporary facility 
and say the library’s collection of books is now back 
to pre-move levels. Anyone wishing to read a 
particular book not in stock, can use the free request 
system, which is linked to 39 other libraries.

ALSO READ: Peninsula crews extinguish early 
morning boat fire in Central Saanich

Walker says the library is fully open for business but 
an official opening is in the works, scheduled for 
June 15.
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“I welcome everybody to come down to the new 
library and see for themselves,” she says.

nick.murray@peninsulanewsreview.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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Val Duthie, Vancouver Island Children’s Book Festival volunteer, 
donates book to Park Avenue Elementary School library, represented 
by teacher-librarian Heidi Fargo. The books are by authors 
participating in this year’s bookfest. Photo submitted

Bookfest helps fill 
school library shelves 
leading up to next 
week’s event
Vancouver Island Children’s Book Festival 
is June 1 at downtown Nanaimo venues 
NANAIMO NEWS STAFF / May. 22, 2019 10:30 

p.m. / COMMUNITY

The Vancouver Island Children’s Book Festival is 
about connecting kids with books and authors, 
celebrating children’s literature and fostering a love 
of reading, and those ideals happen in a few 
different ways.
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One annual Bookfest initiatives that has carried on 
this year is a program to donate books from 
participating authors in school libraries. That has 
been happening in the lead-up to this year’s June 1 
event.

“It’s a fantastic program,” said Laura Foran, co-
coordinator of Bookfest, in a press release. “It’s a 
really great way to, not only support underfunded 
school libraries, but give both acclaimed and 
emerging Canadian authors and illustrators more 
exposure.”

The program, now in its third year, is made possible 
through donations from individuals and 
organizations and Foran said Bookfest is “incredibly 
grateful” for the community support.

Bookfest volunteer Val Duthie delivered books to 
school libraries and reported that the teacher-
librarians were thrilled to be receiving the books. 
She said in the past, children have shown interest in 
reading the books by authors they’ve met through 
Bookfest.

“It’s wonderful to hear that the festival is having a 
real impact on generating enthusiasm around books 
and reading,” Duthie said.
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Bookfest takes place June 1 at Diana Krall Plaza, 
the Vancouver Island Conference Centre, Nanaimo 
Museum, Harbourfront Library and the Nanaimo Art 
Gallery. The day consists of presentations from 
numerous authors, and kids can choose which three 
they’d like to attend. Free autograph sessions with 
authors follow the talks. Presenters this year are: 
Linda Bailey, Emma Fitzgerald, Monique Gray 
Smith, Gabrielle Grimard, Michael Kusugak, Kit 
Pearson, Jordan Stratford, J. Torres, Nancy Vo and 
Sally Williams.

Tickets to Bookfest cost $10 per child or $25 for a 
family pass. Adults accompanying their children will 
be admitted free. To purchase tickets for find out 
more information, visit www.bookfest.ca.

editor@nanaimobulletin.com
Like us on Facebook and follow us on Twitter
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Ladysmith hikes 
property taxes by 3.4 
percent
Council approves 2019 budget that reflects 
the rising cost of materials and services 
COLE SCHISLER / May. 22, 2019 1:30 a.m. / LOCAL 

NEWS / NEWS

Ladymith’s mayor is pointing to the rising cost of 
goods and services after the town approved a 2019 
budget that includes a homeowner tax increase of 
3.4 percent.

RELATED: Ladysmith taxes could jump a little 
more than last year

As goods and services become more expensive in 
B.C., costs for the municipalities are also on the rise.
These costs include the rising price of gas, and the
rising cost of electricity. For example, the cost to
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keep power on for the Frank Jameson Community 
Centre is far greater than the average single family 
home.

“As those costs grow for the regular person, they 
also grow for your local government,” Mayor Aaron 
Stone said. “You have to absorb those costs 
somehow, and one [method] is obviously, if costs go 
up, you increase taxes. The taxes increases are 
directly relevant to the increase in costs.”

“There’s huge growth in costs. Capital project costs 
have probably gone up 30 per cent in the past five 
years, so when you’re looking at waste water 
treatment plants, or water treatment plants — two 
big projects we’re taking down off the long list — 
those are huge investments, and every year the 
costs keep going up,” Stone said.

While the costs are increasing, Stone said 
Ladysmith has developed a reputation for fiscal 
prudence, and has found success in getting grants 
from the provincial and federal governments to fund 
capital projects in the community. The town was 
awarded a $9 million grant, one of the largest 
awarded in that round of grants, to fund the water 
treatment plant. The total cost of the project is 
estimated to be $15 million.

RELATED: Ladysmith approves borrowing up to 
$6M for water filtration plant
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“If you look at the five-year financial plan, you’ll see 
all those costs are built in,” Stone said. “Keeping in 
mind that as an accountant you don’t budget for 
grants you haven’t received yet, so you always 
budget as if these projects go forward without any 
grant funding, but that’s not the reality. The reality is 
that our community, our staff, and our elected 
officials have been really good and lobbying senior 
levels of government.”

There are also plans to move forward with the 
Waterfront Area Plan, improve the water main on 
Baden Powell, replace the Rocky Creek culvert on 
4th Ave, add emergency backup generators for the 
public works building, as well as renovations and 
safety upgrades at the Machine Shop.

An important element of municipal costs are the 
costs of employment. According to the town’s 
January budget presentation, employment costs are 
projected to be 42 percent of the town’s operational 
expenses in 2019. As part of regulations around the 
new water treatment facility, the town must hire a 
certified utilities operator. The town has also added 
a position for a building inspector/technician to help 
speed up the process of reviewing applications from 
developers so projects can move forward.

RELATED:Ladysmith seeks feedback from 
developers on service improvements
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The residential municipal tax rate will be based on 
the value of property as determined by B.C. 
assessment. Ladysmith’s total municipal taxation for 
2019 is $8.4 million. That money will go toward 
maintaining parks, roads, and other infrastructure 
like the new water filtration plant, running the Frank 
Jameson Community Centre, and supporting the 
grants-in-aid program for local community 
organizations.

Municipal tax rates are only a portion of the overall 
taxes Ladysmith residents pay. According to the 
Town of Ladysmith’s website, municipal taxes make 
up 37 per cent of the bill while 41 per cent of the tax 
bill is set by other agencies like schools, the 
Vancouver Island Regional Library, the Cowichan 
Valley Regional District, and the Cowichan Regional 
Hospital Fund. An additional 21 per cent goes 
toward sewer and water parcel taxes. Property taxes 
account for half of the town’s operating revenues for 
2019.

Property tax notices are being mailed to homes in 
mid-May. Detailed information about the budget, 
including breakdowns by department, are available 
online, under the “Our Financial Plan” section of the 
Town’s website. Residents are encouraged to direct 
their questions and comments to council or staff by 
emailing info@ladysmith.ca or call City Hall at 250-
245-6400.
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Board of Trustees Meeting 
June 1, 2019 

Item 8 (b) 

Correspondence 
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From:
To: Board Communications
Subject: Campbell river Library
Date: Thursday, March 21, 2019 3:46:41 PM

Hello,

We are so glad to have a local library to go to, and frequent it regularly.

Must say,  that even with the new security, it is still a hang out for less fortunate people in the square around the
library.  It is an unpleasant place for parents and their kids, amongst the smokers, drunk people and men spitting.
Unpleasant for most I suspect. Smokers are still too close to the library entrance and it really does not help to have
security standing out near side walk smoking.

Some security people are better at moving people along, others stand there and talk. I feel having security sitting in
the library looking at their phones on non busy days, is not really a good use of the funds provided. Other times of
course it is busy in the library and their attention is needed. I have no solutions to these problems, simply letting you
know how I feel about the situation.

Have read that Campbell River is due for new library. Considering communities are building more and more to the
south of city centre, would be nice to see it located perhaps in Willowpoint.

Also, I wonder if any liaison is happening with the various First Nation groups to provide services such as
computers, shelter, coffee and outreach to First Nations folks.

Thanks very much
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Administration 
Box 3333  |  6250 Hammond Bay Road 

Nanaimo, BC  Canada V9R 5N3 
t: 250.758.4697  f: 250.758.2482 

e: info@virl.bc.ca  w: www.virl.bc.ca 
 

March 22, 2019 

Original sent via email: 

Dear : 

Re: Campbell River Library 

Thank you for your email. It is clear that you are an active and enthusiastic library user, 
despite the challenges and realities affecting the downtown area of Campbell River.  

The courtyard directly out front of the library entrance is public space, which means that 
library staff have limited ability to enforce the activities of members of the public in that 
area. One of the reasons we brought in extra security was to curtail some of the undesirable 
activities that occur in the courtyard area, and that inevitably spill into the library itself. I 
encourage you to bring your concerns about the courtyard to the attention of Municipal 
Bylaws.  

Your observation about smokers being too close to the library entrance is an issue that I will 
bring forward to staff for follow up. If members of the public are contravening the Campbell 
River Tobacco Bylaw, we will ask staff and security to be more rigorous in asking people to 
move away from the library entrance.   

The security we have contracted with to staff the branch are onsite during all open hours. 
Although there are sure to be times when the guards are not being active in their duties, 
there is no way to predict when an incident might occur. We have made the decision, for 
the time being, to have the personnel in place to ensure the safest possible space for the 
families, seniors, students, readers, and all other customers who use our services and 
amenities. We do hope that the onsite security is only a temporary measure.  

The library’s relationship with our Indigenous partners is deep and committed. Vancouver 
Island Regional Library (VIRL) has a staff-led Indigenous Committee that ensures our spaces 
and collections are welcoming, accessible, and open to members of our Indigenous 
communities. The Campbell River library is also an active participant in VIRL’s ongoing 
Indigenous Voices initiative, which invites local Elders into our spaces to lead talks and 
programs on a range of topics, from reconciliation to medicine wheels, creation stories to 
drum making.    
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As for a new branch, we are currently in conversation with the City of Campbell River and 
are investigating the options available to us. Willow Point, as you point out, is a growing 
and dynamic community that is currently without library services. As our discussions with 
the municipality progress, I can assure you that we will explore every avenue of opportunity. 

You might be interested in exploring our Consolidated Facilities Master Plan, which outlines 
our established and thorough process for Vancouver Island Regional Library Capital Projects. 

Community voices are important drivers of change. I encourage you to continue to advocate 
on behalf of a library for the community of Willow Point. 

Thank you again for taking the time to write. 

Sincerely,    

Brenda Leigh 
Chair, VIRL Board of Trustees 

cc:  VIRL Board of Trustees 
Executive Leadership Group 

266

http://virl.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Sept2012-CFMPFacilitiesPolicy.pdf


From:
To: Board Communications
Subject: Nodding off in the library
Date: Monday, March 25, 2019 2:19:27 PM

I just left the Courtenay branch,  was sitting next to an elderly guy who was reading the paper. He told me he was
looking for a place to live Then he was very quiet,  the librarian came up to him and told him that sleeping was not
allowed.  Didn’t know he had closed his eyes. But honestly I was shocked.      The gas fireplace was on,  it was
quiet. Anybody who has a home with a gas fireplace would not be using the library to find a comfortable quiet nap.  
Get rid of these areas or let homeless people use them.    Why this policy??

Sent from my iPhone
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Administration 
Box 3333  |  6250 Hammond Bay Road 

Nanaimo, BC  Canada V9R 5N3 
t: 250.758.4697  f: 250.758.2482 

e: info@virl.bc.ca  w: www.virl.bc.ca 

March 28, 2019 

Courtenay, BC   
Original sent via email: 

Dear : 

Re: Nodding Off in the Library 

Thank you for your email and for expressing your concerns with our procedure not to allow 
customers to sleep while in the library.  

Library staff are not trained to know the difference between someone who has simply fallen 
asleep vs. someone who may be experiencing a potentially life-threatening health crisis, 
such as a drug overdose.  

When the staff member in Courtenay woke the customer up, they were acting in accordance 
with an established procedure that is in place for the health and safety of all our customers. 

If I can be of further assistance, please reach out to me any time. Thank you again for 
taking the time to write.  

Sincerely, 

Melissa Legacy 
Director of Library Services & Planning 

CC: VIRL Board of Trustees 
Executive Leadership Group 
Library Manager, Courtenay Branch 
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Mariah Patterson

Subject: FW: Harbourfront

Importance: High

From: 
Date: April 3, 2019 at 5:14:26 PM PDT 
To: info@virl.bc.ca 
Cc: executivedirector@virl.bc.ca, board@virl.bc.ca, NanaimoHarbourfront@virl.bc.ca 
Subject: Harbourfront 

Hi, 

This note relates to the recent decision to fill the Harbourfront Library’s front room with 
computers.  

An introduction: I’m a library user who comes to the space at least three times a week to read 
and write and think. VIRL has been a big part of my life for a long time.  

People like myself who use the library for the purposes listed above understand the space is used 
by many others — that’s why we wear headphones or ear plugs. I understand that the 
Harbourfront branch offers space to those who need somewhere to go during the day. I know 
there are plenty of great social programs happening around me. I understand it’s a place where 
people talk loudly on cellphones, act disruptive, eat at the tables, and watch television on their 
own devices or on library computers, often without headphones, or on headphones that leak tinny 
sound. Again: I’ve got my own headphones. I know the deal. 

I’m always impressed by the humane and caring way the Harbourfront librarians deal with the 
everyday goings on at the library. They go above and beyond their job description. They’re 
extraordinary people. They become de facto social workers, security guards and counsellors, and 
still carry out their librarian duties with a smile. They should all be paid twice as much.  

I understand what public libraries have become and are becoming.  

But still, I’m a member of that public. I’m a library user. Public libraries are mine, too, and just 
because I’m at the library to quietly read and write and think, it doesn’t mean that my needs are 
somehow less important than those of others.  

I question the priorities of a library that chooses to fill its best work space with computers. 

First, the practical. Why put a bunch of screens in a beautiful space filled with natural light? 
That’s the last thing someone on a computer wants.  

Second, what are the aims of the managers of this library? The number of books is decreasing. 
The Vancouver Island Collection — an important resource — is long gone. Now the front space, 
filled with that great light, is crammed with screens. 
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The room is a perfect place for tables, not computers. It’s perfect as — and has been used as — a 
space for flexible, multi-purpose activity, where people can look at papers, books, devices, 
laptops, each other, whatever. It’s a space for collaboration.  

Now, you’ve decided to give the space to televisions — that’s what the computers are mostly 
used for. I went into the library on Wednesday and it already looks like a YouTube viewing 
room. Anyone familiar with the Harbourfront Branch has seen first-hand that this is the most 
common use for the computers. They’re often used by individuals who want to play their videos 
loud. It’s always the most disruptive section of the library. Those people should be welcomed, of 
course. But why are they the most important constituency at a library? 

Did any of the library managers question this decision? Did anyone think this room is special for 
those who want to get away for a while from omni-present screens? I understand the library must 
cater to all sorts, but writers and researchers and readers are part of this library’s community, too. 
(Sort of a crazy sentence to write, huh?) 

We’re the ones who follow library rules. We don’t make noise. We don’t get ejected by security. 
We don’t watch loud movies all day. We are asked to be the most understanding constituency — 
and we are. We wear our ear plugs. After seeing the entire space given over to screens, I’m 
beginning to think we’re the ones who are not welcome at this library.  

Thanks for your time, 
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Administration 
Box 3333  |  6250 Hammond Bay Road 

Nanaimo, BC  Canada V9R 5N3 
t: 250.758.4697  f: 250.758.2482 

e: info@virl.bc.ca  w: www.virl.bc.ca 
 

April 5, 2019 

Nanaimo, BC   
Original sent via email:

Dear , 

Re: Harbourfront 

Thank you for your thoughtful email and for so clearly articulating your concerns with our 
decision to move the computers to the main floor at the Harbourfront branch. Your passion and 
love for your library was evident throughout your letter.   

It always brings a smile to my face knowing that we have people like you working every day in 
our libraries, affirming that our spaces are vital for writers and other people following their 
creative pursuits. I also appreciate your understanding about the important role libraries play 
for people of every age, interest, and background — that the library is a place for everyone, a 
level playing field, and an open door.  

I am sorry that our decision to move the computers downstairs has disrupted your ability to use 
the library as a place to write and research. Before I get into why this decision was made, I 
want to assure you that we value your dedication to your library and we never wanted to make 
the space less inviting or appealing for you. There are still plenty of quiet nooks and sunny spots 
where you can undertake your work, and there are plans to set aside additional space upstairs 
for focused work. 

There are a number of reasons that we felt moving the computers was the best decision for the 
branch, our customers, and staff. One driver was to make the Harbourfront branch the safest 
possible space. There is less staff presence and more opportunity for inappropriate and, at times, 
dangerous behaviour upstairs. Although it is early days since the move, we are noticing a 
reduction in incidents and an improvement in safety. Staff have an increased presence and are 
able to engage and interact more seamlessly with customers in the computer area and 
throughout the downstairs area. 
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On a more positive note, we have very exciting plans for the upstairs area, including reimagining 
the space into a hotbed of discovery and learning. Currently, we have 3D printing, the Espresso 
Book Machine, and Virtual Reality on the floor with many more exciting announcements in the 
works. We have also freed up more meeting space upstairs, which can be booked for quiet work. 

We strive to balance the many uses, preferences, and customers who frequent our branches. 
In our efforts to be accommodating, our decisions sometimes have unintended downstream 
consequences, and your points are very well taken. I hope you continue to use your Harbourfront 
library as a space for creativity and research.  

If I can be of further assistance, please reach out to me any time. Thank you again for taking 
the time to write.  

Sincerely, 

Rosemary Bonanno, BA MLS 
Executive Director 

cc: Vancouver Island Regional Library Board of Trustees 
 Executive Leadership Group 
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Ministry of Education Learning Division Mailing Address: 
PO Box 9887 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC V8W 9T6 

Location: 
620 Superior Street, 
4th Floor 
Victoria BC 

May 7, 2019 

Ref: 209349 

Scott Hargrove, Chair 
Association of British Columbia Public Library Directors (ABCPLD) 
Email: shargrove@fvrl.bc.ca 

Dear Scott Hargrove: 

I am pleased to announce some organizational changes within the Ministry of Education that now 
has the Libraries Branch within the Learning Division. Public libraries provide opportunities for 
people to improve literacy skills, connect families, and foster social inclusion. This aligns well 
with the Learning Division’s current strategic priorities: mental health and student wellness, 
Indigenous and inclusive education and especially early learning initiatives. 

The Libraries Branch is now part of Tim Winkelmans’ responsibilities with Mari Martin 
remaining as the Director of the Libraries Branch where she will continue to support B.C. public 
libraries and community literacy. 

As the Assistant Deputy Minister of the Learning Division, I am very passionate about creating 
strong collaborative relationships. I look forward to continuing the work of Paul Squires and the 
Public Libraries Advisory Group. I am confident these organizational changes will create an even 
stronger connections to achieve Ministry strategic priorities and to support the great work of the 
B.C. public library community.

I look forward to meeting with your organization in person and building on the incredible work 
the library community does in our province. 

Sincerely, 

Jennifer McCrea 
Assistant Deputy Minister 
Learning Division, Ministry of Education 

pc: Elizabeth Tracy, Vice Chair ABCPLD  [etracy@whistlerlibrary.ca] 
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From:
To: Board Communications
Subject: Wellington Children"s librarian
Date: Friday, May 10, 2019 9:00:22 PM

My name is  and I am . I am proud to be born
in Nanaimo and teach in our community. I am currently running a library card drive at my
elementary school to promote life long literacy. I was dropping off the library card
applications at the Wellington branch and discovered the proposed plan to eliminate the
children’s librarian at the brand new Wellington branch. I was disappointed by this decisions
on many levels. 

  When I was a child many vulnerable families lived downtown; as a teacher I have noticed a
shift in demographics  in the Brechin, Forest Park, Quarterway and Rock city catchments.
According to the Child poverty report, Nanaimo has a child poverty rate 1 out 4 and many
students live in the centre of town. 

A few years ago, I was honoured to be part of the public consultation at the old Wellington
branch. As I sat with members of the board, administration and member of the community, I
stressed the importance that the library stay on the bus route to support all families and
especially families with limited transportations options. I was delighted to learn of the new
location at Country Club centre. 

I was shocked to discover that a brand new library would have a reduction of services as the
clientele continues to grow and expand at the Wellington location. Taxpayers funded this new
location and it is my hope the board supports this new facility with continued services.
Librarians are important! I have been a patron at the Wellington branch since I was a child and
have wonderful memories of circle time. Please continue this rich tradition at the Wellington
location our children need books and literacy more than ever in our digital world. 

Today was a beautiful Friday afternoon and the Wellington Branch was bustling with patrons ;
the puzzle was complete, seniors were reading the paper and children everywhere. I feel at
home in a library and used the Wellington branch as a child. A qualified children's librarian
enriches the community and the lives of children by providing quality programming, outreach,
and is a literacy cheerleader.  I can’t imaging a library without a librarian to breath life into the
programs and services.  

I work at  and I have always coordinated with my community librarian to
support all children in my neighbourhood. Many of my students will be directly impacted by
the removal of access to a children’s librarian. 

 The mission statement of VIRL is "To enrich lives and communities through universal
access to knowledge, lifelong learning, and literacy.”

I do not believe the boards decision to remove a children’s librarian is consistent with
the missions statement and values of VIRL. 
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I would ask the board to evaluate the neighbourhood demographics/ social economics and the
limited transportation options for many of our families. The Wellington branch plays a vital
role in our community and requires a qualified children’s librarian to continue enriching the
lives of ALL children and teens. 

Below is an article from the Globe and Mail tiled: "How a kind librarian changed author
Richard Wagamese’s life “ by Susan Cameron. I would ask board members to read the article
with an open heart.

https://www.theglobeandmail.com/arts/books-and-media/how-a-kind-librarian-changed-
author-richard-wagameses-life/article34470876/

A librarian never knows what seeds they plant….. but children and teens must have access to
librarians for those connections to happen. 

regards, 

"Life is really simple, but we insist on making it complicated." -   Confucius
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Administration 
Box 3333  |  6250 Hammond Bay Road 

Nanaimo, BC  Canada V9R 5N3 
t: 250.758.4697  f: 250.758.2482 

e: info@virl.bc.ca  w: www.virl.bc.ca 
 

May 24, 2019 

Nanaimo, BC   
Original sent via email:

Dear : 

Re: Wellington Children’s Librarian 

Your email was forwarded to my attention. 

Thank you for expressing your concerns with our decision to restructure the staffing 
configuration at the Wellington branch. It is clear that you have a deep connection to the 
branch and its programs, both professionally and personally. I am glad that you had the 
opportunity to provide meaningful input during the visioning of the new Wellington Branch. 

I’d first like to make clear that there will still be a professional librarian on staff in the branch. 
As part of the restructure, we added the position of Customer Services Librarian II (CSL II) 
to the Wellington branch, which combines the programming and customer-focused aspects 
of our more junior roles with the supervisory requirements of a branch manager. We were 
thrilled to offer this position to one of our talented Children’s Librarians, whose track record 
of programming and literacy-building in Nanaimo is exemplary.  

As a result of this careful hiring and internal staff advancement, we anticipate that there will 
be no impact on the services or programming at Wellington. We have every confidence that 
the new CSL II will step into the role and continue the excellent library service that you 
speak of so fondly. Although the CSL II position will retain the same hours (Tuesday – 
Saturday) as the previous role, if there is a need for additional staff at the branch, we have 
personnel in Nanaimo who can provide support at Wellington.  

We were also able to increase the hours of other support staff at the branch as a result of 
the restructuring.  

The statistics of the EDI and the Child Poverty Report are a concern for us. There is a great 
deal of work to be done in the Nanaimo area to protect and support our most vulnerable 
children. In the Nanaimo area alone, there are four dedicated Children’s Librarians. This is 
our highest level of Children’s Librarians anywhere in our service area, which stretches from 
Sooke to Port Hardy.  
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As you mentioned, transportation is always an issue for vulnerable families in accessing 
supports, and families will continue to have access to programming at the Wellington 
branch, in addition to our two other Nanaimo libraries.  

Again, I appreciate your taking the time to write. It is committed library users such as you 
that assist Vancouver Island Regional Library in having a positive impact in our communities. 

If I can be of further assistance, please let me know. 

Sincerely, 

Melissa Legacy 
Director of Library Services & Planning 

cc: Chair, VIRL Board of Trustees 
Vice Chair, VIRL Board of Trustees 
Nanaimo Trustee, VIRL Board of Trustees 
Executive Leadership Group 
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Media Release 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

Contract Awarded for New Sayward Library 

Monday, April 8, 2019, Sayward, BC – The new Sayward library has taken an important 
step towards construction. On April 5, 2 Hills Renovations, a Campbell River-based 
construction firm, was awarded the contract to build the new library for the Village.  

“This is an exciting day for Sayward,” says Rosemary Bonanno, Vancouver Island 
Regional Library’s (VIRL) Executive Director. “With the contract now awarded and 
construction soon to start, the entire Sayward Valley can look forward to a state-of-the-
art library for many years to come. I would like to thank Sayward Council for giving up 
their Council Chambers to allow for a temporary library for the better part of the past 
two years.”   

A construction start date and timeline will be made available once VIRL receives it from 
2 Hills. 

“Council has been committed to this project from day one,” says John MacDonald, 
Mayor of the Village of Sayward. “For Capital Projects of this size and scope, there are 
many moving parts and milestones before construction can start. Thank you to 
everyone for your understanding throughout the process — your patience is being 
rewarded with your new full-service library!”    

The plan for the new library encompasses all aspects of the project, including 
construction, furniture, IT infrastructure, and more. 

Once built, Sayward will have a state-of-the-art library with the following features and 
amenities: 

• 2,100 square feet of floor space
• Expanded hours of operation
• A larger opening day collection with many new materials
• An expanded program schedule
• A laptop bar
• Study space
• A bookable space
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Renderings of the new library are included with this release (and attached). 

More information will be provided as it becomes available.  

A Prototype for Other Rural Builds 

The cost-effectiveness and scalability of the Sayward branch design means that VIRL 
now has a prototype model that can be replicated in other rural communities in need of 
new libraries. The 2,100 square foot model being built in Sayward can be scaled up or 
down depending on a community’s size and service needs. This prototype approach will 
help VIRL deliver on the commitments to our rural communities set out in the 
Consolidated Facilities Master Plan.    

######## 

For more information 
David Carson, Director, Corporate Communications and Strategic Initiatives 
Direct: 250.753.1154 ex 248 
Cell: 250.327.3651 
Email: dcarson@virl.bc.ca 
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Media Release 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

Reimagined Sidney/North Saanich Library Set to Reopen 

Monday, May 13, 2019, Sidney, BC – The shelves are stocked, the paint is dry, the 
public computers are hooked up, and the remodeling is complete — the Sidney/North 
Saanich branch of Vancouver Island Regional Library (VIRL) is ready to reopen to the 
public on Tuesday, May 21 at 10am! 

“When the doors open and people see for themselves all the upgrades and 
improvements to their beloved Sidney/North Saanich branch, I know they will 
experience the same excitement that I enjoyed when I saw it for the first time,” says 
VIRL’s Executive Director Rosemary Bonanno. “The new space is flexible, accessible, 
modern, and welcoming — it offers the best in 21st Century library services and 
amenities for library users on the Saanich Peninsula.” 

The renovations include updated electrical, lighting, HVAC, windows, and more, as well 
as updates to the space that make it more accessible and modern. 

Specific upgrades include: 

• Remodeled youth and adult sections
• Fireplace lounge area
• Additional computers and a new laptop bar
• Additional study and lounge seating
• New flooring, lighting, and paint
• New furniture and shelving
• Improved layout to accommodate wheelchairs, walkers, and strollers
• Enclosed book-drop
• Assistive computer station for people with vision, hearing, and other impairments
• Accessible customer service desk

The project’s budget of $2 million encompasses all aspects of the renovation. The Town 
of Sidney financed the cost of accessible washrooms and other upgrades to the 
building’s common area. 

To find out more about the branch, check out its events calendar for upcoming 
programming, and visit the branch page for hours, location, and more. 
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Grand Opening celebrations are planned for Saturday, June 15, which will include 
speeches, a ribbon cutting, and entertainment. Stay tuned for details. 

The temporary space will remain open until the end of day on Sunday, May 19. 

######## 

For more information 
David Carson, Director, Corporate Communications and Strategic Initiatives 
Direct: 250.753.1154 ex 248 
Cell: 250.327.3651 
Email: dcarson@virl.bc.ca 
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